

### **BioVeL – Biodiversity Virtual e-Laboratory**

## **Deliverable Report D2.1**

## State-of-the-art & trends review on biospheric carbon sequestration, ecosystem functioning and valuation, and invasive species management

Ferenc Horváth, Zoltán Barcza, Matthias Obst, Hannu Saarenmaa, Päivi Lyytikainen-Saarenmaa, Maria Paula Balcazar Vargas, Györgyi Gelybó, Laura Dobor, Miklós Kertész, Annamária Fenesi, Bálint Czúcz, Norman Morrison, Sarah J. Bourlat, Gerard Oostermeijer, Vera Hernandez Ernst, Pelin Yilmaz and Alex Hardisty (Work Package 2)

### August 2012 (Due month 12)

Capacities Programme of Framework 7: EC e-Infrastructure Programme – e-Science Environments - INFRA-2011-1.2.1

> Grant Agreement No: Project Co-ordinator: Project Homepage: Duration of Project: Start Date: End Date:

283359 Mr Alex Hardisty http://www.biovel.eu 36 months Sept 2011 Aug 2014



Work Package 2



### Status

This is the final version of deliverable D2.1. The first draft was prepared, improved and updated during July and August of 2012. Further comments and feedbacks were included by 28<sup>th</sup> of August.

The utmost version is uploaded to the BioVel wiki: https://wiki.biovel.eu/display/BioVeL/Deliverables+and+milestones

### Table of Contents

Publishable summary	. 5
1 Introduction	. 6
2 The three science areas identified	. 6
2.1 ECOSYSTEM FUNCTIONING & VALUATION	. 7
2.1.1 Science-policy context	. 7
2.1.2 Review on the main scientific questions	. 9
2.1.3 Most relevant research groups, networks or projects	14
2.1.4 Evaluation of existing models and methods	19
2.1.5 Evaluation of data source requirements for a biogeochemical process	
model represented by Biome-BGC	21
2.1.6 Identification and description of typical and most challenging workflows	36
2.1.7 Evaluation of web service requirements	39
2.2 BIOSPHERIC CARBON SEQUESTRATION	41
2.2.1 Science-policy context	41
2.2.2 Review on the main scientific questions	43
2.2.3 Most relevant research groups, networks or projects	45
2.2.4 Evaluation of existing models and methods	48
2.2.5 Evaluation of data source requirements of Biome-BGC	51
2.2.6 Identification and description of typical and most challenging workflows	51
2.2.7 Evaluation of web service requirements	53
2.3 INVASIVE SPECIES RESEARCH AND MANAGEMENT	54
2.3.1 Science-policy context	54
2.3.2 Main scientific questions	58
2.3.3 Most relevant research groups, networks or projects	60
2.3.4 Evaluation of existing models and methods	61
2.3.5 Identification and description of typical and most challenging workflows	75
2.3.6 Evaluation of web service requirements	78
3 Conclusions	81
Literature cited	83

# State-of-the-art & trends review on biospheric carbon sequestration, ecosystem functioning and valuation, and invasive species management

## Publishable summary

This report reviews the state-of-the-art and research trends for each the three science areas selected for the BioVeL project. The three science areas are: a) biospheric carbon sequestration; b) ecosystem functioning and valuation; and c) invasive species management. For each science area the report addresses: i) the science-policy context; ii) the main scientific questions being addressed in the area; iii) the most relevant research groups, networks and projects; iv) the existing models and methods; v) data source requirements; vi) the typical and most challenging workflows; and vii) web service requirements.

The report concludes that the needs of biodiversity and ecology sciences for new leading-edge integrative IT tools are growing rapidly, while existing, reliable and open web services and workflow management services to fulfill these needs are still scarce. The planned and on-going developments of the BioVeL project, demonstrating the success of the virtual laboratory approach will go a long way towards meeting this need, and will open new perspectives for biodiversity analysis. However several gaps will remain unbridged and there are some constraints as well.

# **1** Introduction

"The aim of the Biodiversity Virtual e-Laboratory (BioVeL) project is to provide a seamlessly connected environment that makes it easier for biodiversity scientists to carry out in-silico analysis of relevant biodiversity data and to pursue in-silico experimentation based on composing and executing sequences of complex digital data manipulations and modelling tasks. In BioVeL scientists and technologists will work together to meet the needs and demands for in-silico or 'e-Science' and to create a production-quality infrastructure to enable pipelining of data and analysis into efficient integrated workflows." ... "Web services, from which workflows can be constructed, are increasingly available, providing access to data of relevance to biodiversity science and analytical software ..." (DoW 2011)

The aim of this report to provide detailed reviews for the three science areas selected for the project.

## 2 The three science areas identified

"Scientists are pressed to provide convincing evidence of changes to contemporary biodiversity, to identify factors causing decline in biodiversity and to predict the impact, and to suggest ways of combating biodiversity loss. Altered species distributions, the changing nature of ecosystems and increased risks of extinction all have an impact in important areas of societal concern, such as ecosystems services, CO2 sequestration and invasive species management." (DoW 2011)

The following chapters cover the above mentioned three areas from the crosssectional viewpoint of science and web service, workflow technology.

### 2.1 ECOSYSTEM FUNCTIONING & VALUATION

by

Ferenc Horváth, Bálint Czúcz, Zoltán Barcza, Matthias Obst, Miklós Kertész and Pelin Yilmaz

### 2.1.1 Science-policy context

As it is stated in the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment published in 2005 (MEA 2005a) "Over the past 50 years, humans have changed ecosystems more rapidly and extensively than in any comparable period of time in human history, largely to meet rapidly growing demands for food, fresh water, timber, fiber, and fuel. This has resulted in a substantial and largely irreversible loss in the diversity of life on Earth". These statements are still as relevant as ever in spite of economy problems. The extensive exploitation of ecosystems has contributed to substantial net gains in economic development (Fig. 2.1-1), but these gains have been achieved at growing costs in the form of biodiversity loss, the degradation of many ecosystems and their human health and well-being related services, and the exacerbation of poverty for considerable groups of people (MEA 2005a, 2005b). As it has been prognosticated by MEA, the accelerated biodiversity loss and degradation of ecosystems can grow significantly worse during the first half of this century due to habitat change, habitat transformation, climate change, invasive alien species, overexploitation and pollution. The challenge of halting biodiversity loss and reversing the degradation of ecosystems while meeting increasing human demands for their services can be partially met under some optimistic scenarios, but these require significant changes in policies, institutions, and practices (MEA 2005a). Others strongly emphasize the necessity to change the way of decision-making surrounding environmental issues, by understanding the importance of biodiversity and ecosystem services, and by making clear the ways that our policy and management choices affect the variety of the goods and services we receive from different ecosystems (Linthurst et al. 2008, Cowling at al. 2008). Considering it from a more global viewpoint, the anthropogenic pressures and growing trends on the Earth's biogeochemical system have reached a scale where safe living of humanity can not be safeguarded in some regions and even at the global scale (Rockström et al. 2009). Far beyond the growing risk of human-induced environmental disasters, there is another emerging threat: the slowly rising shortage of cheap fossil energy and other natural resources, which can enforce a transition process from today's oil-addicted growth economy to a smaller, and more sustainable world economy, which must have to be more cooperative with the Earth's ecosystems (Czúcz et al. 2010). As Global Footprint Network stated recently "... humanity now demands over 50 percent more than what the planet can regenerate. We have entered a global auction, with more people bidding for fewer resources. In this world, managing our use of natural capital — and not overusing it — is the recipe for economic success" (GFN 2011).

The MEA analysis pointed out that "science can help ensure that decisions are made with the best available information, but ultimately the future of biodiversity will be determined by society" (MEA 2005b). At the same time science is required to develop and improve effective tools and sound scientific methods for ecosystem classification, monitoring, diagnostics, valuation, modeling, predicting and ecosystem management technologies, as well as to assess a variety of restoration and trade-off analysis between management options and ecosystem services at even finer (landscape level) spatially explicit resolution (Cowling et al. 2008, Linhurst 2008, Haines-Young & Potschin 2010, Haines-Young et al. 2012). A desired move to sustainable development will require an appropriate mixture of regulations, technology, financial investment, new scientific approach and education, as well as changes in individual and societal behaviour and adoption of a more integrated, rather than conventional sectoral approach to ecosystem management (Palmer et al. 2005, TEEB 2010).

The concept of ecosystem services provides a robust and operative tool for observing, analyzing and communicating the interactions between ecosystems and society. Since the seminal works of de Groot (1992), Daily (1997) and Costanza et al. (1997), the importance of ecosystem services has gained wide recognition and become a mainstream concept in environmental planning and policy arenas including biodiversity conservation, sustainable land and water use, climate change mitigation, ecosystem restoration and the design of green infrastructure. Appropriate understanding of ecosystem services can also inform agricultural, fisheries and forestry policies as well as efforts to address resource efficiency. Ecosystem services can be understood as a key component in the "societal domain  $\rightarrow$  disturbance  $\rightarrow$  environmental domain  $\rightarrow$  ecosystem services and to highlight strategic research directions (Carpenter et al. 2006, Collins et al. 2009, Carpenter et al. 2009, Potschin and Haines-Young, 2011).

As a response to the increasing recognition of the ecosystem service concept, in 2002 the Conference of Parties of the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) have agreed to set global targets to achieve a significant reduction in the current rate of biodiversity loss by 2010 (CBD 2002). These targets involved the goal of maintaining the "capacity of ecosystems to deliver goods and services and support livelihoods". Despite considerable efforts and consistent communication there has been only a limited success in achieving CBD's 2010 targets (CBD 2010a, 2010b). After that the tenth meeting of the Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity, held in October 2010, in Nagoya have adopted a revised and updated Strategic Plan for Biodiversity, with its Aichi Targets (CBD 2010b). This inspired the EU to launch a more operative biodiversity strategy to 2020 (EC 2011), which contains 6 mutually supportive targets in support of the headline objective to halt the loss of biodiversity and the degradation of ecosystem services by 2020. Target 2 in particular requires that by 2020, ecosystems and their services are maintained and enhanced by establishing green infrastructure and restoring at least 15% of degraded ecosystems. Recognising the need to improve knowledge of ecosystems and their services in the EU, Member States are expected to map and assess the state of ecosystems and their services in their national territory by 2014. Their activity will be supported by the Commission by initiating research on operationalizing the concept of ecosystem services, their evaluation and mapping<sup>1</sup>, and establishing a scienctific

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See EU-FP7 projects: **OPERAS** – Operational Potential of Ecosystem Research Applications and **OpenNESS** – Operationalisation of Natural Capital and Ecosystem Services: From Concepts to real-world Applications

working group and policy interface on the Mapping and Assessment of Ecosystem Services (MAES).



Figure 2.1-1 A cartoon from Seppo Leinonen, Finland (<u>www.seppo.net</u>)

### 2.1.2 Review on the main scientific questions

There are several schools of ecology which closely influence our current thinking of ecosystems and their services, including: systems ecology (Odum 1983, De Angelis 1992, de Ruiter et al. 2005), landscape ecology (including classification and mapping - Tansley 1935, Whittaker 1970, Grabherr & Kojima 1993, Turner et al. 2004, Cohen et al. 2004), functional ecology (Grime 1977, Grime 2001, Bonan et al. 2002, Lavorel and Garnier 2002, Díaz et al. 2004, Kattge et al. 2011 - plant and vegetation oriented, while Fierer et al. 2007, Simon & Daniel 2009, Fuhrman 2009, Barberán et al. 2012 – are microbiological examples for functional classification and diversity of taxonomic groups difficult to identify as taxonomic species), and the role of biodiversity in ecosystem functioning (Loreau et al. 2001, Hooper et al. 2005, Constanza et al. 2007, Watson et al. 2011, Naeem et al. 2012). Nevertheless, despite a detailed knowledge on several aspects of ecosystem functioning, operative approaches on evaluating ecosystem services and opening them for policy contexts are markedly missing. Notably, the most important scientific challenge is to further deepen our understanding of the links between ecosystem state and human wellbeing, filling the knowledge gaps for all major ecosystems and service types (Fig. 2.1-2). This requires intensive research activity in the development of scientifically

sound and easy to measure metrics, modeling frameworks and policy relevant indicators for all major steps of this framework.



Figure 2.1-2 The ecosystem service cascade framework (Potschin & Haines-Young 2011) applied in numerous global and national ecosystem service assessments, including TEEB (2011)

Considering the current and expected trends of ecosystem science, the main scientific questions can be summarized as follows:

• What are the trade-offs among different ecosystem functions and services in various ecosystems? How do different management regimes influence these trade-offs and affect ecosystem service supply?

The capacity of ecosystems to supply different services is not universal, excessive delivery of a specific service (e.g. firewood) can result in decrease in the supply of other services from the same ecosystem (e.g. habitat provision or erosion control). Human management activities can significantly influence the "service profile" of an ecosystem. Agricultural ecosystems, for example. are managed to maximize supplies of certain provisioning services at the expense of all other services. Pristine ecosystems, on the other hand, generally maximize regulating and supporting services. Most human land management activities can be regarded as optimalizing the supply of certain services at the cost of inputs from external energy (e.g. fossil fuels) and material flows (e.g. fertilizers, pesticides). Nevertheless, all services cannot be maximized at the same time. There are several important trade-offs between the availability of the different ecosystem services (Seidl et al. 2007, Braat & Ten Brink 2008, Cesaro et al. 2008, Haines-Young et al. 2012). Such tradeoffs might be obvious at the endpoints of the human disturbance range (i.e. in case of pristine sites and urban/industrial areas), but they are also present and should be expressly considered in any human land use decision. This requires comparable metrics (indicators) for each ecosystem service, to evaluate and optimize land use decisions at any given scale, so that are optimal combinations of land uses could be identified.

• What kind of direct or proxy indicators can be used to evaluate ecosystem service supply?

As with many processes of economic importance, some of the ecosystem service flows can be directly estimated using money as a universal measurement unit (cf. TEEB 2010, Maes et al. 2011). Even though this approach is obviously favourable for policymakers, most ecosystem services (including all regulating and cultural services) do not offer any straightforward and feasible way for monetization. Biophysical indicators of service provisioning capacity and/or socio-economic indicators of the actual use of these services may offer a solution in these cases (OECD 2004, MEA 2005, TEEB 2010). Biogeochemical process models in particular can provide sophisticated quantitative bio-physical indicators which can meaningfully contribute to ecosystem service assessments in data deficient situations (Boyd & Banzhaf 2007, Layke 2009, Mapende 2009, TEEB 2010). Developing appropriate indicators supported by reliable underlying models and data sources are one of the major challenges in ecosystem service assessments.

• What is the contribution of ecosystem state (including biodiversity and natural capital stocks) to ecosystem service flows?

This is one of the major underlying questions which needs to be addressed in order to be able to optimize ecosystem management for ecosystem services. The relationship between biodiversity and ecosystem functioning within environmental constraints has emerged as a central issue in ecology during the last two decades (Loreau et al 2001, Hooper et al. 2005, Naeem et al. 2012). There is no real understanding of the relationships between biodiversity, ecosystem structure, function, and services, even though the contribution of biodiversity to the delivery of services is generally acknowledged (Luck et al., 2009; de Bello et al., 2010). Biodiversity deeply determines several services (e.g. pollination or pest control), whereas other services seem to be less sensitive to biodiversity and depend more on the presence of a small group of species or functional groups (e.g. agricultural products, erosion control, etc). Relationships between variables describing ecosystem status and the capacity of ecosystems to deliver a specific service may be deeply nonlinear. Threshold-type relationships have been demonstrated for some situations (e.g. Scheffer, 2009), but to verify the existence of similar thresholds in more general contexts further research is needed (Groffman et al., 2006). Characterizing ecosystem status with relevant descriptor variables which can either be measured or modeled using available data is also a challenging task. Nevertheless, if we can find such variables and relying on them we can measure/model changes in ecosystem status, then based on an operative understanding of the links between ecosystem status (including biodiversity, internal stocks, thresholds, etc) and ecosystem service flows it will be possible to predict ecosystem service supply for a wide range of scenarios and management options.

• How large are the variability, dynamic and spatio-temporal variations of the productivity and internal/marginal material stocks & flows of different natural or semi-natural terrestrial ecosystems simulated by a model under various ecological conditions and different management regimes?

This is the basic explorative question-complex on which ecosystem field researchers, modellers and related users are working. Most research has focused on net primary production and/or carbon cycle (i.e. Kimball et al. 2000, Churkina et al. 2003, Hasenauer et al. 2005, Schmid et al. 2006, Turner et al. 2007, Ueyama et al. 2010, Chiesi et al. 2011, Hasenauer et al. 2012). Some efforts tried to incorporate different management options (i.e. Merganičová et al. 2005, Tatarinov & Cienciala 2006, Pretzsch et al. 2008) or successional change (Bond-Lamberty et al. 2005). An increasing number of papers apply model simulations to predict effects of climate change on ecosystem functions (Boisvenue & Running 2010).

• Are there appropriate spatially-explicit methods (models) available for investigating the effects of multiple drivers on ecosystem service supply? Are the existing ecosystem models applied in various local and regional settings sound and reliable?

There are a range of spatially-explicit methods of varying complexity which can be utilised for analysing the effects of multiple drivers on ecosystem service supply. These methods range from simple spreadsheet-type approaches, to complex statistical and process-based models (Table 2.1-1). Nevertheless, an operative application of these models in ecosystem service assessments still requires significant research efforts in most cases. There are different methodological approaches to identify the benefits and limitations (including uncertainty) of each method (Beven & Binley 1992, Thornton et al. 2000, Beven & Freer 2001, Ratto et al. 2001, Prihodko et al. 2008, Wang et al. 2009, Hidy et al. 2012). In regional studies the available experimental data are scarce and mostly come from heterogenous sources, so multi-site comparison of different models could provide us valuable knowledge about model constraints (Hanson et al. 2004, Wattenbach et al. 2010).

#### Table 2.1-1 Models and methods proposed for spatially-explicit assessment of ecosystem service supply within the OpenNESS project

Model	References
IMAGE (Integrated Model to Assess the Global Environment)	Bouwman et al. (2006)
GLOBIO (Global Biodiversity Model)	Alkemade et al. (2009)
CLIMSAVE Integrated Assessment Platform (integrated European	Holman & Cojocaru
models covering over 20 ES)	(2010); Holman &
	Harrison (2011)
ESTIMAP ES Mapping Tool for the European scale (a suite of ES sub- models for pollination, coastal protection, recreation and water purification)	Maes et al. (2011)
Biome-BGC (a terrestrial ecosystem model which quantifies several key indicators for ES, e.g. carbon sequestration, water retention, etc)	Thornton et al. (2002)
InVEST2.1 (Integrated Valuation of Environmental Services and Tradeoffs)	Tallis et al. (2011)
ARIES v1.0 beta (Artificial Intelligence for Ecosystem Services)	Bagstad et al. (2011)
Methodology for spatial mapping of ES using CORINE, biotope data (SutiGIS), EUNIS habitat classification data, and biodiversity databases	Vihervaara et al. (2011)
EEA Land and Ecosystem Accounting Framework and its extension using expert-based mapping	EEA (2006); Kienast et al. (2009)
Bayesian Belief Networks (BBNs)	Aitkenhead & Aalders (2009); Barton et al. (2008)
State-and-transition models (STMs)	Quétier & Lavorel (2009); Bestelmeyer et al. (2011)
WOFOST (WOrld FOod Studies; A process-based model for the quantitative analysis of the growth and production of annual field crops); FSSIM (a bio-economic farm model for simulating the response of EU farming systems to agricultural and environmental policies)	Boogaard et al. (1998); Diepen et al. (1989); Janssen et al. (2011); Louhichi et al. (2010)
CAPSIS (a platform of several forest models, including Fagacae (even- aged oak forests); Samsarra (mixed uneven-aged mountain forests); Oak-Pine (mixed Sessile oak-Scots pine forests); Sylvestris (even-aged Scots pine forests)	De Coligny et al. (2003); Pérot et al. (2010); Courbaud et al. (2001); Vallet et al. (2009)
SUMO2 (dynamic vegetation succession and carbon sequestration model)	Wamelink et al. (2009)
Yasso07 / GAYA (dynamic soil carbon models); SMART2 (dynamic soil model of the nutrient cycle); GREEN (Geospatial Regression Equation for European Nutrient losses; terrestrial and aquatic retention of nutrients and its monetary valuation)	Liski et al. (2005); Repo et al. (2011); Raymer et al. (2009); Grizzetti et al. (2008); Grizzetti et al. (2005)
SPECIES (broadscale and landscape species suitability, distribution and vulnerability); PROPS (statistical chance of occurrence of plant species and vegetation types)	Pearson et al. (2002); Harrison et al. (2006); Wamelink et al. (2005; 2011).
METAPHOR shaking windows (metapopulation analysis under climate change)	Schippers et al. (2011)
DIMO (dynamic plant species dispersal model); Species dispersal model (landscape probability for dispersal for species dependent on climate and land use)	Greft-van Rossum et al. (2008); del Barrio et al. (2006)
SMALLSTEPS, Maxent Landscape Habitat distribution, Conefor Sensinode 2.2 and GUIDOS (habitat connectivity models and landscape level indicators of structure)	Rooij et al. (2008); Saura & Rubio (2010); Vogt et al. (2007); Philips & Dudik (2008)
LARCH, ECI Plan-it and Stacking tool (models/tools for assessing ES in relation to Green Infrastructure)	Steingröver & Van Rooij (2010)
BioScore (cost-effective assessment of policy impact on biodiversity using species sensitivity scores)	Louette et al. (2010)

### 2.1.3 Most relevant research groups, networks or projects

#### Numerical Terradynamic Simulation Group

There are several groups conducting research in global biochemical cycles/global change/ecosystem studies that deserve mentioning. The NTSG (Numerical Terradynamic Simulation Group) at the University of Montana is highlighted here, because in spite of being a US-based research group, their activity has a strong impact on the worldwide scientific community in the field of carbon cycle research. The primary goal of the group is the modelling and monitoring of ecosystem function on multiple scales which include model development as well as providing global, remote sensing based databases. One of their well known projects is the Biome-BGC project, which is the development of a state of the art model to simulate carbon, nitrogen, energy and water storage and fluxes in the ecosystem. They are also involved in the NACP (North American Carbon Program) that is a contribution to the GCP (Global Carbon Project). Besides other remote sensing based global products, the research group focuses on the retrieval and validation of MODIS (Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer) land products such as the MODIS Gross Primary Production/Net Primary Production (GPP/NPP) Project (MOD17) which provides global estimates of GPP and NPP for different vegetation types (www.ntsg.umt.edu).

# Global Earth Observation System of Systems (GEOSS) and the Group on Earth Observations (GEO)

The goal of GEOSS is to provide decision makers with scientific information that can advance societal benefit areas including human health, ecosystems, climate change and air and water quality. The GEOSS architecture integrates environmental observation, monitoring data and measurements with modeling (www.epa.gov/geoss).

GEO is a voluntary partnership of governments and international organizations. It provides a framework within which these partners can develop new projects and coordinate their strategies and investments. As of March 2012, GEO's Members include 88 Governments and the European Commission. In addition, 64 intergovernmental, international, and regional organizations with a mandate in Earth observation or related issues have been recognized as Participating Organizations. GEO is constructing GEOSS on the basis of a 10-Year Implementation Plan for the period 2005 to 2015 (www.earthobservations.org/about\_geo.shtml).

# ALTER-Net – A Long-Term Biodiversity, Ecosystem and Awareness Research Network

ALTER-Net brings together 26 leading institutes from 18 European countries. They share the goal of integrating their research capability to: assess changes in biodiversity, analyse the effect of those changes on ecosystem services and inform the public and policy makers about this at a European scale (<u>www.alter-net.info/about-alter-net</u>)

#### **TEEB - The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity**

The TEEB Study is a major international initiative to draw attention to the global economic benefits of biodiversity, to highlight the growing costs of biodiversity loss and ecosystem degradation, and to draw together expertise from the fields of science, economics and policy to enable practical actions moving forward. It produces reports regularly for ecologists and economists, for policy makers, for local and regional policy, for business and for citizens.

The main aims are to synthesize and present the latest ecological and economic knowledge to structure the evaluation of ecosystem services under different scenarios, and to recommend appropriate valuation methodologies for different contexts. It also aims to develop guidance for policy makers at all levels in order to foster sustainable development and better conservation of ecosystems and biodiversity. It enables easy access to leading information and tools for improved biodiversity-related business practice and to raise public awareness of the contribution of ecosystem services and biodiversity towards human welfare, of an individual's impact on biodiversity and ecosystems, as well as identifying areas where individual action can make a positive difference (www.teebweb.org).

#### UK NEA – UK National Ecosystem Assessment

The UK National Ecosystem Assessment (UK NEA, 2009-2011) was the first analysis of the UK's natural environment in terms of the benefits it provides to society and continuing economic prosperity. The UK NEA has provided new information on the changing natural environment in terms of ecosystems and the range of services that ecosystems provide to people (<u>http://uknea.unep-wcmc.org</u>). It addressed 10 key questions, which are summarised in the Synthesis of Key Findings

- What are the status and trends of the UK's ecosystems and the services they provide to society?
- What are the drivers causing change in the UK's ecosystems and their services?
- How do the ecosystem services affect human well-being, who and where are the beneficiaries, and how does this affect how they are valued and managed?
- Which vital UK provisioning services are not provided by UK ecosystems?
- What is the current public understanding of ecosystem services and the benefits they provide?
- Why should we incorporate the economic value of ecosystem services into decision-making?
- How might ecosystems and their services change in the UK under plausible future scenarios?
- What are the economic implications of different plausible futures?
- How can we secure and improve the continued delivery of ecosystem services?
- How have we advanced our understanding of the influence of ecosystem services on human well-being and what are the knowledge constraints on more informed decision-making?

#### ARIES – Artificial Intelligence for Ecosystem Services

ARIES is a flexible, integrative modeling platform, which purpose is to make environmental decision making easier and more effective. It capable to incorporates probability models as well as ecological process models, and turns to ad hoc models where appropriate models do not exist or are inadequate for local contexts. It maps the potential provision of ecosystem services (sources), their users (use), and biophysical features that can deplete service flows (sinks) using spatial Bayesian conditional probability models other existing ecological or models (<u>www.ariesonline.org</u>). Actually, the main ecosystem service modeling components are: carbon sequestration and storage (rather simple probabilistic models for source, use, sink and flow); aesthetic viewshed and proximity; flood regulation; coastal flood regulation; subsistence fishery; sediment regulation; water supply and recreation. The recent version of the ARIES platform provides various regionalized models through case studies for five US sites, Dominican Republic and Madagascar (Bagstad et al. 2011).

#### OpenNESS – Operationalisation of Natural Capital and EcoSystem Services: From Concepts to Real-world Applications; and OPERAs – Operational Potential of Ecosystem Research Applications (upcoming FP7 projects)

Openness and OPERAs are upcoming European collaborative projects under the call FP7 ENV.2012.6.2-1 ("Exploration of the operational potential of the concepts of ecosystem services and natural capital to systematically inform sustainable land, water and urban management"). These proposals are currently (07/2012) in the negotiation phase, and will probably start in late 2012 or early 2013.

The main goal of OpenNESS is to deliver innovative and practical ways of applying the concepts of natural capital and ecosystem services in land, water and urban management in Europe and to examine how they link to, and support, wider EU economic, social and environmental policy initiatives. To this end OpenNESS will develop and refine approaches for mapping and modelling the biophysical control of ecosystem services, and test these methods in concrete, place-based case studies in a range of social-ecological systems throughout Europe and in other parts of the world.

The main goal of OPERAs is to explore, demonstrate and validate mechanisms, instruments and best practices that will serve to maintain and enhance a sustainable flow of a broad range of services from ecosystems. This goal involves developing spatially and temporally explicit metrics and methods to provide operative links between ecosystem function, biodiversity and service provision including biophysical models, quantitative analysis methods of functional biodiversity, and land use change models.

As both OpenNESS ans OPERAs focus on issues that can be potentially addressed with the "ecosystem services" toolkit currently developed in BioVeL, they can be potential users for these BioVeL products.

# MAES – EU Working Group on Mapping and Assessment of Ecosystem Services

MAES is an EU working group initiated by the Comission to provide a science-policy interface in support of Target 2 of the EU Biodiversity strategy to 2020. Accomplishing this target requires significant efforts from the member states including mapping and assessing the state of ecosystems and their services in their national territory by 2014. In order to ensure a coherent and successful outcome in all of these activities MAES has the following core tasks and responsibilities: (1) to streamline reporting activities, (2) to perform a scoping study on the available resources, and (3) to provide methodological guidance. MAES activities are not research activities per se but will benefit from ongoing and future related research projects funded by EU and MS including OpenNESS and OPERAs. Nevertheless, the mapping and assessment activities of the EU member states coordinated by MAES may be seen as important potential users of the BioVeL applications.

# Metagenomics and the main projects addressed to the microbial domain of ecosystems

The field of metagenomics addresses the function and composition of microbial communities (Handelsman et al., 1998). The main distinguishing feature between metagenomics and genomics, is that metagenomics is concerned with the analysis of DNA from whole communities while genomics is concerned with the analysis of DNA from a single cell or organism.

The field of metagenomics can be broadly subdivided into two distinct categories: 1) whole genome shotgun sequencing (Chen and Patcher 2005), and; 2) single gene surveys (typically directed studies of ribosomal RNA gene).

Using a combination of these techniques, one can gain an overview of the relative abundances of microbial taxa, identifying for example the most dominant species of a complex community in a particular habitat. Furthermore, identifying gene families and placing them within individual pathways can also provide insights into the functional capacity of a community, whilst spatiotemporal approaches to such analyses can provide a complex picture as to the fundamental biogeochemical and metabolic processes being carried out by a particular community. The ultimate goal of metagenomics will be to provide predictive models of microbial ecosystems and the ecosystem services they provide.

A number of studies have involved the comparison of multiple metagenomes from different environments (Tringe et al., 2005; Dinsdale et al., 2008; Delmont et al., 2011). Dinsdale et al. (2008) demonstrated that the prevalence of different functional groups could be used to predict the environmental conditions of each ecosystem. A more recent study by lverson et al. (2012), demonstrated how ecosystems are shaped by complex communites of unculturable microbes, by reconstructing genomes from mate-paired short-read metagenomes, including an uncultured marine group II Euryarchaeote genome. This represents an important advance as their method allowed for assigning functional ecosystem role to individuals within a community directly from the assembled genomic sequences. Coupled to other techniques that can elucidate active metabolic processes, such as metatranscriptomics (Helbling et al. 2012), we can begin to establish a link between the genotypic traits of an organism and their functional roles. Thus we can begin to connect composition, function and environmental characteristics both at the local and global level making metagenomics indispensible for the future study of ecosystem functioning.

The following projects are relevant:

#### MicroB3 – Biodiversity, Bioinformatics, Biotechnology

The EU 7FP project Micro B3 (<u>www.microb3.eu</u>) is developing innovative bioinformatic approaches and a legal framework to make large-scale data on marine viral, bacterial, archaeal and protists genomes and metagenomes accessible for marine ecosystems biology and to define new targets for biotechnological applications.

# CAMERA – Community Cyberinfrastructure for Advanced Microbial Ecology Research and Analysis

The aim of this project (<u>http://camera.calit2.net</u>) is to serve the needs of the microbial ecology research community, and other scientists using metagenomics data, by creating a rich, distinctive data repository and a bioinformatics tools resource that will address many of the unique challenges of metagenomic analysis. The Project was initiated by the Gordon and Betty Moore Foundation, beginning in Jan 2006.

#### MG-Rast – The Metagenomics analysis server

MG-RAST server is an automated analysis platform for metagenomes providing quantitative insights into microbial populations based on sequence data (<u>http://metagenomics.anl.gov</u>).

#### EBI Metagenomics service

The EBI Metagenomics service (<u>www.ebi.ac.uk/metagenomics</u>) is an automated pipeline for the analysis and archiving of metagenomic data that aims to provide insights into the functional and metabolic potential of a sample.

#### SILVA – Comprehensive ribosomal RNA database

SILVA is a comprehensive on-line resource for quality checked and aligned ribosomal RNA sequence data (<u>www.arb-silva.de</u>).

#### Megx.net – Marine ecological genomics

Megx.net allows access to integrated environmental and (meta)genomic data intended for use in marine microbial ecology (<u>www.megx.net</u>).

### 2.1.4 Evaluation of existing models and methods

There is a high number of sound ecosystem models running on stand alone systems, i.e. CASMOFOR (Somogyi 2002-2011), EFIMOD (Komarov et al. 2003), CO2FIX (Schelhaas et al. 2004) as empirical regression-based simulators; SORTIE (Pacala et al. 1993), Biome-BGC (Running & Hunt 1993), BALANCE (Grote & Pretzsch 2002) as ecophysiology based process models; CENTURY Soil Organic Matter agroecosystem model (Parton et al. 1987); LPJ Dynamic Global Vegetation Model (Sitch et al. 2003, Gerten et al. 2004) and many others. According to our present knowledge, nothing of these ecosystem process models have been implemented yet into service oriented architecture (SOA), while few of others mainly focused on estimating some ecosystem service features coupling ecological and economical valuation compartments (Feng et al 2011, Bagstad et al. 2011).

One example of SOA-based model is a prototype web application for dynamic wetland ecosystem service simulation using the Open Geospatial Consortium Web Processing Services standard (OGC WPS). This wetland ecosystem application involves and integrates five submodels for land terrain, evapotranspiration, water surface extent, wetland water table level and waterfowl population density simulations (Feng et al. 2011). The OGC WPS specification (Schut 2007) is a relatively new technology, which is spreading fast in the environmental domain (Čepický & Becchi 2007, Baranski 2008, Brauner 2008, Fenov et al. 2012). It seems, that ARIES, Artificial Intelligence for Ecosystem Services - one of the most interesting projects - apply OGC WPS standard also (Bagstad et al. 2011). The recently emerged idea of 'Model Web' - models as web services (Geller 2008) also apply OGC WPS standard (Dubois et al. 2009, Jodha 2009, Maué 2010, Duboi et al. 2011). The Web Service Description Language (WSDL) based services coupled to workflow management system is also proving to be a very powerful modeling solution in general (Gil et al. 2007, Collins et al 2009, Ludäscher et al. 2009, Schade et al. 2012).

Due to the science-policy context, the scientific questions selected earlier, and the need of web service implementation of matured and powerful terrestrial biogeochemical model, we concluded to select the Biome-BGC model to build and implement as core for web services, because of its wide acceptance, having great potential and flexibility, open source, good documentation and subject of continuous development.

#### Biome-BGC

Biome-BGC is a process-based, mechanistic biogeochemical model that can be used to simulate carbon, nitrogen and water fluxes of different terrestrial ecosystems, including evergreen and deciduous forests, grasslands and shrubs (Running and Hunt 1993; White et al. 2000; Churkina et al. 2003; Vetter et al. 2008; Trusilova et al. 2009).

Similarly to other process-based biogeochemical models, Biome-BGC was constructed to simulate plant growth and related biogeochemical processes in environmental conditions that can differ from the past and present circumstances (Kramer and Mohren 2011). Biome-BGC uses state-of-the-art representation of key

physiological and biogeochemical processes like initiation and cessation of growing season, photosynthesis, allocation, autotrophic respiration (including growth and maintenance respiration), soil organic matter decomposition, evapotranspiration, nitrogen availability and allocation, and stomatal conductance limitations due to environmental stress factors (Running and Coughlan 1988; Running and Gower 1991; Wang et al. 2005; Vetter et al. 2008; Trusilova et al. 2009). The model explicitly handles the nitrogen cycle which is essential considering the well recognized importance of nitrogen availability in forest growth (Magnani et al. 2007; Ciais et al. 2008; De Vries et al. 2009; Hlásny et al. 2011).

Most recently Biome-BGC was extended to include disturbance and to provide a more detailed description of soil processes, plant phenology and mortality (Di Vittorio et al., 2010; Hidy et al., 2012) and agricultural practices (Ma et al., 2011).

#### MTCLIM – Mountain climate simulator

The mountain climate simulator is a kind of pre-processing model of Biome-BGC in areas where no meteorological measurements have been taken. It addresses the problems of estimating daily near-surface meteorological parameters from nearby observations (even from several tens of kilometres distant). It is designed to handle the special problems encountered in mountainous terrain, but it is applicable in flat terrain as well. An important advantage is that the output format generated by MT-CLIM fit to the input meterological data requirements of Biome-BGC, so it is easy to build a data processing chain.

The home page of the model at the site of Numerical Terradynamic Simulation Group is <u>www.ntsg.umt.edu/project/mtclim</u>, where one can download version 4.3 and can find the reference publications (Bristow et al. 1984, Glassy & Running 1994, Kimball et al. 1997, Running et al. 1987, Thornton & Running 1999). A further important publication reports on in depth testing of the model over the complex terrain of the Austrian Alps (Thornton et al. 2000).

#### InVEST - Integrated Valuation of Ecosystem Services and Tradeoffs

InVEST is a family of script tools in the ArcGIS ArcToolBox environment to map and value the goods and services from nature which are essential for sustaining and fulfilling human life. InVEST models are spatially-explicit, using maps as information sources and producing maps as outputs. InVEST returns results in either biophysical terms or economic terms. InVEST models are based on production functions that define how an ecosystem's structure and function affect the flows and values of environmental services. The models account for both service supply and the location and activities of people who benefit from services.

Since data are often scarce, the initial versions of InVEST offer relatively simple models with few input requirements. These models are best suited for identifying patterns in the provision and value of environmental services. With validation, these models can also provide useful estimates of the magnitude and value of services provided (www.naturalcapitalproject.org/InVEST.html).

#### Measuring (microbial) diversity and functionality

Metagenomic approaches which assess the diversity and composition of organismal assemblages in ecosystems (Amaral-Zettler et al. 2009) are supported by an increasing number of analytical protocols able to break down the genetic profiles of environmental samples into ecologically effective units, i.e. taxonomic clades that correspond to species (Schloss & Handelsman 2005; Caron et al. 2009), as well as to define diversity measures based on genetic information alone (Lozupone et al 2007). Although today the majority of environmental sequencing surveys are still concerned with the composition of biological diversity in a single habitat, comparative studies are becoming increasingly popular (Nold et al. 2010; Lauber et al. 2009, Stoeck et al. 2009). In these cases clustering approaches such as UniFrac (Lozupone and Knight 2005) are typically employed algorithms to assess betweencommunity similarity, also known as beta-diversity. Along with newly developed analytical software such as MEGAN (Mitra et al. 2009), GenGIS (Parks et al. 2009), SONS and and TreeClimber (Schloss and Handelsman 2006a; 2006b), researchers are now able to compare the community structures of habitats across environmental gradients, over geographic distances, or between different habitats (Schloss and Handelsman 2008).

Considering microbial functionality, the community ecology in a given habitat can be described genetically by breaking down the diversity of genes in a metagenome according to their function. In other words, the state of the environment can be inferred from the active genes in a community, i.e. genes involved in dealing with acidification, oxygen depletion (Jayakumar et al. 2009), detoxification (Lavik et al. 2009), heat shock response (Pearson et al. 2010), nitrogen acquisition (Frias-Lopez et al. 2008), and many other processes characteristic for a certain ecological condition. Similar to diversity assessments, ecological assessments also begin to compare the metabolic activities between communities across environmental gradients, over geographic distances, or between different habitats. Exemplary studies are those of DeLong et al. (2006) who demonstrated a gradient of taxonomic composition and metabolic capabilities in a 3000-m range of ocean depths, while Tringe et al. (2005) used environmental genome tags to show the difference in functions encoded by communities of microorganisms in soil, marine, acid mine drainage, and whale fall habitats. These approaches were recently extended to show significant functional distinctions in the microbial and viral communities sampled from nine different habitat types (Dinsdale et al. 2008).

# 2.1.5 Evaluation of data source requirements for a biogeochemical process model represented by Biome-BGC

Biome-BGC requires three groups of information: geomorphologic and site characteristics, vegetation eco-physiological parameters, and meteorological data.

Geomorphologic and site characteristics include site elevation and latitude, shortwave albedo, total atmospheric deposition of Nitrogen, total biological fixation of Nitrogen, effective soil depth, soil physical characteristics, and atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> mixing ratio. Those input data can be acquired from specific databases but there are not too many data sources available, and there is no generalizable solution to

provide these characteristics. Here we simply refer to Vetter et al. (2008) for a typical example on the estimation of site characteristics.

Similarly, there is no universal solution for the ecophysiological parameterization of Biome-BGC. White et al. (2000) provides default parameter values for typical terrestrial ecosystems (deciduous and evergreen forests, grasslands, shrubs). However, as it is proposed by the developers of the model, the ecophysiological parameters should always be provided by the users of the model for local applications. Some of the parameters can be measured on the field (allocation, carbon/nitrogen ratio of plant compartments, etc.), but there are many situations when direct measurement of the parameters are not possible. The parameters can also be estimated using model-data synthesis (or in other words, model-data fusion, or calibration) using mathematical methods (see e.g. Trusilova et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2009; Hidy et al., 2012). Model-data synthesis has many associated problems (see Hidy et al., 2012) but in many cases there is no alternative to using this method. We note that in some cases development of the model logic (structural improvement) is crucial to get meaningful parameter estimations (Hidy et al., 2012).

Considering the meteorological data requirement of the model, there are a large number of possible data sources that can be used. As the availability of meteorological data is crucial for the estimation of the past and future evolution of the carbon balance, species composition, invasive species distribution and many other issues that are related to the BioVeL project and biodiversity in general, here we provide a detailed description of the possible data sources of past, present and future meteorology. We do it so because there is no similar documentation available on data availability for the public. The description might be useful for the ecological niche modelling performed within BioVeL as well.

#### 2.1.5.1 Past and present weather

#### Data from national meteorological services

Standard meteorological measurements are routinely performed worldwide by the national meteorological and hydrological services. The measurement network provides the highest possible quality meteorological data based on regularly calibrated, professional equipment (thermometers, rain gauges, humidity sensors, etc.). In some regions of the World the measured data are freely available to the public, but in some regions (e.g. in Europe), the data is (generally) not available for the research community. Meteorological measurements typically provide information about air temperature at 2 m height, wind speed at 10 m height, atmospheric pressure at surface level, precipitation amount from 6 UTC to 6 UTC in the consecutive day, and relative humidity at 2 m height. Biome-BGC mainly uses temperature and precipitation data, which are the most common parameters.

National meteorological services might further process the measured data to provide homogenized time series for selected meteorological parameters (homogenization means accounting for instrument change, dislocation of the meteorological station and other effects). National meteorological services might implement sophisticated methods for data interpolation (Lakatos et al. 2008).

Data availability changes from country to country, so no further description is given here about the specific national meteorological and hydrological services.

#### Point data from international data sources

In several countries meteorological activities are coordinated by the World Meteorological Organization (www.wmo.int/pages/about/documents/WMO990.pdf). WMO organizes worldwide data dissemination as numerical weather prediction heavily relies on measurements made in separate countries. According to WMO Resolution 40 (www.wmo.int/pages/about/Resolution40.html) some specific data measured by the national meteorological and hydrological services are freely available to the research community (for non-profit purposes). Those data are available for the public at the website of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), National Environmental Satellite, Data, and Information Service (DESDIS) National Climatic Data Center (NCDC), as part of the Global (www.ncdc.noaa.gov/cgi-Surface Summary of Dav (GSOD) database bin/res40.pl?page=gsod.html).

Users that accept the conditions of WMO Resolution 40 can have quick access to meteorological measurements made by several weather stations worldwide.

According to the documentation at the NOAA NESDIS NCDC website, GSOD provides the following meteorological parameters (with units and numerical precision; <u>www.ncdc.noaa.gov/cgi-bin/res40.pl</u>):

- Mean temperature (0.1 Fahrenheit)
- Mean dew point (0.1 Fahrenheit)
- Mean sea level pressure (0.1 millibar)
- Mean station pressure (0.1 millibar)
- Mean visibility (0.1 miles)
- Mean wind speed (0.1 knots)
- Maximum sustained wind speed (0.1 knots)
- Maximum wind gust (0.1 knots)
- Maximum temperature (0.1 Fahrenheit)
- Minimum temperature (0.1 Fahrenheit)
- Precipitation amount (0.01 inches)
- Snow depth (0.1 inches)
- Indicator for occurrence of Fog, Rain or Drizzle, Snow or Ice Pellets, Hail, Thunder, Tornado/Funnel Cloud

NOAA NESDIS NCDC also provides a GIS-based data selection tool for GSOD: <u>http://gis.ncdc.noaa.gov/map/gsod/</u>. Using the GIS tool users can easily extract data for their locations of interest. The figures below demonstrate the data selection mechanism (Fig. 2.1-3 and 2.1-4).

🗸 🧹 Surface Data, Global Sur	nmary of the Day		Map/Data Acces	Services × Locator: Asheville	60 🚱
Basemaps Tools:	00000	0 800	e	00 00	
Laemar Tools North Pacific South Pacific South Pacific	Map Help Welcome Jdentify Select Tools Welcome Where do I start? Step 1 Use the Cayer controls to make Step 2 Navigate to your area of interest. Step 3 With the Cay Identify or Cay Select Step 4 In the Results window, click the Car for a single station.	Basemaps Layers GIS Resources About	Legend ss or view data		North Pacific
Current Tool: Move Map	Ma	p Scale 1:147,914,301		Latitude:	Longitude:

Figure 2.1-3 Start page for the GIS-based data selection at GSOD



Figure 2.1-4 Map of the stations in Hungary that provide or provided data to GSOD

Daily maximum and minimum temperature and precipitation amounts are generally available from GSOD for many stations. It means that after unit conversion those data can be used as input to Biome-BGC. The files are available in ASCII format.

#### Data from meteorological reanalyses

In meteorological terminology *analysis* means the reconstruction of the state of the atmosphere in 3 dimensions (at the surface, and also vertically) at a given time (including temperature, wind speed, atmospheric pressure, moisture content, cloud coverage and many other meteorological parameters). Meteorological analysis is an important step in numerical weather prediction (and in general, in weather forecast). Analysis is based on measurement data (surface measurements, upper air soundings by radiosondes, satellite readings, etc.) and background information from previous simulations made by numerical weather prediction models (Dee et al., 2011).

<b>ECMWF</b>	Home Your Room Login Contact Feedback Site Map Search:
igh, medium and low cloud cover	About Us         Products         Services         Research         Publications         News&Events           Overview         Forecasts         Computing         Modelling         Newsletters         Calendar           Getting here         Order Data         Archive         Reanalysis         Manuals         Employment           Committees         Order Software         PrepIFS         Seasonal         Library         Open Tenders
	ERA Interim, Daily Fields >
umo of louge	ERA Interim, Daily Fields
ype of level Potential	Note: In order to reuleve data from this server, you inst have to accept the <u>conditions of use</u> .
temperature Potential vorticity Pressure levels	Select date <ul> <li>Select a date range between 1979-01-01 and 2011-12-31:</li> </ul>
Surface	Start date: 1979-01-01 End date: 2011-12-31
RA Interim Fields	
Daily Invariant	Select a list of month:     Ins Eak Mar Any May Jun Jul Ang San Oct May Dag     Ins Eak Mar Any May Jun Jul Ang San Oct May Dag
<u>Synoptic Monthly</u> <u>Means</u> Monthly Means of	
Daily Means	
'ersonal Your Requests	
lata usage	
Conditions	
iee also	<u>1997</u>
Data FAQ Data Servers Data Services GRIB decoder	1998
	AND THE ME THE WE AND AN ING AND AN INC AND
	Select All or Clear
	Select Time
	00:00:00 06:00:00 12:00:00 18:00:00
	Select All or Clear
	Select Step
	0 3 6 9 12
	Select parameters
	10 metre 0 vina component     10 metre vina component       21 metre vina gust     2 metre dewpoint temperature       2 metre temperature     Albedo       Boundary laver dissipation     Boundary laver height
	Charnock     Clear sky surface photosynthetically active radiation     Convective available potential energy     Convective precipitation
	Convective snowfall     Downward UV radiation at the surface       East-West surface stress     Evaporation
	Forecast albedo         Forecast logarithm of surface roughness for heat           Forecast surface roughness         Gravity wave dissipation
	High cloud cover     Ice temperature layer 1     Ice temperature layer 2     Ice temperature layer 3
	Ice temperature layer 4     Instantaneous X surface stress
	Instantaneous Y surface stress Instantaneous moisture flux Instantaneous moisture flu
	Instantaneous surface neat NUX     Large-scale precipitation     Large-scale snowfall
	Logarithm of surface roughness length for heat

Figure 2.1-5 Web interface for data download from the ERA Interim database (<u>http://data-portal.ecmwf.int/data/d/interim\_daily</u>)

Analysis fields represent the state of the atmosphere in a physically consistent manner and are the results of an optimization procedure (called data assimilation). During the years the mathematical methods used for meteorological analysis improved substantially (Dee et al., 2011). In the same time computer resources increased significantly, which enabled the application of more sophisticated data assimilation techniques. These developments led to the need to re-analyze the archive meteorological measurements in a unified way using the most up-to-date methodology. In this sense meteorological reanalysis is a database about the state of the atmosphere for a long time period (typically several years or decades).

There are a number of reanalysis projects that can be used for scientific purposes. A good summary can be found at the website of Reanalysis Intercomparison and Observations (<u>www.reanalyses.org</u>). Well-known reanalysis projects are the NCAR/NCEP reanalysis (Kalnay et al., 1996), the ERA-40 reanalysis (Uppala et al., 2005), and the ERA-Interim reanalysis (Dee et al., 2011) (Fig. 2.1-5).

Some of the reanalysis projects have coarse spatial resolution (e.g. NCAR/NCEP reanalysis have 2.5×2.5 degree resolution) which means that they are not suitable to estimate meteorological parameters of small regions. Most recent reanalysis projects like ERA Interim might provide suitable input data for Biome-BGC. The open access web-interface of ERA Interim (http://data-portal.ecmwf.int/data/d/interim\_daily; Fig. 2.2-5) only provides data at a relatively coarse resolution (1.5×1.5 degrees), but finer resolution (~0.5×0.5 degrees) data can be accessed via national meteorological services (if they are member states or cooperating states of the European Centre for Medium-Range Weather Forecasts (ECMWF; <u>http://ecmwf.int</u>). Reanalysis data might be used to get improved estimations of daily minimum/maximum temperature, global radiation or vapour pressure deficit for larger regions. Precipitation estimations can be retrieved from the reanalysis databases, but they are generally based on short range weather forecasts, and are not based on direct precipitation observations. It means that the quality of precipitation data from reanalysis projects is questionable. Biome-BGC users might consider choosing alternative precipitation data sources for the simulations (see below).

Note that meteorological data provided by short range weather forecasts (provided e.g. by ECMWF) can also be used as meteorological input to the model, but they suffer from the same, precipitation related problem as described above. The advantage of the short term weather forecast data is its higher spatial resolution (see e.g. <u>www.ecmwf.int/publications/cms/get/ecmwfnews/1264512002630</u>).

The reanalysis data is available in GRIB (GRIdded Binary) format, which is a common data standard used by meteorologists and oceanographers. Alternatively, the data can be retrieved as NetCDF (Network Common Data Format) files.

#### Gridded meteorological data (WorldClim, CRU, E-OBS)

Point measurements (see above) are only available at selected locations with (generally) limited spatial representativeness. Limited spatial representativeness means that it is not trivial to get information for other locations that can have different climate characteristics due to topography or atmospheric circulation patterns. Spatially representative datasets overcome the problem posed by the point measurements. Reanalysis provides data in a regular geographical grid where the data is meant to represent average conditions for the entire grid cell. It means that

reanalysis data has larger spatial representativeness. However, as we shown above, reanalysis data can not be considered as measured data since it is derived from the joint use of models and measurements. Another disadvantage of reanalysis data is the relatively coarse spatial resolution, and the poor performance of precipitation estimations.

There is a need to use datasets that are derived directly from measurements, and have fine spatial resolution. This need is especially emphasized in case of precipitation which exhibit large spatial variability. Meteorological stations are located irregularly at the surface, which means that sophisticated mathematical methods are needed to create easy-to-use gridded datasets (see e.g. Haylock et al., 2008).

The increasing number of freely available, high resolution gridded datasets reveals the great interest about climate change and meteorology in general. Here we describe three important datasets, keeping in mind that other datasets also exist but they are out of scope of the BioVeL project.

**WorldClim** is one of the datasets that contains monthly averages of selected meteorological parameters (Hijmans et al. 2005; <u>www.worldclim.org</u>) for the 1950-2000 period. Available parameters include monthly mean, maximum and minimum temperature, monthly precipitation plus 19 derived bioclimatic variables. The spatial resolution of the dataset is 1 km<sup>2</sup>. Note that WorldClim also publishes past climate reconstruction datasets and also climate scenarios.

The Climatic Research Unit (**CRU**) of University of East Anglia disseminates high resolution gridded datasets at the CRU website (<u>www.cru.uea.ac.uk/cru/data/hrg/</u>; Fig. 2.2-6). CRU also publishes climate scenarios. CRU data contains monthly averages for selected meteorological parameters at variable spatial resolution.

data-set	space	time	variety	variables	reference	status
CRU CL 1.0	0.5° global	1961-1990	climatology	pre, wet, tmp, dtr, vap, spc, cld, frs, wnd	New et al, 1999	available (via the IPCC-DDC)
CRU CL 2.0	10' global	1961-1990	climatology	pre, wet, tmp, dtr, rhm, ssh, frs, wnd	New et al, 2002	available for download
CRU CL 2.1	10' Europe	1961-1990	climatology	cld, vap	Mitchell et al, 2003	available on request
<u>CRU TS 1.0</u>	0.5° global	1901-1995	time-series	pre, tmp, dtr, wet, vap, cld, frs	New et al, 2000	available on request but superseded by CRU TS 2.1
CRU TS 1.1	0.5° global	1996-1998	time-series	pre, tmp New et al, 2000; extended ar		available on request but superseded by CRU TS 2.1
CRU TS 1.2	10' Europe	1901-2000	time-series	pre, tmp, dtr, vap, cld	Mitchell et al, 2003	available for download
<u>CRU TS 2.0</u>	0.5° global	1901-2000	time-series	pre, tmp, dtr, vap, cld Mitchell et al, 2003		available for download superseded by CRU TS 2.1
<u>CRU TS 2.1</u>	0.5° global	1901-2002	time-series	pre, tmp, tmx, tmn, dtr, vap, cld, wet, frs Mitchell and Jones, 2005		available for download superseded by CRU TS 3.0
CRU TS 3.0	0.5° global	1901-2006	time-series	pre, tmp, tmx, tmn, dtr, vap, cld, wet, frs, pet In preparation		Available from BADC (registration required)
TYN SC 1.0	10' Europe	2001-2100	scenarios	pre, tmp, dtr, vap, cld	Mitchell et al, 2003	available for download
TYN SC 2.0	0.5° global	2001-2100	scenarios	pre, tmp, dtr, vap, cld	Mitchell et al, 2003	available for download
TYN CY 1.0	country	1901-1998	countries	pre, tmp, dtr, wet, vap, cld, frs	Mitchell et al, 2002	superseded by TYN CY 1.1
TYN CY 1.1	country	1901-2000	countries	pre, tmp, dtr, wet, vap, cld, frs, tmn, tmx	Mitchell et al, 2003	available for download
TYN CY 2.0	country	2070-2099	countries	pre, tmp	Mitchell et al, 2002; extended	available for download
TYN CY 3.0	country	1901-2100	countries	pre, tmp, dtr, vap, cld	Mitchell et al, 2003	available for download

Figure 2.1-6 List of high resolution datasets that are published by CRU (www.cru.uea.ac.uk/cru/data/hrg/)

CRU TS 2.1 and CRU TS 1.2 datasets are frequently used for different purposes including data source for spin-up simulations with Biome-BGC (Hidy et al., 2012). The datasets cover the time period of 1901-2002 (CRU TS 2.1) and 1901-2000 (CRU TS 1.2). CRU TS 2.1 provides data for the land are globally, at 0.5×0.5 degree resolution. CR TS 1.2 only provides data for the European land area, but in a finer spatial resolution (1/6×1/6 degree). CRU TS 1.2 is of particular interest for the European users (Mitchell et al., 2004). CRU TS 1.2 contains average temperature and diurnal temperature range, as well as monthly precipitation amount data (plus two other parameters related to humidity and cloud cover). Though the quality of CRU TS 1.2 was found to be poor when applied to single points in heterogeneous terrain (Eastaugh et al., 2010), experience shows that it performs well in typical homogeneous terrain (e.g. in the lowlands of Hungary).

As WorldClim and CRU datasets provide monthly means, weather generator must be adapted to create virtual meteorological time series in daily time step (needed by Biome-BGC). There are several stochastic weather generators available for this purpose. An example is the C2W statistical weather generator (Bürger, 1997).

In the frame of the European Union funded ENSEMBLES project (<u>www.ensembles-eu.org</u>) a new, interpolated, high resolution gridded dataset was created based on station measurements and sophisticated interpolation techniques (Haylock et al., 2008; Fig. 2.1-7). This so-called E-OBS dataset contains daily data for selected meteorological parameters in 0.25×0.25 degree regular (or 0.22×0.22 degree for (http://eca.knmi.nl/download/ rotated) arid Europe ensembles/download.php). This dataset is available from 1950 to present day and it is continuously updated. Daily maximum and minimum temperatures, plus daily precipitation amounts are available from E-OBS, and this data can directly be used together with Biome-BGC.

The high resolution gridded datasets are available in different file formats. WorldClim data is available in ESRI grid (raster) format, GeoTIFF format, and generic grid format. CRU data is available as ASCII text (note that some of the CRU datasets are also available as NetCDF files from other sources). E-OBS data is available in NetCDF format.



Figure 2.1-7 Map of the meteorological stations that were used to create the precipitation data of E-OBS (Haylock et al., 2008; their Fig. 1a)

### 2.1.5.2. Weather scenarios

In order to design climate change related impact studies with Biome-BGC (or with other models), the user has to choose an appropriate meteorological data source (typically results from climate models are needed). This task is not simple given the large number of available simulation results and the problems associated with the climate data (incorrect representation of amount and frequency of precipitation, inadequate representation of fine scale topography, etc.). Below we provide a brief overview about the most important climate change related data sources, and we also describe the correction procedure that is needed to provide realistic input data for Biome-BGC (and other models).

#### Availability of Global Climate Model (GCM) results

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) is the leading international organization for the assessment of climate change. IPCC does not only issue assessment reports on the current understanding of climate change (the latest report is IPCC Fourth Assessment Report that was published in 2007; IPCC, 2007a), but it also disseminates climate change related data to the public.

The IPCC Data Distribution Centre (DDC) recommended by the IPCC Task Group on Data and Scenario Support for Impact and Climate Analysis (TGICA) was established in 1998. The DDC provides climate, socio-economic and environmental data, both

#### Work Package 2

from the past and also in the form of scenarios projected into the future. The DDC is primarily designed for climate change researchers, but materials contained on the site may also be of interest to educators, governmental and non-governmental organizations, and the general public. At the DDC website users can select between the results from GCM-Runs used by the four IPCC assessment reports that were published so far, and the user can download monthly means, decadal and 30-year means (climatologies) based on global climate model simulations (Fig. 2.1-8).

Data Distributio	on Centre HATEBGOVERNMENTAL PANEL ON Climate chance Go Advanced search Help Site map IPCC web sites										
IPCC Home	GCM Experiment Data Archive										
DDC Home	Location: DDC Home > DCM Eventment Data										
About the DDC											
Climate observations	vercione to the ULM usta Archive section of the Usta Justimution Centre (ULU) or the intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCU). This page is the main entry point for users who want to retrieve either monthly mean data available at DDC or information on the models used.										
<u>Climate models</u>	About DDC 5CM data archive										
Monthly means											
	Ine DUC uses the CEHA database which is run by the Model and Data group at the MP/IM. A detailed information on the CERA database is available on the Web. You can look here to get more information.										
	The data is stored on a tane archive which is associated with the florall database CEDA. A data request will initiate a retrieval mechanism that will take some time to transfer the data from tane to disk										
	The benefore uses and use advine minimum association of the foregoing variables of Link A data request minimum are interest mechanism that will take some time to transfer the data non-take to disk, therefore uses may have to variable before the requested data is transferred.										
report	Due to a change in the data transfer system we currently provide data only in GRIB format (a machine independent, self-descriptive binary format). If you need data in GZIP (compressed ASCII) format you'll										
	have to convert the GRIB data locally.										
	Information on both formats and the internal data structure is given here.										
	You can select between:										
	Results from GCM-Runs for the Fourth Assessment Report (AR4) based on the IPCC-SRES scenarios*										
Data visualisation	Results from GCM-Runs for the Third Assessment Report (TAR) based on the IPCC-SRES acenarios										
<u>Socio-economic data</u>	Results from CCM-Runs based on the IPCC-ISS2a (or similar) emission scenarios Results from CCM-Runs users in the First Assessment Repart (FAR) (subset)										
Erwironmental data and Scenarios											
Scenario Process for AR5											
Supporting material	"You can get some IPCC AR4 Data of DVD's here										
Key Services	GCM data validation										
Data Visualisation	One of the criteria commonly used in selecting a GCM to be used in constructing regional climate scenarios for impact assessment is the performance of the GCM in simulating the present-day climate in										
Order data on DVD	the region. Inis is evaluated by comparing the model outputs with observed climate in the target region, and also over larget scales, to determine the ability of the model to simulate large scale circulation patterns. Examples of graphical comparisons between GCM outputs and observed climate for the 1961-1990 period for subcontinental world regions can be found here.										
Publications IPCC Reports	Variables requested for the Fifth IPCC-Assesemt Report										
	The 14th meeting of the Task Group on Data and Scenario Support for Impact and Climate Analysis (TGICA) (26.2 - 28.2 2008 in St. Augustin/ Trinidad and Tobago) has approved a list of (proposed) required variables for the next climate model experiments (Fifth IPCC-Assessment Report).										

#### Figure 2.1-8 IPCC DDC web interface where GCM results can be downloaded (www.ipcc-data.org/gcm/monthly/ddc\_gcmdata.html)

The Fourth Assessment Report (IPCC, 2007a) is based on six greenhouse-gas emission scenarios: A1B, A1FI, A1T, A2, B1 and B2 (these are the so-called SRES scenarios; Nakicenovic and Swart, 2000). The detailed meaning and the assumptions of the emission scenarios can be seen at <a href="https://www.ipcc.ch/pdf/special-reports/spm/sres-en.pdf">www.ipcc.ch/pdf/special-reports/spm/sres-en.pdf</a>. 19 climate modeling centers run different global climate models to simulate the climate in the future. The climatologies of the climate model projections can also be viewed through the DDC visualization service (<a href="https://www.ipcc-data.org/maps/">www.ipcc-data.org/maps/</a>) (Fig. 2.1-9).

Note that due to the coarse spatial resolution of the current GCMs, the output meteorological fields are generally not suitable for application with Biome-BGC. So-called downscaling techniques are needed to obtain meteorological data on finer spatial resolution (e.g. on a grid with 10-50 km horizontal resolution).



Figure 2.1-9 DDC visualization centre (<u>www.ipcc-data.org/maps</u>)

### Availability of RCM results

Interpolation of GCM-scale changes to a finer resolution is the simplest way of adding spatial details to GCM-based climate change scenarios. To improve the representation of the meteorological data in the finer resolution grid cells, observed climate information could be used. This may be achieved using high resolution observed monthly climatologies or can be done simply by perturbing an observed monthly or daily time series by the GCM changes interpolated to the site in question. This approach is sometimes termed 'unintelligent' downscaling because no additional meteorological insight is added in the interpolation process that goes beyond the GCM-based changes; the basic spatial patterns of present climate are assumed to remain largely unchanged in the future. This very simple downscaling method is easy to apply and allows impact assessment models to use climate scenarios at a resolution that would otherwise be difficult or costly to obtain.

Another downscaling option is to use a higher resolution limited-area model (known as Regional Climate Model - RCM) to generate climate change scenarios at the required, finer spatial resolution (see also: climateprediction.net/content/regional-climate-models). Such regional climate models typically cover an area the size of Europe, have a spatial resolution of about 10-50 km and are driven by boundary conditions taken from the GCM for one particular period in the present and one in the future (Déqué, 2007; Bartholy et al., 2007, 2008; Pongrácz et al., 2011).

The IPCC DDC does not currently contain any results from RCM experiments. Several modeling centers around the world developed their own RCMs and those centers frequently participate in research projects dealing with climate change. Some of these project results could be downloaded from specific web pages. In the followings a few downloadable regional climate model results are going to be presented.

#### PRUDENCE

PRUDENCE was a European-scale investigation (EU 5th Framework Programme) which ended in 2004. The main objective of the project was to provide high resolution climate change scenarios for Europe at the end of the twenty-first century by means of dynamical downscaling (regional climate modeling) of global climate simulations. The main aim was to quantify the uncertainties in predictions of future climate and its impacts, using several climate models and impact models. 21 European research institutes and universities took apart in the PRUDENCE project and simulated the future climate according to A2 and B2 SRES scenario. The results of the RCMs are available at the homepage of the project (http://prudence.dmi.dk; Fig. 2.2-10). The simulations have been run for two 30 years periods in the future (2021-2050, 2071-2100) and one for the past called reference period (1961-1990). The adaptation of these RCM results in Hungary was performed by the Department of Meteorology, Eötvös Loránd University and the expected temperature and precipitation changes for the future already investigated and presented for Central Europe (Bartholy et al., 2007, 2008).

	h	ndex of /data			
		Name	Last modified	<u>Size</u>	Description
Prediction of Regional scenarios and	2	Parent Directory		-	
Uncertainties for Defining		<u>CE/</u>	24-Aug-2006 14:06	-	
EuropeaN Climate change		conwoy/	05-Feb-2009 12:41	-	
		daily/	04-Jun-2010 10:44	-	
Front page	?	errorfiles.dat	14-Mar-2006 13:22	18 K	
		<u>klimatilpasning/</u>	11-Mar-2005 14:02	-	
Public part		monthly/	16-Mar-2006 11:33	-	
News		seasonal/	25-Aug-2006 02:50	-	
Participants Project summary		temp/	09-Mar-2012 15:55	-	
Description of work (.PDF) Reports and publications					
Data distribution front					
Direct download DODS					

Figure 2.1-10 Web interface for downloading PRUDENCE data (<u>http://prudence.dmi.dk/</u>)

#### ENSEMBLES

The next EU-financed major effort in regional climate modeling was the ENSEMBLES project (van der Linden and Mitchell, 2009), financed under Framework Programme 6. A major archive of data in 25 km resolution covering the transient periods 1951-2100 or 1951-2050 according to the SRES A1B scenario is available at the Danish Meteorological Institute (DMI). In order to execute a climate change related impact study (for example, modeling crop growth or using Biome-BGC), continuous time series are required. At the webpage of the ENSEMBLES, by choosing the third research theme (RT3) a lot of RCM results are available for download in NetCDF format (Fig. 2.1-11).

RT3 Home         Project Home   RT3 Home   Meetings   Documents   Members' Ste   Participants   Links to other projects           Research Theme (RT) webpages. RT1   RT2A   RT2B   RT3   RT4   RT5   RT6   RT7   RT8         previous page								
Public part	<u>.</u>							
RCM data portal	Institute/ Contact	Scenario	Driving GCM	Model	Resolution	Acronym	DODS/OpenDAP access	
Front page	C4I	42	ECHAM5	DC43	25km	CHIDCAS	Online	
RT3 participant list	Ray McGrath	n2	LonAno	NOAD	20101			
Older news	CNRM	A1B	ARPEGE	Aladin	25km	CNRM-RM4.5	<u>Online</u>	
List of output variables	<u>Michel Déqué</u>	A1B	ARPEGE_RM5.1 New ens.mb. to 2100	Aladin	25km	CNRM-RM5.1	<u>Online</u>	
The GCM/RCM combination		A1B	ECHAM5-r3	RACMO	25km	KNMI-RACM02	<u>Online</u>	
matrix	KNMI	A1B	ECHAM5-r1	RACMO	50km	KNMI-RACM02	Online	
The AMMA-region matrix	Erik van	A1B	ECHAM5-r2	RACMO	50km	KNM-RACM02	Online	
Fields in the ERA40 archive	Meijgaard	A1B	ECHAM5-r3	RACMO	50km	KNMI-RACM02	Online	
The integration area common to most simulations	OURANOS	A1B	MIROC	RACMO	50km	KNMI-RACMO2	<u>Online</u>	
				0000	0.51			

Figure 2.1-11 Web interface for downloading ENSEMBLES data (www.ensembles-eu.org)

#### CECILIA

The CECILIA (Central and Eastern Europe Climate Change Impact and Vulnerability Assessment) project started in 2006 with the participation of 16 institutions from 12 European countries (financed under Framework Programme 6 of the European Union). The main objectivity was to improve the understanding of local climate change in Central and Eastern Europe. The project constructed very high resolution (10 km) climate projections, and conducted impact studies of hydrology, water quality, and water management, air quality issues in urban areas, agriculture and forestry. The final report of CECILA accessible at www.cecilia-eu.org. The publications related to the project could be found at the CECILIA website (www.cecilia-eu.org/publications.php) and the datasets available are at http://cecilia.dmi.dk with username and password (Fig. 2.1-12).



**Figure 2.1-12** Web interface for downloading CECILIA datasets (<u>http://cecilia.dmi.dk</u>). Username and password are required

#### CLIMATE PREDICTION NET

It is worth mentioning one other interesting project which is called Climateprediction.net (<u>http://climateprediction.net</u>).

Although Climateprediction.net does not provide climate scenarios for the public, the project is a good example for the application of the Berkeley Open Infrastructure for Network Computing (BOINC) technology which will be used within the frame of the BioVeL project by the Hungarian group.

Climateprediction.net is a global computing project to produce predictions of the Earth's climate up to 2100 and to test the accuracy of climate models. People around the world could offer processor time of their computers (when they are switched on, but are not using them in full capacity) to connect them to a global system. ClimatePrediction.net uses those computers to run climate models. Using this technique Climateprediction.net could collect a great deal of computing capacity. Participants of the project use the BOINC technology.

Though the datasets are not available for download at the Climateprediction.net website, if somobody participates in this project he/she gets a software called 'weather at home' which provide informations about the expected climate change associated with the country where the participant lives.

#### Bias correction of RCM data

When climate researchers try to predict the climate and weather conditions in the future they always calculate expected changes (for example, the climate will be *x* degrees warmer then at the present or precipitation will decrease/increase during the summer periods). These values are calculated by comparing the climate model results simulated for the future and the climate model result simulated for the past. However, every climate model results have systematic errors (Déqué, 2007; Hlásny et al., 2011). These errors could be quantified during the validation progress, which is an essential step in every case when we work with RCM results.

If the climate model results are used in climate change related impact studies, these systematic errors generally cause problems, and in some cases the impact models fail to provide realistic results due to the inaccurate representation of e.g. precipitation frequency and amount (Fig. 2.2-13). We can only perform reliable simulations if the systematic errors inherently present in the RCM data are eliminated (Déqué, 2007).

*Bias correction* is the procedure which removes the systematic error from the model results and creates reliable values for the future. Every bias correction method is based on the same assumption: the systematic error of the climate model in the future equals to the error in the past.

The largest errors usually occur in the precipitation datasets, which is problematic as crop models or biogeochemical models are highly sensitive to this parameter. Usually the climate models simulate too many rainfall events of too low intensity relative to individual stations within a grid cell. The difficulty of the precipitation correction is that wet days have to be created or removed so not just the precipitation rates have to be corrected.



Figure 2.1-13 An example for cumulative density function differences between the reference (E-OBS) database and one of the climate model results (based on data from Januaries between 1951 and 2009)



**Figure 2.1-14** Annual distribution of daily precipitation for a selected pixel for year 2092 based on the original climate model output (no correction; upper plot) and the bias corrected climate model (lower plot).

Ines and Hansen (2006) present a procedure that calibrates both the frequency and the intensity distribution of daily simulated rainfall relative to a target station. If the modeled rainfall frequency is greater than the observed frequency for a given month (averaged across years), the modeled rainfall frequency is corrected by discarding rainfall events below a calibrated threshold. To correct the intensity distribution, each GCM rainfall amount above the calibrated threshold is mapped from the GCM intensity distribution onto the observed distribution (Fig. 2.1-14).

The Hungarian BioVeL group started to apply the bias correction to the daily datasets of the ENSEMBLES RCMs in order to feed them into Biome-BGC to predict the future carbon cycle in the Carpathian Basin. The newly created dataset is called as the FORESEE database.

# 2.1.6 Identification and description of typical and most challenging workflows

The scientific workflow concept is a new and emerging paradigm for the support of research (Gil et al. 2007; Goble and De Roure 2009; Ludäscher et al. 2009). A workflow can manage large, distributed data sources and can perform demanding computations within a simple framework. The scientific workflow concept is historically used in many different science domains (i.e. particle physics, bioinformatics, cosmology or mathematics), and it has the great potential to support biogeochemistry, biodiversity and ecology in general.

#### Biome-BGC based workflows

The application of Biome-BGC by the end-user requires the selection of appropriate data sources and the creation of different input files for the simulation. This procedure can be performed in a linear fashion (step-by-step) which means that the application of the model perfectly fits the scientific workflow concept. Considering the increasing interest in carbon cycle and biogeochemistry and the simplicity of the workflow concept, construction of Biome-BGC related workflows (and associated web services) might be beneficial for the scientific community. Hence, in the BioVel project we are undertaking this.

A typical workflow scheme could perform a single run of the Biome-BGC model at a given location of a selected ecosystem stand as showed in the Fig. 2.1–15. It goes through several simple steps in a sequential way, however the final workflow implementation could be more complex. In the preparatory phase the user feeds the model with monthly dataset, which has to be disaggregated into daily meteorological dataset and preprocessed and reformatted according to the Biome-BGC input requirements. The preparatory web service has to incorporate submodel for disaggregation (C2W model for example; Bürger 1997) and MT-Clim mountain climate simulator (Running et al. 1987, Kimball et al. 1997, Thornton & Running 1999) for data preprocessing. The core of the workflow is the execution of the Biome-BGC model, which performs a so called 'spinup' simulation first, than the 'normal' run. The spinup phase integrates the model through several thousend of years while the specific ecosystem pools of the model (carbon and nitrogen content of litter, live
and dead stem pools for example) reach a steady-state equilibrium and creates the initial conditions to start the normal simulation.



**Figure 2.1–15** A typical workflow scheme to perform a single Biome-BGC model execution. Brown coloured boxes are representing 'functions' or model components, blue coloured boxes are input (red triangle) or output (green triangle) data sets. The functions or components can be chained or embedded to each other.

A typical and challenging scientific workflow is the spatial extension of the model at a fine geographic resolution (called also as 'landscape simulation', i.e. Kimball et al. 2000). One could consider it as a general parameter study similar to the data-modelharmonization (see in chapter 2.2.6), but it raises an important additional question: how can we get (i.e. give more details) the finer spatial resolution of grid cells for model inputs: spatial datasets of land cover types and parameters for soil, vegetation and meteorological characteristics? There are several solutions from global (i.e. Bonan et al. 2002) to regional scale (Barcza et al. 2009, Chiesi et al. 2011), but we can state the very clear trend to dramatically improve the thematic and spatial resolution and spatial extent of these projects. There are two preprocessing subcompartments of the Biome-BGC core simulation showed in the Fig. 2.1-16. The MTCLIM model spatially recalculate the daily meteorology dataset of the base met station considering the terrain and surroundings of the corresponding raster point (Bristow et al. 1984, Glassy & Running 1994, Kimball et al. 1997, Running et al. 1987, Thornton & Running 1999, Thornton et al. 2000). The 'parameterizer' component of the workflow prepare the necessary parameter and initialization files of Biome-BGC. The Biome-BGC simulation (spinup and normal phase) performs for each raster points of the area of interest, which could runs up to millions. The execution of numerous simulation runs can be organized parallel if we apply a parallel computation environment just like SZTAKI desktop grid (Balaton et al. 2007).

Work Package 2



**Figure 2.1–16** A challenging workflow scheme to perform a spatial extension of Biome-BGC model simulation. Brown coloured boxes are representing 'functions' or model components, blue coloured boxes are input (red triangle) or output (green triangle) data sets. The functions or components can be chained, parallelized or embedded to each other.

#### Metagenomics based workflow

The standardized, repeatable, and comparable utilization of metagenomics is hampered by the fact that samples and analytical procedures are rather complex. These complexities gave rise to a growing set of tools, services and platforms tackling the existing issues all individually at different levels of quality (MEGAN, MG-RAST, IMG/M, CAMERA, or MEGX.net). Currently the analytical results of none of the resources are comparable, while none of these platforms are able to compute all ecologically interesting features of microbial communities.

#### Work Package 2

The metagenomics workflows and web services being developed in the BioVel project compute the community traits outlined in Barberan et al. 2011 "Exploration of community traits as ecological markers in microbial metagenomes" (Fig. 2.1-17). The traits calculated with these workflows range from GC (guanine-cytosine) content to functional diversity, and deliver a valuable set of ecological markers in order discriminate between habitats or geographic locations. Furthermore, inter-trait relationships can be used as habitat descriptors or indicators of artefacts during sample processing. Overall, these metagenomics community traits approach, when combined in the form of workflows can help to interpret metagenomics data to gain a full understanding of microbial community patterns in a rigorous ecological framework.



**Figure 2.1–17** A simplified outline of a metagenomic trait workflow. Abbreviations: GC – guanine-cytosine content, DN – dinucleotide, ORF – Open Reading Frame, AA – amino-acid, TRANSC – transcription factors, READS – classified reads, GENES – genes per genom, SIZE – estimated genome size, TAX - taxonomic

#### 2.1.7 Evaluation of web service requirements

Actually there are no existing open-source re-usable web services of terrestrial ecosystem model type on the web, so it is an open and opportunistic 'niche' to develop some. The existing functions of a simple or a complex model can be wrapped into a single web service according to the MaaS – 'model-as-a-service' concept of Roman et al. (2009), but a much more complex processing chain or a hierarchically embedded set of functions can be considered and developed as a separate web service as well. So there are multiple options to plan and build simple or more tricky services (Maué & Stasch 2010).

We have planned to develop a Biome-BGC web service to execute a single simulation (including the spinup and normal phase of model run) as a minimum (see Fig. 2.1-15), which functionality can be extended by a 'climate-to-weather' data preparatory service before and different post-processing sets to specifically profiling resulted outputs, like as a 'carbon-focused' or an 'ecosystem-service-indication' profile.

As it is shown in Fig. 2.1-16, one of the most challenging workflow could be the spatial extension of the model, when Biome-BGC simulation runs in each raster of the area of interest. That kind of task can raise an enormous computation and storage demand against the model hosting computer, but parallel distribution of the execution can reduce the processing time considerably. A BOINC-based desktop grid system (Anderson 2004) could provide a good solution, like as SZTAKI Desktop Grid, which is enhanced additionally by the so called 'GenWrapper' to support the execution of legacy applications (Balaton et al. 2007, Marosi et al. 2009). There are several options to define web service functionality and decide which processes are better to include in parallel computation to get an optimal performance.

There are a lot of other options too, because the high variety of open climate and weather datasets served by different providers (see section 2.1.5) offers possibilities to wrap the file-download-based services of dataset archives (i.e. NOAA NESDIS NCDC, ERA Interim reanalysis, WorldClim, E-OBS dataset, etc.) into web service or OGC web processing service.

According to the metagenomic trait workflow (Fig. 2.1-17) there are a set of high priority web services to develop. These are the GC Variance Web Service; Dinucleotide Odds Ratio Web Service; ORF Prediction Web Service; Small and Large Subunit rRNA Prediction Web Service; Web Service for amino acid composition calculation; Web Service to calculate functional diversity; Web Service to calculate taxonomic diversity; Create Service for the prediction of transcription factors in metagenomes; Web Service for codon usage calculation; and Web Service to calculate number of rRNAs per genome in metagenomes (see more details in the deliverable report D3.1 – Prioritised list of service sets).

### 2.2 BIOSPHERIC CARBON SEQUESTRATION

by

Zoltán Barcza, Ferenc Horváth, Györgyi Gelybó and Laura Dobor

#### 2.2.1 Science-policy context

Climate change is undoubtedly one of the greatest challanges of the 21st century. A large amount of evidence indicates that the chemical composition of the atmosphere has been changed since the beginning of the industrial revolution due to human activity (IPCC, 2007a). Huge amounts of greenhouse gases have been emitted to the atmosphere via burning of fossil fuels, cement manufacturing, land use conversion and other processes. The increasing quantity of atmospheric greenhouse gases can unbalance the energy budget of the Earth-atmosphere system and can trigger global warming (IPCC, 2007a).

Measurement shows that the surface temperature of the Earth has already increased by ~0.76 Celsius during the 20th century (IPCC, 2007a). We have ample evidence that proves the role of the increasing amount of atmospheric greenhouse gases behind the observed warming.

Carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) is recognized as the most important anthropogenic greenhouse gas. The atmospheric concentration of CO<sub>2</sub> has increased by ~40% since preindustrial times (Fig. 2.2-1). Due to its dominant radiative forcing CO<sub>2</sub> is considered as the major cause of the observed warming.

Ongoing and future climate change affects our everyday life, the society, the economy, and our environment including the land biosphere and the oceans. Among many other processes, climate change affects biodiversity, species distribution, vitality of ecosystems, outbreak of pathogens, plant growth and mortality (IPCC, 2007b). Considering land biosphere, plants build their own body through the process of photosynthesis when carbon is taken up from the atmosphere in the form of CO<sub>2</sub>. This CO<sub>2</sub> uptake means that plants can decrease the amount of the atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> concentration while mitigating climate change. Within the plant carbon is transformed into living biomass like leaves, roots, stems and branches. Like humans, plants also respire CO<sub>2</sub> to produce energy for their life processes. Soil and litter also release CO<sub>2</sub> since the organic carbon that is stored in these carbon pools is continuously decomposed by microbes. The carbon balance of ecosystems is determined by the amount of carbon uptake and respiration (and other forms of carbon loss) where both processes are very sensitive to the environmental conditions.



Figure 2.2-1 The so-called Keeling-curve showing the increasing amount of atmospheric carbon dioxide content since the beginning of the measurements at Mauna Loa (Source: <a href="http://www.esrl.noaa.gov/gmd/ccgg/trends/">www.esrl.noaa.gov/gmd/ccgg/trends/</a>, accessed on July, 2012)

At present terrestrial biosphere (and also the oceans) mitigate climate change as biosphere and oceans together sequester about half of the CO<sub>2</sub> that is emitted to the atmosphere annually by human activity (IPCC 2007a; Le Quéré et al. 2009; Global Carbon Project website 2010). Climate change has already modulated the carbon balance of terrestrial biosphere (e.g. Ciais et al. 2008; Churkina et al. 2010), and it is reasonable to assume that it will further interfere with the carbon cycle (Friedlingstein & Prentice 2010). The interaction between the terrestrial biosphere and the climate means that the carbon balance of the ecosystems might change, which means that the carbon sequestration of the biosphere can increase or decrease (it means negative or positive feedback to climate change, respectively). However, it is not only the meteorological parameters (temperature, amount and timing of precipitation, radiation, etc.) that affect terrestrial carbon balance, but other environmental parameters are also important. For example, it is well established that increasing atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> amount can stimulate photosynthesis through the so-called CO<sub>2</sub>fertilization effect (Leakey et al. 2009), and also nutrient availability (most importantly, nitrogen availability) plays an important role in plant growth (Churkina et al. 2003, 2010; Magnani et al. 2007; De Vries et al. 2009; Högberg 2012). At present there is no consensus about the direction of carbon cycle feedback mechanism that will be

Work Package 2

caused by the interaction between the changing environmental conditions and the carbon cycle (Friedlingstein & Prentice 2010). Lack of knowledge about the future evolution of the terrestrial (and oceanic) carbon sequestration is a major problem which causes uncertainty in the climate projections. Ironically, in spite of our increasing understanding of the carbon cycle and the climate system it seems that the uncertainty of the climate model predictions is increasing instead of decreasing (Maslin & Austin 2012).

In order to reduce uncertainty in the climate projections efforts are clearly needed in the field of carbon cycle research. This involves the establishment of new and long term field experiments (including ecosystem manipulation to study the long term effect of changing environemnt), development of existing biogeochemical models, and creation of information technology solutions in order to foster *in silico* experiments that are computationally intensive (e.g. model-data synthesis, spatial ecosystem modelling, etc.).

Besides scientific efforts, national legislation and international negotiations are urgently and seriously needed to reduce greenhouse gas emission and thus mitigate the hazardous effects of climate change. It is the responsibility of politicians to recognize the importance of climate change mitigation and to initiate legislation to control greenhouse gas emission. The Kyoto protocol and its predecessors are good starting points for such efforts, though it has been recognized that up to today the realized emission reduction is too small to have a significant influence on the  $CO_2$  concentration of the atmosphere.

The following sections will focus on the terrestrial component of the global carbon cycle. Although the share of oceanic components from the global carbon cycle is quite big, these processes are rather driven by physical courses and very dependent on ocean water transport and dynamics, than biological processes (Doney et al. 2004). The oceanic sink of CO2 is mainly a physico-chemical response of the ocean to increasing atmospheric CO2, which dissolves in surface waters and is transported from the surface to the deep ocean by ocean currents (Le Quéré 2010). We review the most important open questions in relation with the terrestrial carbon budget, and we describe the methods that can be used to estimate the past, present and future carbon balance using state-of-the-art methods and computer technology. We also describe the possibility to use the scientific workflow concept and the applicability of the grid technology on carbon balance related research.

#### 2.2.2 Review on the main scientific questions

In the last 10,000 years (i.e. during the Holocene) the terrestrial carbon budget has been approximately balanced (Friedlingstein & Prentice 2010). Due to changes in the chemical composition of the atmosphere and in the climate system the land biosphere has turned into a net  $CO_2$  sink in the past few decades (Le Quéré et al. 2009). Further increases in temperature and changes in precipitation patterns, coupled with changing nutrient availability and air pollution, will most likely interfere with the carbon sequestration capacity of terrestrial ecosystems, resulting in a biosphere that might even strengthen the greenhouse effect in the future (Friedlingstein and Prentice 2010). In order to estimate the amount of  $CO_2$  concentration in the atmosphere (and therefore climate change) it is necessary to quantify the present and future carbon balance of the biosphere at different spatial scales (from patch to global scale).

Data from direct field measurements and computer model based simulation results are jointly used to improve our understanding of the biogeochemical processes of the biosphere. Computer models are able to quantify the different carbon balance components even under environmental conditions that differ from the present day (Churkina et al. 2009; Friedlingstein & Prentice 2010; Zaehle et al. 2010). However, we can only rely on models that are capable to reproduce the present day carbon balance of the ecosystems with acceptable accuracy. Model-data fusion techniques (model calibration and validation, data assimilation) are used to improve our understanding of the fundamental processes (Wang et al. 2009).

In the early phase of carbon cycle related research models were developed to simulate biogeochemical cycles of undisturbed ecosystems (Vetter et al., 2008). Most recently, the research has focused on managed ecosystems because in certain parts of the world human alteration has a dominant role in the formation of the land surface (Vitousek et al. 1997). It is not only the environmental factors (e.g. temperature, radiation, precipitation, nitrogen availability, etc.) but also human activity (e.g. deforestation, afforestation, reforestation, fire suppression, agricultural management, harvest, biofuel production, use of fertilizers, abandonment of agriculture, etc.) has a measurable and significant impact on the carbon sequestration capacity of ecosystems (Chapin et al. 2006; Ciais et al. 2011). For example, in Europe, the majority of the land surface (forests, pastures, croplands, wetlands) is managed. Human activity includes the horizontal displacement of carbon (Ciais et al. 2007) in the form of e.g. harvest, forest thinning, residue management, grazing, mowing, and other forms of disturbance, which results in changes on the carbon sequestration of ecosystems.

As natural processes and human decisions jointly control the carbon balance of the terrestrial biosphere, management practices can be potentially changed to maximize the carbon sequestration capacity of ecosystems (Canadell & Raupach 2008). Historically, mitigation efforts focus on forest ecosystems due to the possibility of long term carbon sequestration in tree biomass (e.g. Somogyi 2010). However, not only forestry, but also agriculture can mitigate the potential climate change (Smith et al. 2001). Long term measurement projects and advanced modelling experiments are needed to improve our understanding of the carbon balance of managed ecosystems, and to attempt to predict the future evolution of the land carbon sink in a world that is continuously transformed by human activity. This represents a major challenge to the scientific community.

Considering present and future carbon sequestration of terrestrial ecosystems, the main scientific questions can be summarized as follows:

- What is the amount of carbon dioxide that is taken up by the vegetation in each year?
- How large is the interannual variability of carbon uptake?
- What is the amount of carbon that is removed from the ecosystems via human intervention? What is the amount of carbon that is sequestered in the plant/soil system?

- What is the spatial pattern and complete carbon balance of different locations (regions, countries, continents)?
- Can we manage carbon sequestration at the ecosystem level? How can we detect changes accurately in the soil and in the standing biomass?
- How will terrestrial carbon uptake and carbon sequestration evolve in the future? Will it mitigate or strengthen climate change?
- What is the role of nitrogen availability in the past and future evolution of carbon balance?
- Can we reliably simulate the effect of elevated CO2 concentration in the ecosystem processes? Can we improve our models based on field experience?
- What is the accuracy of the state-of-the-art carbon cycle models of different ecosystems under different climate and management conditions?
- Considering the ever increasing complexity of biogeochemical models, can we accurately use and optimize the models? Can we handle the enormous computational demand of the models?
- What is the spatial and temporal variability of model parameters? Can we construct generalized model parameters for regional, country, continental or global scale studies?
- Is it possible to adequately describe nitrogen related processes in a wide range of terrestrial ecosystems? Can we detect nitrogen limitation and the possible interaction of nitrogen availability with other nutrients?

#### 2.2.3 Most relevant research groups, networks or projects

Due to the strong interaction between the global biogeochemical cycles and the climate system, carbon cycle related research has high priority in environmental sciences. Not only scientists, but stakeholders and policymakers also recognized the importance of carbon balance related research. Due to the available funding, several national and international research projects have been initiated to address the most relevant questions of the carbon cycle. Below we introduce a number of past and ongoing carbon cycle related research projects and initiatives without attempting to be comprehensive. First we focus on global scale issues, and then we move to the terrestrial component, mostly dealing with the European efforts. Note that the contents taken directly from the websites were collected in the end of 2011 and beginning of 2012, so the website content might have changed since then.

#### The Global Carbon Project

The Global Carbon Project (GCP) is an international initiative which was established in 2001. The main aim of the GCP is to describe and quantify the global carbon cycle. It also addresses questions related to the future evolution of the carbon cycle and the magnitude of the possible carbon-climate feedback. GCP is a fundamental data source for components of the global carbon cycle (including oceans, terrestrial biosphere, anthropogenic emission, land use change related emission). GCP periodically reports updates on the global carbon cycle which includes the realization of emission versus those predicted in the IPCC SRES scenarios (Nakicenovic & Swart 2000). As GCP is led by a collection of experts on the field of carbon cycle, the results are continuously published in international, peer reviewed journals (e.g. Le Quéré et al. 2009; Canadell et al. 2010). GCP hosts a good collection of related Internet resources as well.

#### Fluxnet

Field measurements are essentially needed to collect basic information about the carbon cycle of terrestrial vegetation. In response to this challenge long term measurement projects were initiated in many regions worldwide to determine the carbon balance of the ecosystems. Fluxnet is a global network for these measurement sites where components of the carbon cycle are monitored. The measurements are basically performed by the so-called eddy covariance technique (Baldocchi 2003), which is a micrometeorological method. Fluxnet integrates different regional networks.

Vertical fluxes of momentum, water vapor and carbon dioxide are measured at the Fluxnet sites using half hourly or hourly basis, usually covering many years of semicontinuous measurements. Fluxnet collects information about the geographical location of the flux towers, and provides infrastructure to archive and disseminate measurement results. Fluxnet also fosters the cooperation between researchers and supports synthesis studies that can improve our understanding of the terrestrial carbon balance.

The growth of Fluxnet is shown is Fig. 2.2-2 with the contributing sites on different continents.







#### GHG Europe and its predecessors (CARBOEUROPE cluster)

In Europe the carbon cycle related research is historically performed in a coordinated way. Since the beginning of the 2000s the carbon cycle related projects were integrated into the CARBOEUROPE cluster (www.bgc-jena.mpg.de/public/carboeur/). This cluster consisted of different projects with emphasis on specific questions (e.g. dealing with airborne measurements, deployment of tall tower based greenhouse gas measurements, age related dynamics of carbon balance, carbon balance of grasslands, etc.). The projects were funded by the European Commission (DG Research). The cluster included projects AEROCARB and CHIOTTO, where some of the BioVeL partners were also included.

The CARBOEUROPE coordinated effort was continued in the framework of the CARBOEUROPE-IP project (<u>www.carboeurope.org</u>; also funded by the European Commission, within the 6th framework programme). The aim of the 5-years-long project was to quantify the European carbon balance using different approaches at local, regional and continental scale. Atmospheric (tower-based and airborne) concentration measurements, biospheric eddy covariance measurements and remote sensing was combined to provide an integrated picture about the European carbon cycle, and its associated uncertainties. The main findings of the project are summarized in Schulze et al. (2009).

Work Package 2

The follow-up roject of CARBOEUROPE-IP is the GHG-Europe project (Greenhouse gas management in European land use systems, funded by the 7th framework programme of the European Commission). The main aim of the project is to gain better understanding on the European carbon and greenhouse gas balance with special emphasis on management of the carbon sequestration and minimization of the greenhouse gas emission. Following the logic of CARBOEUROPE-IP the project also deals with measurements and modelling of nitrous oxide and methane emission on the European scale. Advanced modelling experiments are performed within the framework of GHG-Europe using different, state-of-the-art biogeochemical models including Biome-BGC.

#### ICOS

Based on experiences of the European, carbon cycle related research projects (GHG-Europe and its predecessors; see above) it became clear that the operation of the long term measurement sites are highly depend on the availability of fundings. It means that some measurement sites that already provided invaluable information about specific ecosystems has to be shut down due to closure of funding. ICOS (Integrated Carbon Observing System) is a new research infrastructure that provides the long term observations that are essential to carbon cycle research. In the framework of ICOS the standardized, high precision, well developed monitoring sites can be secured. ICOS will build a coherent, precise database that can be used in the estimation of the continental scale greenhouse gas balance. ICOS also contributes to the of the Integrated Global Carbon Observation System (IGCO) and supports the monitoring obligations of Europe under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). Ultimately, ICOS will suppurt the estimation of the present state and forecast of the future behaviour of the carbon cycle.

Similarly to the CARBOEUROPE approach, advanced modelling experiments will be performed within the framework of ICOS to support the estimation of the carbon cycle and the estimation of the magnitude of the climate-carbon feedback.

#### University of Montana, Numerical Terradynamic Simulation Group

This cutting-edge research group is referred in the ecosystem functioning and valuation part of the report (see chapter 2.1.3).

#### 2.2.4 Evaluation of existing models and methods

Carbon cycle is a deeply interdisciplinary research area. Ecologists, biologists, soil scientists, hydrologists, mathematicians, foresters, agronomists, meteorologists, and scientists from other scientific fields are working together to address the complex questions related to the global carbon cycle. The main aim of the researchers is to understand the present state, and to estimate the future evolution of the carbon balance components and its interaction with the climate system.

Based on the quickly increasing amount of experimental data (including in situ measurements and remotely sensed readings; e.g. Baldocchi et al. 2001) it is

possible to construct and develop mathematical models that attempt to quantify the elements of the carbon cycle. There are different types of models: the complexity ranges from simple, regression based models to complex, process oriented models. The models are designed to give answers to specific questions. For example, a model can be designed to estimate the amount of carbon sequestered by newly planted forests. Other models address the competition of species under specific environmental conditions. The most sophisticated models can be used to predict the future of the carbon cycle and its interaction with the changing climate.

A typical process based biogeochemical model handles many different "pools", and a number of "fluxes" between the pools to simulate the plant-soil system. These pools usually include foliage, aboveground biomass, belowground biomass (roots), litter, soil carbon pool, and in some cases nitrogen content of different compartments. The pools can be differentiated as e.g. soil organic matter (SOM) with different turnover times (e.g. quickly decomposing SOM, more stable SOM, and stable SOM like humus). As water cycle is closely coupled with the carbon cycle of plants the models usually predict the water balance within the plant-soil system including canopy water interception, runoff, soil moisture content and evapotranspiration.

The models are usually driven by meteorological data (air temperature, precipitation amount, solar radiation, relative humidity or vapor pressure deficit, etc.) and soil parameters are also essential for the simulation (Vetter et al. 2008). Some models can handle nitrogen cycle (or even phosphorous cycle) which means that nitrogen (or phosphorous) availability has to be provided by the user. Some models use a number of ecophysiological parameters which control the main processes (e.g. photosynthesis, autotrophic respiration, heterotrophic respiration), the allocation of carbon (and sometimes nitrogen) into the different plant pools, plant phenology, plant mortality, management, disturbance, etc.

In case of process based models the simulation has two phases. The first is the spinup (self-initialization) simulation, which runs until a steady state is reached with the climate in order to estimate the initial values of the state variables. The second phase is the normal simulation that provides results that can be analyzed by the user.

Traditionally, carbon cycle models were developed to simulate biogeochemical cycles of undisturbed ecosystems. However, as large areas of the land surface are managed, the undisturbed assumption is not applicable and turned out to cause significant bias in the model simulations. Therefore, some of the existing biogeochemical models have already been extended to simulate the carbon and water cycles of managed ecosystems (forests, croplands) with higher accuracy.

Model structural developments and model calibration techniques (model-data fusion) can jointly be used to improve the biogeochemical models (Wang et al. 2009; Hidy et al. 2012). Improved modelling techniques might provide invaluable information about the future of our climate system, and can inform policy-makers about the possible dangers of the climate-carbon cycle feedback mechanism. Carbon cycle related modelling efforts can also support food security and sustainable development in our changing world.

There are a number of biogeochemical models that have been developed for the quantification of the carbon balance components (ORCHIDEE-STICS, LPJmL, SiBcrop, JULES-SUCROS, BIOME-BGC, MOD17, CCASA, NETWORK\_ANN, PIXGRO, CERES-EGC, PASIM, PnET, CENTURY, DNDC, GOTILWA+, ROTH C,

CO2FIX, CASMOFOR, JSBACH, plus many more; see Vetter et al. 2008 for the detailed description of some typical models). As Biome-BGC was chosen to be used within the frame of BioVeL, and additionally as Biome-BGC is a typical biogeochemical model, in the following sections we mainly deal with Biome-BGC. Note that Biome-BGC is also rather typical considering the practical application of biogeochemical models in general (e.g. meteorological data requirement, parameterization, etc.).

We also describe a typical, data-oriented model called MOD17 which also demonstrates the applicability of remote sensing in carbon cycle research. Note that Biome-BGC and MOD17 were developed by the same institute described above (University of Montana, Numerical Terradynamic Simulation Group).

#### Biome-BGC

Biome-BGC is a process-based, mechanistic biogeochemical model that can be used to simulate carbon, nitrogen and water fluxes of different terrestrial ecosystems, including evergreen and deciduous forests, grasslands and shrubs (Running & Hunt 1993; White et al. 2000; Churkina et al. 2003; Vetter et al. 2008; Trusilova et al. 2009) as we described it in general in chapter 2.1.4.

#### MOD17

The MODerate resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS) sensors onboard NASA EOS Aqua and Terra satellites provide remotely sensed information in global coverage in every 1 to 2 days. The MOD17 product (which is one of the several products derived from the measured radiance signal and ancillary information) provides Gross Primary Production (GPP) estimates with 8 days, and Net Primary Production (NPP) estimates with annual temporal resolution and 1 km spatial resolution.

The GPP model of the MOD17 product (i.e. the MOD17 model) is a light use efficiency based model (Monteith 1972, 1977). In this simple model, the theoretical maximum of light use efficiency is decreased by abiotic stress factors according to environmental conditions. GPP is determined by the actual value of light use efficiency and the amount of available photosynthetically active radiation (APAR). APAR can be calculated as a product of incident PAR and fraction of PAR absorbed by the vegetation (FPAR), which shows the amount of radiation absorbed in percentages.

The model can distinguish between 11 plant categories (Plant Functional Types, PFTs). PFT specific model parameters are stored in the biome properties look-up table (BPLUT) for each PFT. These parameters do not vary with geographical location, as they characterize biomes globally.

Net photosynthesis (GPP minus maintenance respiration of fine roots and leaves) calculations in the MOD17 model are based on exponential function of daily average temperature and the amount of biomass. Further parts of autotrophic respiration that are necessary to determine net primary production (NPP), such as growth respiration and annual maintenance respiration, cannot be calculated on daily basis with the algorithm logic used in the model (for details, see Running et al. 1999); therefore, NPP is given in annual data files.

The algorithm of the MOD17 model requires input databases from other MODIS products in case of FPAR (MOD15 LAI & FPAR product; Knyazikhin et al. 1999) and land cover information from the MOD12 product (Strahler et al. 1999). Data requirements for GPP calculations include daily global radiation, vapor pressure deficit and minimum temperature.

#### 2.2.5 Evaluation of data source requirements of Biome-BGC

The three kind of datasets (site characteristics, vegetation eco-physiological parameters and past-present-future meteorological datasets) are discussed already in very detail in the chapter 2.1.5.

## 2.2.6 Identification and description of typical and most challenging workflows

A basic and typical workflow scheme to run Biome-BGC model is given in the chapter 2.1.6, so we identified here a more specific one with a great potential to gain a lot from scientific workflow and web service approach.

The Biome-BGC model has a long history, especially in carbon cycling simulations (Running & Coughlan 1988, Running & Gower 1991, Running & Hunt 1993, White et al. 2000, Thornton & Rosenbloom 2005, Hidy et al. 2012) and has further perspectives, because the model algorithm itself is under continuous and various improvement by several research teams. The newer versions of the model needs exhausting testing, validation and calibration by field-measured datasets. On the other hand, local or regional modeling and calibration of model parameters is one of the best approach to improve the results of field-based research projects. The model has a non-linear behaviour, so the model calibration requires a hugh demand of computational resources due to the high number of independent parameters. Accordingly, one of the most challenging scientific workflow is the 'data-model-harmonization' (or in other words data-model fusion, data assimilation or calibration) by global optimization (Van Oijen et al. 2005, Wang et al. 2009, Trusilova et al. 2009, Wang et al. 2009, Hidy et al. 2012) as it is demonstrated in Fig. 2.2–3.



**Figure 2.2–3** A possible workflow scheme to perform a complex 'data-modelharmonization' project run of the Biome-BGC model. The parallel parameter study can counts millions of executions

In this workflow the Biome-BGC model is embedded in a 'parameter sweep study' loop, which could achieve hundreds or thousands of runs, up to a millions in some cases. The huge number of simulations costs enormous computation time (i.e. weeks) on a standalone computer, but parallel service on desktop grids can provide an affordable solution (i.e. Anderson 2004, Kacsuk et al. 2009). The presented workflow scheme points out the main methodological steps (randomization of parameters, running the model, comparison of model output to reference measurements, global optimization of the model parameters), but does not deal with technological components of the workflow necessary to manage workunit packages for parallel computation.

#### 2.2.7 Evaluation of web service requirements

Based on literature review we have found only two projects that already started to work on web service technology related to carbon sequestration modeling. The ARIES Consortium recently published a Bayesian statistical modeling approach based on conditional probability calculations developed in several case studies (Bagstad et al. 2011). They are working on an on-line GIS tool linked with Bayesian models to calculate basic ecosystem service indicators to support decision making. Existing carbon inventories and results of deterministic modeling (i.e. Biome-BGC) were noticed to apply as possible future improvements.

Another on-going project is the Digital Observatory for Protected Areas (DOPA) that has to be mentioned here. It was created by the Joint Research Centre of the European Commission (JRC) in collaboration with other international organizations. DOPA is conceived as a set of distributed databases combined with open, interoperable web services to provide end-users with information to assess, monitor and forecast the state and pressure of protected areas at the global scale. One of the planned modules will focus on ecosystem services (see: <u>http://dopa.jrc.ec.europa.eu</u>, and <u>www.earthzine.org/2012/06/27/remote-sensing-emerges-as-an-important-tool-for-habitat-and-species-conservation/</u>).

In the light of these trends and the Model Web concept (Geller & Turner 2007, Khalsa et al. 2009) we have to consider our efforts as a hot topical work. The proposed web services are very important elements of scientific workflows. These could easily embed access to large datasets, complex modeling processes and computation demanding tasks, which three are the main requirements for web service development.

# 2.3 INVASIVE SPECIES RESEARCH AND MANAGEMENT

by

Annamaria Fenesi, Päivi Lyytikainen-Saarenmaa, Hannu Saarenmaa, Sarah J. Bourlat, Norman Morrison, Matthias Obst, Gerard Oostermeier and Vera Hernandez Ernst

#### 2.3.1 Science-policy context

#### 2.3.1.1 Ecological impacts and invasive dynamics

The introduction of non-native organisms beyond their natural range was highly facilitated by the increases in the extent and volume of trade and transport over the last decades (Hulme 2009). The number of deliberately or accidentally introduced species (adventive or alien taxa) show surprisingly high numbers on each continent (e.g., > 11,000 alien species in Europe, Hulme et al. 2009a), and habitats completely free from non-native species no longer exist. Invasive alien species (IAS) are capable of rapid population expansion threatening ecosystems, habitats and species, and causing ecological, economic and human-health impacts (Convention on Biological Diversity 2008). Therefore, interest in the science and management of biological invasions has expanded rapidly over the last decades.

Biological invasions affect biodiversity worldwide at various scales (Manchester & Bullock 2000; Davis 2003). At local and regional level they were shown to affect native species, reduce biodiversity, threaten endangered species and alter communities (Vilá et al. 2011). At the global level, invasive alien species have been pointed out as the second cause of species extinction (after habitat deterioration or loss, Wilcove et al. 2008). They are also widely heralded as the cause of homogenization of floras, because due to many introduction events, the originally different phytogeographical units become similar (Hejda et al. 2009).

The vast majority of introduced alien species (also called non-indigenous, alien, nonnative, or exotic species) is not invasive. So, the establishment of an introduced species does not necessarily constitute a problem, but the ability of some species to rapidly attain sufficiently high abundance can alter both abiotic and biotic processes of the invaded community (Siemens & Blossey 2007). The impact of IAS is most pronounced on the performance and population dynamics of individual resident species within the same trophic levels (Vilá et al. 2011). For example, invasive plant species can reduce local plant diversity in several ways: competitive replacement through shading, resource competition and/or allelopathy (Werner et al. 2010; Callaway & Ridenour 2004), reduction in colonization rate of native species (Yurkonis & Meiners 2004), altered abundance and structure of soil pathogens and mutualists (Klironomos 2002), competition for pollination services (Brown et al. 2002), modified fire regime (Epanchin-Niell et al. 2009), hybridization with native species (Huxel 1999), and so on.

At the same time, biological invasions can also alter community structure at higher trophic levels (Levine et al. 2003). Several studies report different impacts of plant invasions on the composition, diversity and behaviour of consumers, pollinators and

decomposers. For instance, plant invasions have a high potential to affect soil fauna, thus modifying the resource cycling of the conquered habitats, altering this way the processes of the whole ecosystem (Levine et al. 2003). The most often cited ecosystem level changes after the establishment of IAS are the impacts on nutrient cycling and soil properties, on hydrology, on fire regime and on physical structure of habitats (Simberloff 2011; Strayer 2012). For example, the invasive annual yellow star thistle (Centaurea solstitialis) increased summer water use by 105-120 mm yr<sup>-1</sup> in the invaded dry sagebush ecosystems in California (Gerlach 2000).

Climate change, with associated temperature increases, sea level rises and changes in ocean chemistry is expected to increase the impact of invasive species on ecosystems (Mainka & Howard 2010). For example, the common carp (Cyprinus carpio), a native of Asia, is already invasive in many parts of the world, and has the effect of decreasing water quality by increasing turbidity and thereby destroying nesting habitats for other native species of fish. It is expected that increases in water temperature due to climate change will provide more suitable habitats for this species to invade (Kolar & Lodge 2000).

Native invasive species. In addition to invasive alien species, also many native species have been observed to change their status as damaging agents as a consequence of climate change. This includes population dynamics, outbreak cycles, and the intensity and the spatial scale of epidemics. Climate change and more extreme weather patterns (drought, storms, high temperatures) can magnify the intensity of disturbances by biotic agents in different ecosystems, altering e.g. the geographical species range and plant productivity, particularly at higher latitudes (IPCC 2007). During global warming, increases in stress factors and insect outbreaks have been predicted (Volney and Fleming 2000, Walther et al. 2002). Due to rapid responses to changing temperatures pest insects can flexibly change their survival, development, reproduction, dispersal and geographic distribution (Bale et al. 2002; Musolin 2007; Régniére 2009). This can involve both a simple demographic adaptation and a genetic adaptation. Increasing numbers of pest insects have already begun to expand from their normal geographic ranges within native areas, either poleward latitudinally or upward altitudinally (Battisti et al. 2006; Musolin 2007; Vanhanen et al. 2007), or changed their pest status within their native ranges (De Somviele et al. 2007). Increased outbreak frequencies and spatial scales of e.g. forest pests evidently have already taken place during the most resent decade in Finland, particularly with pine sawflies (Virtanen et al. 1996; De Somviele et al. 2007) and bark beetles (Pouttu and Annila 2010).

Prediction of the changes in the distribution of species at different scales – both global and local - has become a topical issue in ecological research (Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa et al. 2006; De Somviele et al. 2004, 2007). In addition to long-term trends, short-term projections are also highly needed, due to e.g. enlarged occurrences of native defoliators (Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa 2008) and wood-boring insects (Lindelöv & Schroeder 2008), as well as plant diseases (Hantula 2010; Hantula et al. 2010; Nevalainen et al. 2010). Development of modern methods to improve projection of distributions of climate-driven disturbance agents is urgently needed.

In general, the knowledge on second and third grade ecological implications of invasions is scarce, while many potantially important mechanisms have been described. For example, a surprisingly large number of non-indigenous species

benefit indirectly from interactions with other introduced or native species (Simberloff & von Holle 1999; Richardson et al. 2000; Ricciardi 2001). Simberloff & von Holle (1999) coined the term "invasional meltdown" to describe the positive interactions between non-indigenous species that facilitate eachother's survival and accelerate the rate of successful invasion. This can take many forms. For example, introduced animals such as insects, birds, rats, and mammalian herbivores act as pollinators or dispersal agents for exotic plants (Loope & Snowcroft 1985, Barthell et al. 2001). Non-indogenous species can also have habitat-modifying effects by altering the physical or biological environment in their invaded range, making it more suitable for some species (facilitation), and less so for others (inhibition) (Stachowicz 2001; Bruno et al. 2003). For example, filtering by zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*) has improved water clarity in light-limited lakes, thereby accelerating the spread of a number of introduced macrophytes (MacIsaac et al. 1992, MacIsaac 1996).

Populations that can rid themselves of parasites and pathogens face altered selection pressures and may exhibit changed population dynamics (Colautti et al. 2004). Introduced populations often start from a very small founder population, and this is likely, by chance, to capture only a subset of the parasites and pathogens that exist in the parental population. Thus, introduced populations usually exhibit lower parasite and pathogen diversity than their parental population (Mitchell & Power 2003; Torchin et al. 2003). This release from the full effect of parasites and pathogens ('enemy release') is a likely cause for the spectacular success of many introduced species (Williamson 1996; Keane & Crawley 2002).

#### 2.3.1.2 Economic impacts on ecosystem services and human well-being

Biological invasions of nonindigenous species today are among the most significant threats to global biodiversity. The direct economic impact caused by invasive species through lost ecosystem services, expensive prevention and eradication efforts, and increased human health problems are calculated to exceed \$120 billion annually just in the United States (Pimentel et al. 2005). At the same time, the number of reports of new alien species is growing rapidly on a global scale (Ricciardi & MacIsaac, 2008; Richardson & Pyšek, 2008).

All the shifts in the structure and function of communities and ecosystems caused by the spread of IAS and the impact of climate change to native species are translated to global consequences of well-being (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment 2005), including the wholesale loss or alteration of ecosystem goods and services. However, the environmental and societal costs are often ignored in impact analyses of even the best-documented IAS (Pejchar & Mooney 2009). The repercussions of invasive species on ecosystem services are highly variable. Among the provisioning services (e.g. food, timber, fiber and water), some invasive species can fundamentally change the flow of water for drinking and irrigation, others can jeopardize the agriculture and food security. For instance, yellow star thistle (Centaurea solstialis), the above mentioned unpalatable invasive annual plant species costs California US\$7.65 million annually in lost livestock forage and at least the same amount as control expenditure (Eagle et al. 2007). Among the regulating ecosystem services IAS may have severe impacts on pollination, water purification, pest control and natural hazards. These services are fundamentals of agriculture, forestry and fisheries, and therefore are an indispensable basis of human well-being (Pejchar & Mooney 2009). Another example, the chinese mitten crab (*Eriocheir sinensis*), a native of the yellow

sea in China, and introduced to Europe through shipping and ballast water releases, is a migrating species, which breeds in sea water and migrates to inland waters as a juvenile. During these mass migrations, it can cause clogging of water intake filters of industrial cooling waters and drinking water plants (Gollasch 2011). Invasive species can also influence climate regulation by altering the carbon storage capacity of the invaded plant communities (Pejchar & Mooney 2009). For example, the replacement of native sagebush ecosystem in California by invasive annual grasses leads to a - 0.5  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup> loss of carbon sequestration over a large land area (Prater et al. 2006).

Because the management of invasive species is becoming central to many areas of environmental policy decision-making, economic valuation of IAS' damages is urgently needed. Several attempts have been made to quantify the economic impacts at national (e.g. US\$14.45 billion in China, Xu et al. 2006, US\$ 128 billion annually in the USA, Pimentel et al. 2005) or continental levels (US\$13 billion in Europe, Hulme et al. 2009a). However, usually these figures are underestimates, as the potential economic and environmental impacts are known for just a small fraction of IAS (Hulme et al. 2009a). Besides, the mentioned damages on ecosystem services are difficult to convert into monetary terms therefore are regularly overlooked.

Invasive insects can cause yield losses in different agro-ecosystems. In forest ecosystems, for example, the estimated economic value of losses due to decreased radial growth and mortality of trees after consumption by insects could annually be  $\in 50 - \in 300$  per hectare, depending on the intensity of damage and the feeding habits of the damage agent (Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa & Tomppo 2002). During outbreak peaks, economic losses could annually be as high as  $\in 500 - \in 1000$  per hectare. The ongoing, climate-impacted outbreak of the mountain pine beetle (*Dendroctonus ponderosae*) in British Columbia has spread over 18 million hectares and killed 435 million m<sup>3</sup> of timber. 80% of pine forests are expected to be killed by 2013. This will release almost a billion tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent greenhouse gases into the atmosphere by 2020 (Kurz et al. 2008).

While there is certainly a need to increase existing knowledge of mechanisms, impacts and costs of biological invasions, it is also imperative that this information is translated into appropriate management responses. Early detection, implementation of optimal management options and of proper regulatory instruments are needed to control invasive species and to alleviate their salient ecological and economic impacts. Comprehensive national and international policy is crucial for ensuring coherent and effective planning and implementation of measures to master alien species invasion (McGeoch et al. 2010).

#### 2.3.1.3 Countermeasures

Biological invasions are of a complex nature and to-date there are only a few general rules that govern the processes of invasive species management (Bright 1998). While many concepts of mechanisms behind invasions are only beginning to emerge (especially with regard to secondary or third grade implications), appropriate strategies for prevention and management of exotic species are under development. For example, many countries have ratified the IMO "International Convention for the control and management of ships' ballast water and sediments" from 2004. Article 4

states that each country (party) shall " develop national policies, strategies or programmes for Ballast Water Management in its ports and waters under its jurisdiction that accord with, and promote the attainment of the objectives of this Convention". The aim of this convention is to prevent the potentially devastating effects of the spread of harmful aquatic organisms carried by ships' ballast water from one region to another.

Most policies agree on a few essential counter measures. These are

- Rapid discovery of invasive species greatly increases the chance that they can be eliminated (Myers et al. 2000). Eradication and control efforts for alien species are usually most efficient, and sometimes only possible, if the incursion is detected while populations are still relatively small and restricted in space (Parker et al. 1999; Myers et al. 2000; Bax et al. 2001). For this purpose, monitoring programs and sustained observations are essential as they facilitate early detection and eradication. Just as important, they may serve as a trigger for quarantine or control measures to limit their spread and impact on valuable resources.
- Identifying potential future invaders and taking effective steps to prevent their dispersal and establishment is much less costly than post-entry control (Ruesink et al. 1995; Reichard & Hamilton 1997; Kolar & Lodge 2002; Marchetti et al. 2004). At the same time, control of biotic invasions is most effective when it employs a long-term, ecosystem-wide strategy rather than a tactical approach focused on battling individual invaders.
- Analytical methods that evaluate the risk of an exotic species to an ecosystem need to be developed as well as new methods at the science-policy interface to increase the effectiveness of prevention of invasions.

Biotic invasions, especially human-mediated invasions typically consist of several successive stages: (A) engagement of propagules with a transport vector in a source location, (B) transport from source to recipient location, C) establishment of a propagule at the new location, then (D) development of a self-sustaining population, (E) spread through the new habitat, and (F) spread to other vacant habitat patches (cf. Mack et al. 2000, Sakai et al. 2001). In most cases the discovery of potential invasives takes place at the point of establishment, for example at Bodega Harbor, Bodega Bay, California, USA, nonnative species currently represent 71% of the total cover of the dock fouling community based on annual surveys conducted from 2006 through 2009 (Sorte et al 2010).

#### 2.3.2 Main scientific questions

As in the case of greenhouse gas emissions, to handle the problems of invasive species, both scientific efforts and also national and international legislation are urgently and seriously needed. The theory of invasion ecology comprises many hypotheses designed to explain invasion success at a variety of temporal and spatial scales. However, this theoretical information can be highly different from what managers and policy-makers need to know to control the problem. Therefore we

highlight several scientific issues which can help the science of invasion ecology to become more applied.

- Further research is needed to put invasion in an ecosystem context, instead of focusing narrowly on how a single invader affects a chosen ecosystem function.
- Consider how multiple drivers of ecosystems (other anthropogenic changes, habitat destruction, land-use change, climate change) may broaden our horizon to handle the IAS problem.
- Decide which changes to ecosystem function can be managed or mitigated, and which are unmanageable (Strayer et al. 2012), focusing research better.
- Use cutting-edge technologies for remote sensing (e.g. multi- and hyperspectral imagery) to map invasions.
- Use cutting-edge molecular techniques for the early detection and accurate identification of invasive species, for example marine larval stages from ballast water tanks.
- Once an IAS has arrived, or a native species is becoming invasive, determine how the risk of spread, and damage can be predicted. Use new tools for modeling species distributions, abundance and spread from survey data, such as hierarchical spatial modeling, e.g. "spatial predictive process" model (Banerjee et al. 2008, Latimer et al. 2009), ecological niche modeling (Soberon & Peterson 2005), and ecological (meta)population modelling (Brook et al. 2009; Guisan & Thuiller 2005; Keith et al. 2008).
- What is the mechanism of introduction of a newly arrived alien species? Determine at which stage(s) in the life cycle the invasive species is most vulnerable, and whether those stages can be used as targets for more effective control or eradication? This requires demographic monitoring of populations followed by analyzing the population dynamics with transition matrix models (e.g. Ellis & Elphick 2007; Hansen 2007; Jongejans et al. 2006; Kanary et al. 2011; Morris et al. 2011).
- Are species rich native communities more or less susceptible to invasion by exotic species? Although fine-scale patterns have been taken as evidence that native richness protects ecosystems against invasions (Case 1990; Knops et al. 1999; Levine 2000; Kennedy et al. 2002), broad-scale patterns have led researchers to suggest the opposite (Stohlgren et al. 1999, 2003; Davis et al. 2000; Huston 2004).
- Are invaders drivers of rapid ecosystem change? A positive correlation between exotic dominance and decline in native diversity has been documented, but there is still little evidence of a cause–effect relationship (Gurevitch and Padilla 2004, Didham et al. 2005). Alternative explanation for such patterns are, that invaders often are successful in becoming established within communities that have been altered by human perturbations (Hobbs and Huenneke 1992).
- How strong are the ecological impacts of invasions from indirect mechanisms, like disease/parasite introduction by alien species (so called 'spillover'), positive interactions among invaders (so called 'invasional meltdown'),

population explosion due to host liberation from the parasite in the new area (so called 'parasite release').

• Are species rich communities more or less susceptible to invasion by exotic species?

#### 2.3.3 Most relevant research groups, networks or projects

#### Delivering Alien Invasive Species Inventories for Europe (DAISIE).

The DAISIE project (<u>www.europe-aliens.org</u>) was funded by the European Commission (2005–2008) to create an inventory of European alien species in order to understand the environmental, economic, social, and other factors involved in alien invasions (Hulme et al. 2009b). The contributors are leading experts in the field of biological invasions, other European partners and stakeholders. The DAISIE database has collated information from terrestrial, marine and freshwater habitats, for fungi, plants, vertebrates, and invertebrates from up to 63 countries/regions (including islands) and 39 coastal and marine areas in both Europe and adjacent regions. Over 248 datasets, constituting more than 45 000 records on individual species alien to Europe were assembled and verified by experts (Vilà et al. 2010). This represents the largest database of alien species in the world, with more than 10 000 species alien to Europe. The database includes information on both the ecological and economic impacts of alien species in particular regions (Vilà et al. 2010).

#### Global Invasive Species Programme (GISP): 1997-2011

The mission of this independent not-for-profit association supported by the World Bank was to conserve biodiversity and sustain human livelihoods by minimizing the spread and impact of IAS. The programme follows two major objectives, (1) building of a well-coordinated and effective global network for control and management of IAS, through development and dissemination of information and best practice, and (2) to strengthen the capacity to address IAS at local, national and regional level through development of new assessment tools and delivery of training modules to assess and manage IAS. A part of the GISP is the Global Invasive Species Database (www.issg.org), which aimed to increase awareness about invasive alien species and to facilitate effective prevention and management activities. It was/is managed by the Invasive Species Specialist Group (ISSG) of the Species Survival Commission of the IUCN-World Conservation Union.

#### **Global Invasive Species Information Network (GISIN)**

GISIN (<u>www.gisin.org</u>) provides a platform for sharing invasive species information at a global level, via the Internet and other digital means. The GISIN encourages invasive alien species (IAS) data providers to share their data directly through GISIN, and then consider sharing with other networks. GISIN supports the sharing of types of invasive species data or data models (e.g. SpeciesStatus, Dispersal, Impacts, Management) that other networks such as the Global Biodiversity Information Facility (GBIF) do not. GISIN works closely with representatives of many other data sharing networks, including GBIF and GEOSS, to better leverage our collective knowledge and technologies for data sharing and pursue effective solutions for avoiding duplication.

#### **NOBANIS - European Network on Invasive Alien Species**

NOBANIS (<u>www.nobanis.org</u>) is a gateway on to information on Invasive alien species in North and Central Europe. One of the main goals is to provide tools for implementing the precautionary approach against the unintentional dispersal of invasive alien species. It also establishes regional cooperation to aid countries in eradication, control and mitigation of these species. NOBANIS provides a a portal with access to information about the alien and invasive species of the region. This includes a central database with updated information from all the NOBANIS countries, factsheets of the most invasive species, access to an identification key to marine invasive species, newsletters, a species alert function for new invasive species to the region, an invasive species photo bank, and information about the national legislation on invasive alien species.

#### IUFRO division 7 on forest health

This division of the International Union of Forest Research Organisations (IUFRO) (<u>www.iufro.org</u>) includes among other things research on impacts of air pollution and climate change on forest ecosystems, physiological and genetic interactions between trees and harmful biotic impacts, environment/ pathogen interactions in forest decline, and the biology and control of forest tree insects and diseases. The division has over 30 working groups that are carrying out research on both invasive alien and native species, and applying methods of population modelling, niche modelling and climate change projections.

#### 2.3.4 Evaluation of existing models and methods

#### 2.3.4.1 Ecological niche modelling

The ecological niche is a widely used concept in analysis development. The ecological niche of a species can be defined as the conjunction of ecological conditions within which a species is able to maintain populations without immigration (Grinnell 1917). A species' fundamental niche is the set of conditions that allow long-term survival (Phillips et al. 2006), without being limited by biotic factors (Soberon & Peterson 2005). Realized niche is limited by external factors, as biotic interactions (e.g. competition, parasitism, predation) and historical factors (Fig. 2.3–1). Historical factors, such as geographic barriers and lack of sufficient dispersal opportunities may also influence species distribution (Patterson 1999). An ecological niche model can be an approximation of the fundamental niche, considering environmental dimensions and indicating its response to physical interactions. The main hypothesis for developing the ecological niche model will address the question of whether a species could survive and reproduce in certain kinds of conditions at any given place. A species is seldom able to occupy all of its potential geographical range, and the

presence of other species as well as historical factors can reduce distributions to a subset of the potential range (Chase & Leibold 2003).



#### Temperature

Figure 2.3–1 The yellow area represents a geographic area with appropriate set of abiotic factors for the species and may represent the geographic expression of a fundamental niche. The green area represents the right combination of abiotic factors, and an interaction of a species with biotic and historical factors, representing a geographic extent of a realized niche. (Original image by Healy Hamilton).

A main challenge has been to ask which factors exert the highest impact while shaping the distribution of species. Much of the difficulty stems first from the lack of objective means for identifying areas of suitable habitat. Second, it is difficult to integrate how ecological and/or historical factors shape the species' actual distribution (Costa et al. 2008). Novel GIS (Geographic Information Systems) models may identify previously unsampled areas where species have a high probability of occurrence and have been applied successfully to predict the geographic distributions of several animal groups in a variety of ecosystems (Peterson 2001, Luoto et al. 2002, Guisan & Thuller 2005). However, these GIS niche-based models do not present species interactions or historical factors.



Figure 2.3–2 Predicted results of using niche modeling to investigate factors affecting distributions of closely related species along an environmental gradient.
(a) Species do not overlap in their predicted distributions. (b) Both species occur in their predicted overlap zone. (c) Only one species occupies the predicted overlap zone. For more detailed explanation, see Costa et al. 2008.

Models focusing on the occurrence of closely related species in adjoining or overlapping areas along an environmental gradient will be useful when exploring competitive interactions and/or environmental characteristics in limiting and shaping species' distributions. According to Costa et al. (2008), this kind of analysis could provide three patterns (Fig. 2.3-2). First, if based on the niche-based model, two species do not overlap in their present predicted distributions. The explanation is that the distribution of both species is limited by unfavourable environmental factors, preventing expansion (Fig. 2.3-2a). Second, the model may predict an overlap zone in which both species can occur during prevailing favourable environmental conditions (Fig. 2.3-2b). Niche segregation (e.g. microhabitat, diet, activity time) allows the coexistence of both species. In the third possible pattern, only one species can occupy the predicted overlap zone. Favourable conditions may exist for both species, but one species competitively excludes the other. A historical factor may also exclude one of the species from the area in question (Fig. 2.3-2c). There is a need to analyze natural history data in order to unravel the possible impact of historical factors. Costa et al. (2008) found that niche models can predict overlapping niches for two pairs of amphibian species. In reality, the areas were occupied by only one species, indicating the role of competition and evolutionary history on a realized niche.

There are only a few studies exploring the idea of seasonal shifts of distribution of ecological niches as a part of species' migratory systems. Therefore the pattern of temporal niche changes is not so clear at the moment. Studies of migratory birds revealed patterns suggestive of some species being niche followers (i.e. using the same climatic niche year-round) and others acting as 'niche switchers' (i.e. changing niches between seasons) (Joseph 2003). According to Nakazawa et al. (2004), many nearctic-neotropical migrant bird species (ca. 28.6 %) effectively switch niches from one season to the other. A consistency with a hypothesis on niche conservatism in

winter, but a derived state in breeding season was found with Passerina buntings (Martinez-Meyer et al. 2004).

A similar seasonal shift of ecological niche was found with an eastern migratory population of monarch butterflies (*Danaus plexippus*) (Oberhauser & Peterson 2003). Monarch butterflies overwinter in restricted areas in montane oyamel fir forests with specific microclimates in Central Mexico, preferring dry and cool conditions. According to projections of the monarch overwintering areas, no overlap was found between future potential overwintering areas and any present winter distribution. Ecological niche models identified the key limiting environmental parameters in species' response to climate change on switched niches (Oberhauser & Peterson 2003).

To summarize, environmental predictors can exert direct or indirect effects on species, arranged along a gradient from proximal to distal predictors, and are optimally chosen to reflect the three main types of influences on the species (see Huston 2002):

- limiting factors (or regulators), defined as factors controlling species ecophysiology (e.g. temperature, water, soil),
- disturbances, defined as all types of perturbations affecting environmental systems (natural or human-induced), and
- resources, defined as all compounds that can be assimilated by organisms (e.g. energy, water). These relationships can cause different spatial patterns to be observed at different scales (Fig. 2.3–3), often in a hierarchical manner (Pearson et al. 2004, Guisan & Thuiller 2005).

Increasing numbers of studies suggest that global warming effects are dramatically increasing at the present. Populations of different organisms, as well as communities and ecosystems are affected by changing environmental conditions (Parmesan and Yohe 2003, Root et al. 2003). These effects could be direct, through the influence the weather can have on the insect's physiology or behaviour (Parmesan 2007, Merrill et al. 2008), or may be mediated by host plants, competitors or natural enemies (Bale et al. 2002). Biological response is particularly prevalent in the northern sub-boreal, boreal and subarctic ecosystems, where the warming signal is strongest (IPCC 2007). Mass extinction of species and losses in biodiversity at the global level are accelerating due to climatic change (Harte et al. 2004). The need to understand the impact of climatic change and make past, present and future scenarios of species distribution is important, in order to present recommendations and solutions to policy-makers. This situation calls for approaches that have greater anticipatory potential, whereby extrapolation and prediction based on quantitatively validated models become key steps.



**Figure 2.3–3** General hierarchical modelling framework illustrating the way to integrate disturbance, dispersal and population dynamics within currently static species distribution models. For more details, see Guisan & Thuiller (2005)

In recent years, predictive modelling of species distributions has become an increasingly important tool to address various issues in ecology, biogeography, evolution and conservation biology, connected with climate change research (Guisan and Thuiller 2005). Researchers have used GCM-derived (General circulation models) climate projections to predict a variety of climate change impacts. For example, there are projections to predict the future extinction rates of butterfly species (Oberhauser & Peterson 2003) or plants (Araujo et al. 2004), to evaluate conservation policies (Harrison et al. 2006) and to assess the risk of invasive species (Peterson et al. 2007, Mika et al. 2008). Another option is to use IPCC climate change scenarios. The global average surface temperature is projected to increase by 1.4 to 5.8°C by the year 2100. Calculations are based to SRES emission scenarios A1, A2, B1, and B2 (IPCC 2001). Vanhanen et al. (2007, 2008) projected distributions of two moth and three bark beetle species, which were based on IPCC scenarios. Hsu et al. (2012) simulated climate change impacts on forests and associated vascular epiphytes in the mountains of Taiwan. For wider areas than continents, the US Geological Survey's Hydro-1K data set (US Geological Survey 2000) as well as the WORLDCLIM dataset (Hijmans et al. 2005) have been applied. Native climate data has also been adopted for distribution models, as data produced by the Finnish Meteorological Institute. The climate data included mean values for the period 1991-2003 at 10 x 10 grid system and were successfully used for predictions of 17 butterfly species (Luoto et al. 2005).



**Figure 2.3–4** Ecoclimatic Index (EI) values for *Liriomyza huidobrensis* in North America using the (a) weather station data and (b) Canadian Centre for Climate Modelling and Anasysis GCM (CGCM2) and (c) Hadley Centre climate model (HadCM3) baseline period (1961-1990). The results from the bioclimatic envelope model (BEM) when using (d) an increase of 0.1 °C per degree latitude or (g) a uniform increase of 3 °C everywhere are shown. The BEM results when using GCM climate change projections in combination with the A2 scenario for (e) CGCM2, and (f) HadCM3 are shown for the 2080s. The B2 scenario projections for (h) CGCM2 and (i) HadCM3 are also shown for the 2080s. Unfavourable climate represents EI<10, suitable is 10<EI<20, favourable is 20<EI<30, and very favourable climate is EI>30. For more details, see Mika & Newman (2010).

There are two options to consider with respect to climate projections: (1) which models to use and (2) which climate scenario to use. The choice of climate scenario may impact the conclusion of the study. E.g. Mika & Newman (2010) assumed that the projected areas will depend on a choice of climate change scenario (Fig. 2.3–4). Kriticos et al. (2006) found that the variability between different GCM climate projections was as large as the difference between different emission scenarios. Several scientists have suggested that modelers should always use climate change projections from more than one GCM when studying the impacts of climate change on a biological system (e.g. Newman 2006). Therefore, model projections have often

#### Work Package 2

used GMC results from the Hadley (Pope at al. 2002) and Canadian (Flato et al. 1999) climate change modelling centers as the basis for future climate projections. Furthermore, from the Hadley Centre (HadCM3 model) and the Canadian Climate Change Modeling Centre (CGCM1 model) two scenarios have been assessed: one conservative and one less conservative of how climates could change over the next 50 years using the B2 and A2 emission scenarios (e.g. Peterson et al. 2004).

The major unanswered issue in species distribution modeling is environmental data selection. Which environmental factors we choose depends largely on data availability and to a lesser extent on our understanding of the causal mechanisms behind species distributions (Dormann 2007). Selection of environmental data may reflect the typical practices. In general, the environmental data used for each region are determined according to the relevance to the species in question. Most of the studies do not address the problem of environmental data selection, which is typically met with a limited number of data sets available. There are no statistics provided for the power of the environmental datasets. E.g. monthly climate variables may be much more effective than annual climate averages, suggesting the variables typically used are not the best possible variables (Stockwell 2006). In addition, many researchers employ only climatic variables, neglecting all the biotic interactions.

An overview of the questions associated with the species distribution models will be the following. For a review on the role of environmental drivers, see Dormann (2007).

- How to solve the serious problem with several national institutes not willing to share their data?
- How to choose environmental variables?
- Are all the algorithms freely available in order to compare the projections?
- Would the poor performance of some algorithms be connected with a wrong decision of climate variables? See e.g. performance of BIOCLIM according to Elith et al. (2006).
- How do limiting factors act throughout a species' range? Would their impact change with environmental change?
- How does environmental change affect biotic interactions / genetic structure / phenotypic plasticity / evolutionary changes of species?
- Are trends valid beyond the range of present data?
- Environmental change scenarios may be spatially uncertain?
- Do environmental drivers have non-linear effects on species distribution patterns?
- Do drivers have interactions and do they correlate with each other?
- Are data points in space independent?
- Are there georeferencing errors / misidentification with species occurrence?
- Presence absence data have low information content. Can we add some additional information into data points?

- Do we have too low sample size, which may lead to an inadequately simple model? What is the minimum number of occurrence points required to produce an accurate model?
- Can we increase awareness of climate change impacts on biodiversity to garner support for expanding conservation?

According to Dormann (2007), the following steps are vital to a development of species distribution model-based forecast. Firstly, there is a need to identify where the largest contribution to projection uncertainty comes from, i.e. what introduces most variability (e.g. quality of raw data, choice and collinearity of variables, type of modelling approach etc.). A second step is a critical comparison and parallel construction of static statistical and dynamic individual-based species distribution models. A third step is a validation of model projections, which must play a more prominent role, e.g. with data sets from different time periods, or using field experiments in various parts of a species range to assess drivers.

#### Algorthims used for ENM

There are several methods for niche or species distribution modelling. Some of them are targeted for this purpose, such as BIOCLIM (Mika & Newman 2010) and GARP (Genetic Algorithm for Rule-Set Production) (Stockwell & Noble 1992). Other methods include e.g. statistical approaches, such as regression analysis, discriminant analysis, and machine learning techniques. There is a need either to develop one's own software application or to use general packages for statistical and numerical computations (R, GNU, MATLAB etc.), in order to use the algorithms. Statistical packages are quite often flexible, but with modelling process the user needs to learn a programming language or to use complex statistical software (Munoz et al. 2011).

There has been activity in modeling species' potential distribution and creating new algorithms and tools for niche modelling. Elith et al. (2006) compared 16 modelling methods using 226 well-surveyed species (birds, plants, mammals, reptiles in six regions of the world and created most the most comprehensive set of model comparisons to date. Regions represented with the evaluation were Australian Wet Tropics (AWT), Ontario, Canada (CAN), New South Wales, Australia (NSW), New Zealand (NZ), South America (SA), Switzerland (SWI). The individual data sets had up to 54 species wit ha range of geographic extents and rarities. Foe each region, two sets of data were available: 1) presence only data, from unplanned surveys or incidental records, including those from museums and herbaria, and 2) independent presence-absence data from planned surveys, with accurate location records.

The environmental data used for each region were selected for their relevance to the species modelled. Eleven to thirteen predictors were supplied per region, with grid cell sized ranging from ca 100 by 100 m (all regions, excluding CAN) to 1000 by 1000 m (CAN). Predictor variables were climate (several variables), topography, distance, vegetation, soil, site moisture, disturbance, substrate (Elith et al. 2006).

Eleven distinct modelling methods were used by Elith et al. (2006). A number of these were implemented in more than one way, resulting in the 16 approaches. The methods formed two broad groups based on the type of data use: those that only use

presence records (BIOCLIM, DOMAIN, LIVES), and those that characterized the background with a sample (all other methods). The first group included one envelope-style method (BIOCLIM) and two distance-based methods (DOMAIN and LIVES).

The second group of methods included several regression approaches. Generalised linear models (GLMs) and geenralized additive models (GAMs) are used extensively in species' distribution modelling because of their strong statistical foundation and ability to realistically model ecological relationships (Austin 2002). BRUTO provides a rapid method to identify both the variables to include and the degree of smoothing to be applied in a GAM model. Multivariate adaptive regression splines (MARS) provide and alternative regression-based method for fitting non-linear responses, using piecewise linear fits rather than smooth functions. They are faster than GAMs and simpler to use in GIS applications. Elith et al. (2006) implemented two versions of GARP, the widely-used desktop version (DK-GARP) and an openModeller implementation (OM-GARP) that has updated algorithms for developing rule sets. Two methods were evaluated within the machine learning community: maximum entropy models (MAXENT and MAXENT-T) and boosted regression trees (BRT, also called stochastic gradient boosting). MAXENT estimates species' distributions by finding the distribution of maximum entropy (i.e. closest to uniform), subject to the constraint that the expected value of each environmental variable under this estimated distribution matches its empirical average (Phillips et al 2006). The final algorithms within the evaluation were generalized dissimilarity models (GDM), which model spatial turnover in community composition between pairs of sites as a function of environmental differences between these sites. The approach combines elements of matrix regression and generalized linear modelling (see e.g. Ferrier 2002).

All the analyses were performed by modellers, blind to the evaluation data. Elith et al. (2006) provided modellers with the presence-only locations for each species and random background locations. The evaluation focussed on predictive performance at sites. Three statistics were used: the area under the Receiver Operating Characteristic curve (AUC), correlation (COR) and Kappa, to assess theagreement between the presence-absence records and the predictions.

Presence-only data were effective for modelling species' distributions for many species and regions. Predictive success varied markedly across regions (Fig. 2.3–5). AUC scores vere high for SWI and SA, intermediate for NSW, NZ and AWT and poor for CAN. Some patterns and exceptions to model performance by region were apparent. Performance of methods in NSW, NZ, SA and SWI was similar with BRT, MAXENT and MAXENT-T. MARS-Comm and GDM-SS useally performing well. In NZ, presence-only methods (BIOCLIM, DOMAIN and LIVES) performed poorly. In most regions DOMAIN and LIVES had lower COR values in relation to AUC than average method (Fig. 2.3–5). The novel methods consistently outperformed more established methods. Elith et al. (2006) concluded that the results were promising for the use of data from museums and herbaria, especially as methods suited to the noise inherent in such data improve.



**Figure 2.3–5** Predictive success across regions for ten methods. Regions are sorted by the mean AUC across all 16 methods and all species in region. Regions: Australian Wet Tropics (AWT), Ontario, Canada (CAN), New South Wales, Australia (NSW), New Zealand (NZ), South America (SA), Switzerland (SWI). AUC = area under the Receiver Operating Charasterictic curve. For further information, see Elith et al. (2006)

Finally, we must note that there has been an obvious gap between devising a new algorithm and implementing it as a usable software package. This gap is due to the different kind of expertise needed for the various areas involved. In addition, the level of difficulty of model generation has increased, due to demanding knowledge in computer techniques that a biodiversity or ecology researcher may not usually have (Santana et al. 2008). Therefore, a software package for niche modeling should be able to accommodate changes and inclusions with a minimum of programming skills. This requires a user-friendly software architecture with specific characteristics (Santana et al. 2008). Until the present time, most software development has been carried out in isolation, developing software packages for single algorithms, as e.g. DesktopGARP (Scachetti-Pereira 2002) and Maxent (Phillips et al. 2006). There are some potential distribution modelling frameworks available that can run different algorithms (e.g. Thuiller 2003), but none of them are open source and easy to use, i.e. lacking openness and accessibility.

#### 2.3.4.2 Population modelling

After the ecological niche of a species has been modelled, the next step is to determine the variation in population performance in different parts of its range, in different habitat types and under variable degrees of habitat suitability. Suitable habitat of a species can be defined as the concurrence of ecological conditions (abiotic and biotic) that result in stable or growing (i.e. viable) populations over a specified time interval (e.g. Bass et al. 2006). Establishing whether or not populations are viable requires data on temporal and spatial variation in population growth rates, preferably in relation to variation in important ecological variables (Oostermeijer et al. 2003; Marrero-Gomez et al. 2007). This data can be derived from long-term studies or monitoring programs that in its simplest form consist of annual counts of the number of individuals in a certain area (count-based data, e.g. Sierdsema et al. 2006; Thomson & Schwartz 2006; Johnson et al. 2010). More detailed demographic studies involve following the fate of individual plants in permanent quadrats (Morris & Doak 2002) or animals by means of capture-mark-release-recapture techniques (Hagler & Jackson 2001; Celik 2012) or genetic monitoring (Koelewijn et al. 2010; Swenson et al. 2011). This leads to complex data on recruitment, survival, growth and reproduction that can be integrated into different types of population models that allow detailed statistical analyses. The most widely used type (e.g Crone et al. 2011) is the matrix projection (or transition matrix) model (Caswell 2001). In this type of model, individuals in a population are classified in either age, size or stage-based classes. Transition probabilities from year to year (or any other time step) between any two classes are calculated from field monitoring data and entered into a projection matrix. The dominant eigenvalue of the projection matrix represents the finite rate of increase of the population ( $\lambda$ ), and the left and right eigenvectors the stable stage distribution and the reproductive value for each stage (Caswell 2001). The contribution of each matrix element to lambda can be estimated by determining the change in lambda after small changes in each of the elements (sensitivity analysis, resulting in a sensitivity matrix). Scaling the sensitivities so that they sum to one facilitates direct comparison of the relative contributions of each life cycle transition to population growth rate. This matrix of elasticities is called the elasticity matrix (de Kroon et al. 2000). The elasticities can be used to identify the stages in the life cycle that - under the given environmental conditions - have the strongest effect on population growth. This knowledge can be used to guide population management aiming either at conservation (increasing growth rate) of endangered species, or eradication (decreasing growth rate) of invasive ones (Jongejans et al. 2008; Crone et al. 2011). Matrix models can also be used to analyze effects of past variation in specific transitions or vital rates on lambda's (a type of analysis of variance that is also called Life Table Response Experiment, or LTRE, Caswell 2001).

Integral Projection Models (IPM's), based on regressions between size of individuals and their survival, growth and reproduction (Easterling et al. 2000), are a good alternative for matrix projection models. They can for example be used when data is scarce (Ramula et al. 2009) and for species for which individuals are difficult to place in discrete size- or stage-classes (Childs et al. 2004; Rees & Ellner 2009).

Although single projection matrices comprise a lot of data, multiple annual matrices are required to obtain a good insight into population dynamics and viability. As a result of stochastic or deterministic changes in the environment, nearly all populations will show considerable variation in lambda (Kaye & Pyke 2003). Detailed knowledge of this variation and its causes forms the key to understanding and

managing populations (Crone et al. 2011). Many applied researchers incorporate the set of transition matrices into stochastic simulation models that can be used to estimate extinction risks under different environmental scenarios (climate change, harvesting, habitat management, herbivory, invading non-native species, etc., e.g. Ellis & Elphick 2007; Lennartsson & Oostermeijer 2001; Pfab & Scholes 2004; Keith et al. 2008; Smith et al. 2005). It is important to realize that even though the models are able to accurately describe the population trajectories during the parameterization period, these estimates are not realistic, and should preferably be used in a comparative way (Crone et al. 2011).

So far we have discussed the use of matrix models for analysis of the dynamics of single populations, but when relationships between matrix elements and lambda and environmental (habitat) parameters are sufficiently known, matrices can also be used for metapopulation models (Akçakaya et al. 2004). In these, we first use niche models to create Habitat Suitability (HS) maps for the species, which we then translate into a metapopulation map with occupied and vacant habitat patches. Habitat area and average habitat suitability can be calculated for each patch. With knowledge of population densities and relationships between HS and I, patch-specific carrying capacities and mean and maximum population growth rates can be specified. When we add data on dispersal rates, e.g. from population genetic studies and assignment tests, we can simulate metapopulation dynamics and quantitatively compare effects of (scenarios of) landscape changes, management-induced habitat dynamics, human disturbance (habitat loss or gain), etc. (Bossuyt & Honnay 2006; Hansen 2007; Jongejans et al. 2008; Wang et al. 2011).

#### 2.3.4.3 Molecular phylogenetics

The field of molecular phylogenetics is concerned with the reconstruction of the historical relationships among organisms and their features. Within this field, especially the application of phylogeographic methods are appropriate for the study of invasive patterns. Phylogeographic analyses study the historical relationships of geographically separated populations in a species, and can be used to understand the origin and dispersal ability of an introduced species. As an example, an analysis of the genetic divergence in populations of the Ponto-Caspian amphipod Echinogammarus ischnus originating from the Black Sea and the Caspian Sea show that a single mitochondrial genotype of Black Sea origin has colonized sites from the Rhine River to North America (Cristescu et al. 2004). In contrast, a phylogeographic analysis of the comb jelly shows multiple introductions (Reusch et al. 2010). In addition to single species phylogeography, novel comparative approaches are emerging to alayse the historical biogeography of serveral species, which helps disclosing typical disperal routes for alien organisms (Ilves et al. 2010). In this context, A combination of phylogeographic methods with niche modeling and population modeling methods would be very powerful to analyse and predict invasive patterns.

In addition to historical biogeography, phylogenetic methods can also be used to identify DNA sequences with tree based taxonomy assignments. Such methods provide an alternative to the otherwise direct genetic matching of unknown marker sequences with reference libraries auch as BOLD. Since, inavsives are usually not a part of local genetic reference libraries, direct matching may not identify the origin of the alien DNA. In tree based identifications, unknown sequences are mapped onto a
phylogenetic guide tree (Fig. 2.3–6). Existing tools for this purpose include the open source software pplacer (Matsen, Kodner et al. 2010), which is already available as a web-service. Robust guide trees with corresponding alignments can be obtained from treebase (<u>www.treebase.org</u>).



**Figure 2.3–6** Operational taxonomic unit (OTU) reference sequences can be placed into an evolutionary context using tools such as "pplacer" or the evolutionary placement algorithm, which place short reads into a guide tree framework constructed from full-length reference sequences. For each pre-aligned OTU or sequencing read, likelihood scores are calculated for all possible positions in the tree, and the sequence is subsequently inserted at the node exhibiting the best score.

### 2.3.4.4 Taxonomy

Taxonomy, as a scientific discipline is used to organising information about biodiversity, including species observations, character descriptions, identification methods, classification system(s), and links to associated information in literature and other resources. Taxonomic resources are essential when gathering information on invasive species. Important taxonomic methods for the large scale analysis of invasive patterns are essential support functions for all other the methods relevant for studying invasive biology, i.e. niche modeling, population modeling, molecular phylogenetics. The ability to combine these methods when and large data from many species depend on the ability to aggregate, formate, harmonize, and refine taxonomic data such. The ability to collect occurence records, synonyms, and taxonomic classifications for invasive species are among the most important features neccessary for studying invasive biology over large spatio-temporal scales.

In addition to the basic taxonomic functions, also genetic identification methods bear great potential for invasive species research. Correct species identification is essential when managing the risks posed by potential invasive species, and methods

for correct species identification need to be much more cost-effective in the future, as well as technically accessible, accurate, and applicable across a wide range of taxa and life stages. Often, beause of lack of local taxonomic expertise, non-native organisms are identified only to family, or higher ranks, which makes it impossible to efficiently track many alien species over large distances. The accuracy of morphological identification is obviously even more attenuated when it comes to invasive species monitoring and early warning mechanisms since the difficulty of identifying early life history stages (eggs and larvae) by morphological criteria is well known (Besansky et al. 2003).

DNA-based tools for monitoring and identifying invasive species have great potential. At present the most appropriate technology for the identification of unknown specimens is called DNA barcoding, an approach involving direct matching of unknown sequence with the gentic information in a reference library (Hebert et al 2003). In invasive species research DNA based identification methods can be used for (i) early detection of invasives (e.g. larvae, eggs, adults) by screening a genetically known habitat for 'new sequences', and (ii) for studying the ecological impact of invasives through identification of the stomach contents of invaders (Fig. 2.3–7).



**Figure 2.3–7** Food web ecology revealed by fish stomach identifications (Leray at al., 2012). The ecological footprint of invasive species can be studied using DNA based methods that identify stomach contents to the species level, given that a reference library is available (Courtesy of Christopher Meyer, Smithsonian Inst.)

# 2.3.5 Identification and description of typical and most challenging workflows

### 2.3.5.1 Taxonomic workflows



Figure 2.3–8 Taxonomic data refinement input generator workflow

Taxonomic workflows are used to access, harmonize, format, clean, and refine taxonomic data. In this example illustrated in Fig. 2.3–8, the input file is a list of scientific names (genus, species). The workflow is divided into three sub-workflows that can be selected by the user: 1) synonym request and occurrence retrieval, 2) geospatial visualisation and data selection, or 3) data selection and refinement in Google Refine.

The first sub-workflow is used to automatically retrieve synonyms for the species in question from the Catalogue of Life (<u>www.catalogueoflife.org</u>) and the GBIF checklist database. Synonyms can then be checked and accepted by the user through a graphical user interface. Occurrence data are thereafter automatically retrieved from GBIF (<u>www.gbif.org</u>) for all species names and their associated synonyms.

Through the data selection sub-workflow, occurrence records can be browsed using Google refine (<u>http://code.google.com/p/google-refine</u>), a tool for cleaning up data, which allows filtering, editing and clustering data. The Google refine step was used in this study to remove records without a latitude or longitude, to check the consistency of spelling of species names and to reconcile synonyms. In addition, the provenance of the data can be used as criteria to exclude dubious or low quality records.

In the geospatial visualisation sub-workflow, all occurrence records are visualized and can be refined using the Biodiversity Spatial Temporal Interactive Interface (BioSTIF), which allows selection of the occurrence points on a map and in tabular format with graphical tools and export of the selected data points in csv format.

# 2.3.5.2 Ecological niche modelling

Literally hundreds of papers using ENM to tackle particular problems have been published in recent years. However, only a handful of papers are specific about the data processing methods and workflows that have been employed. This is understandable, as most papers are aimed for an ecological and not data processing audience.

There are two main methods for modelling the potential distribution of species. Firstly, most of the data-driven methods are based on a correlative approach. This approach builds a representation of the fundamental ecological requirements of a species, based on the environmental characteristics of the site. Three types of data are needed for the model: occurrence data, environmental data and algorithm-specific parameters. Projected maps will show areas with similarities to those areas already occupied by the species in question (Soberon & Peterson 2005). In addition to individual species' modelling, models for communities follow a similar approach. Secondly, mechanistic modelling is based on the physiological responses and constraints of species to the environment (Kearney & Porter 2009). However, its use is limited due to a need to understand species' physiology.

Species occurrence data, i.e. collected or observed individuals or populations, is comprised of identifier, taxonomic identification, location, abundance, and a corresponding date. Biological collections and records are maintained by institutions such as natural history museums, herbaria and culture collections. Observation data are gathered during surveys by researchers and volunteers. Data on estimated records (appr. 2.5 billion records) is quickly becoming available over the Internet (Guralnick et al. 2007). GBIF (Global Biodiversity Information Facility) is one of the most prominent data sources of species occurrence, and is growing at a rapid rate. However, plenty of data is kept by individual scientists and institutes, beyond the common share of the data.

Environmental data is typically available in the form of georeferenced raster layers, representing abiotic conditions (e.g. temperature, precipitation, radiation, topography, vegetation etc.) that will be used to determine species distributions. Raster data associates a geospatial reference system and a matrix of cells containing data for the region. Environmental raster data is based on satellite data, weather station data or some other means to measure environmental conditions. These physical variables influence macro-distribution of species (Anderson et al. 2002). According to Munoz et al. (2011), these data are produced and made available by many different organizations, e.g. NASA, USGS, IPPC, UK Met Office, WorldClim and others. WorldClim, which has been described already in chapter 1 of this review, is the most widely used dataset in ENM. However, all these datasets are global, and there is often a need to crop them into a smaller area of interest, such as Europe or country / region. Furthermore, subselection needs vary between marine, coastal and terrestrial or freshwater ecosystems. Any modelling environment needs to support these subselection functions.

Munoz et al. (2011) describe the openModeller framework for executing ENM tasks. OpenModeller is a workbench that includes the steps of data retrieval and selection, and choosing and running the models. openModeller is a platform that packages several algorithms and does not require additional learning effort from the user when different algorithms are used. In addition, data preparation and comparison between algorithms becomes simplified when using just a generic computing environment. OpenModeller also exposes its functions as web services that can be used by external tools such as those of BioVeL.



Figure 2.3–9 The niche modelling workflow takes as input occurrence data from the taxonomic workflow (Fig. 2.3–8), a set of environmental layers and a choice of a modeling algorithm. The workflow interacts with a niche modeling Web Service to generate models remotely using OpenModeller (Munoz, de Giovanni et al. 2011). A manual interaction step allows algorithm selection and parameter selection for the chosen algorithm, and another manual step allows the user to select environmental layers that are likely to influence the species distribution.

Santana et al. (2008) describe ENM as a business process. They note that "the process to generate an ecological niche model is complex. It requires dealing with a large amount of data, use of different software packages for data conversion, for model generation and for different types of processing and analyses, among other

#### Work Package 2

functionalities". They describe a service-oriented architecture to build such systems, and describe a reference business process for ENM for build a system on SOA concepts.

Nativi et al (2009) describe a workflow for ENM, and the required discovery of data and processing services through external infrastructure (community catalogs) of the GEOSS.

The ENM workflows being constructed in BioVeL include elements from these 3 papers. They include steps of 1) selecting the species, 2) retrieving data from GBIF and adding one's own data set, 3) cleaning the data for outliers and taxonomy, 4) selecting the environmental data layers, 5) selecting the algorithm and its parameter values, 6) running the model and testing it, and 7) projecting the model. These steps are illustrated in Fig. 2.3–9.

# 2.3.6 Evaluation of web service requirements

Below is a description of services that have been identified to support the study of invasive species in each of the relevant research fields.

#### 2.3.6.1Taxonomy services

*Taxonomy services* can facilitate bio-identification tools, geographic distributions, classification systems, and links to ecological information systems for invasive and alien species. Examples are (1) the **Catalogue of Life checklist web service.** This service is used to expand given names into associated names, i.e. accepted name, synonyms, etc (www.catalogueoflife.org/webservice); (2) **GBIF web services for occurrence data retrieval,** a service to retrieve occurrence records for any given scientific names (<u>http://data.gbif.org/ws/rest/occurrence</u>); (3) **GBIF checklist web service (**<u>http://ecat-dev.gbif.org</u>), which is used to expand given names into associated names (i.e. accepted name, synonyms, etc).

#### 2.3.6.2 Phylogenetics services

*Phylogenetics services* relate to data mining, alignment, core phylogenetic inference, trait evolution on phylogenies, phylogeographic inference, and tree information storage. Examples are (4) **Alignment web service**, available trough European Bioinformatics Institute, which performs and cleans a DNA alignment; (5) **User interface to describe model of substitution.** The service guides the user trough possible choice of the subsitution model and produces a model description useful for the program of phylogenetic inference; (6) **Infer Phylogeny service.** This service is built around the program MrBayes 3.2 and requires nexus format input of the aligned sequences, as well as the model block and the MCMC integration parameters; (7) **Assess overall goodness of fit of phylogenetic inference with Posterior predictive test.** This service controls the fit of the model on the data based on simulation and checking overlap between simulated data and observed ones.

# 2.3.6.3 Ecological niche modelling services

*Ecological Niche Modeling services* are based on the OpenModeller services at CRIA, point data services at GBIF and speciesLink, GISIN for invasive species information, WorldClim for climate layers, and IPCC for climate change scenarios. Examples are (8) **Ecological Niche Modelling (ENM) Service**, which allows ecological niche models to be created, tested and projected into different environmental scenarios. A new instance of the service was configured for BioVeL with its own set of environmental layers, including WorldClim bioclimatic terrestrial data in different spatial resolutions and AquaMaps marine layers - both available for current and future conditions.

### 2.3.6.4 Ecological population modelling services

The workflows which have been (and are being) created in BioVeL up until now use (annual) monitoring data on individual organisms classified by life stage, age or size (a) to produce and (b) analyze annual transition matrices, (c) perform an LTRE, (d) estimate and analyze the same parameters for stochastic lambda and (e) perform stochastic simulations. Because many researchers nowadays use R to calculate this, the already existing R-scripts have been used as a basis for the BioVeL population modelling service set. For this, the **RServe service** (9) has been developed, which executes R-scripts on a remote host. In addition, **Interaction services** (10) for configuration of a workflow were created to support the input data. In collaboration with the Max Planck Institute for Demographic Research in Rostock (Dr. R. Salguero-Gomez) and the Radboud University Nijmegen (Dr. E. Jongejans), recently developed R-scripts for Integral Projection Modeling will also be incorporated into BioVeL.

For links between single population models, metapopulation models and habitat suitability maps produced with Species Distribution (Niche) Models, the most frequently used software package is RAMAS-GIS (<u>www.ramas.com</u>, see Yates & Ladd 2010; Pellet et al. 2006; Schtickzelle & Baguette 2004). Important components of RAMAS are being converted into R-scripts, which will enable their inclusion in BioVeL as well. This will eventually result in a service set that can convert data from individual organisms into models at the individual population and the metapopulation/landscape scale.

### 2.3.6.5 Geospatial visialisation services

Geospatial Visualisation services have a strong focus on providing mechanisms for exploration, computation, and presentation of data with spatio-temporal attributes. Those data can be divided into raster data (or coverages), which holds multidimensional values distributed into a homogeneous grid, and vector data, which may have one or more attributes representing a geometry. The usage of existing standard interfaces from the Open Geospatial Consortium (OGC) and ISO/TC211 contributes to support interoperability within BioVeL, allowing standard software to access and use the data and services. The (11) **BioVeL GeoServer** (<u>https://biovel.iais.fraunhofer.de/geoserver/web</u>) is based on the open source application GeoServer (<u>http://geoserver.org</u>), which supports the following protocols: the Web Map Services (WMS) for mapping of raster and vector data, the Web

Coverage Services (WCS) for querying raster data, the Web Feature Service (WFS) for querying vector data, and the Web Processing Services (WPS) for making computations on both data types. The GeoServer application is the OGC reference implementation for WMS, WFS, and WCS. With so-called SHIM Services (connectors or adapters to workflow services, e.g. providing transformation) biodiversity data and computation results can be transformed and uploaded to the WMS/WFS/WCS services.

For discovering of spatio-temporal data the (12) **BioVeL GeoCatalogue** (<u>https://biovel.iais.fraunhofer.de/geonetwork/</u>) was deployed based on the open source application GeoNetwork (<u>www.geonetwork-opensource.org</u>), which is the reference implementation for OGC Catalog Services for the Web (CSW). The GeoCatalogue allows harvesting metadata using standards like the OGC-CSW 2.0.2 ISO Profiles, the OAI-PMH, and the Z39.50 protocol. The GeoCatalogue provides an interactive web application, where the user can search for data applying textual, temporal, and geographical constraints. This application will be extended to be used as an interaction service within tavern workflows.

(13) **OGC-SHIM Services** will support the integration of the OGC services into workflows. Since the OGC services are technically based on XML-RPC protocols, the OGC-SHIM services will provide REST interfaces facilitating the construction and interpretation of the transferred XML-documents and requests.

The user of the workflows need, on the other interactive tools to explore and select spatio-temporal data, as well as to perform computations and visualize their results. A main contribution to the Geospatial Visualisation Service Set is the web application (14) **BioSTIF-Spatio-Temporal Interactiv** interface (Jänicke et al. 2011), which can be integrated into Taverna Workflows as interaction service. BioSTIF is also available as standalone web tool (<u>https://biovel.iais.fraunhofer.de/biostif</u>) BioSTIF shows spatio-temporal point data e.g. species occurrences on a map. Different background maps can be chosen. The user can make selections on the data using spatial objects like polygons, circles or other geographical features loaded from web map services. Occurrences can be deleted. The user can browse through the data in a map, a tabular view, and a timeline plot. The supported formats for occurrence data are kml (OGC standard), Darwin Core (TDWG standard), JSON (open standard) and comma separated files (csv). The results of data manipulation will be sent back to the workflows as URL link to documents using the same format.

# **3 Conclusions**

We can confirm that the needs of biodiversity and ecology sciences for new leadingedge integrative IT tools are growing rapidly, while existing, reliable and open web services and workflow management services to fulfill these needs are still scarce. The planned and on-going developments of the project, targeting new and improved IT facilities and demonstrating the success of the virtual laboratory approach for i) DNA sequence-based phylogeny and metagenomics research, ii) usage of taxonomy and species occurence data services, iii) ecological niche and population modelling, iv) modelling and simulating ecosystem functionality and valuation will reach big steps toward the main goals of the project. They will open new perspectives for biodiversity analysis. However several gaps will remain unbridged and we have to count some constraints also.

### The main gaps and constraints

Shortage in relevant dataset services – One of the gaps is due to the lack of relevant ecological and biodiversity datasets or dataset services. Although the availability of various open environmental and biodiversity datasets is growing continuously, the demand for open, high quality, globally-regionally-locally relevant datasets for various ecological analyses is also growing. Furthermore, species have certain (narrow or broad) environmental, habitat based, biotic and temporal requirements and limitations, which researchers have to consider in addition, and which are used to then find the most relevant and accessible datasets for their analyses. Most of these datasets today have no or poor web service interface, incomplete metadata, incomplete geographical and temporal coverage, or limited spatio-temporal resolution.

*Difficulty finding data and services* – Even in cases where services and data are online, their discovery often requires knowledge of the people, projects and organisations behind them, and the terms and conditions of the data use. Still too few biodiversity data and services are discoverable through open registries such as BioCatalogue, GBIF, LTER, and GEOSS.

Bridging the inter-disciplinary gap – Although technology provides huge potential for chaining web services and build complex scientific workflows (see the ecological niche modelling workflow described in chapter 2.3 as a best practice example), several gaps remain. Bridging these gaps will soon open up new possibilities for research. For example, there are several missing links along the *'phylogeny – taxonomy – species distribution – community ecology* (as missing link, see Bekker et al. 2007, Dengler et al. 2011a, 2011b, Lopez-Gonzalez et al. 2011, Janßen et al. 2011) – *functional ecology* (as missing link, see Bonan et al. 2002, de Bello et al. 2010, Kattge et al. 2011, Scholes et al. 2012) – ecosystem modelling' chain for complex analysis. We can foresee, that other inter- and transdisciplinary workflow chaining, even across different levels of organisation will be possible in the near future, like 'species distribution – community ecology – population modelling – ecological nich modelling' or 'taxonomy – metagenomics – functional ecology – ecosystem modelling'. As disciplinary and interdisciplinary services extend, so will the number of possible scientific interactions be able to grow exponentially. However, we

Work Package 2

have to keep in mind that the biodiversity and ecological knowledge represented in our databases, expert systems and scientific tools remains limited in contrast to the complex patterns, processes and interactions of the Earth's bioshpere.

Data consistency gap - When combining data from different sources and domains it becomes clear that interoperability is not the only obstacle to analysing complex patterns of biodiversity. Existing biodiversity information repositories generally provide high quality data with respect to the reliability of the information reported. However, data quality is rather low with respect to consistency. In other words, the data aggregated today have been collected for different purposes and on different spatio-temporal scales, leaving significant gaps in data sets assembled from different sources. Such gaps seriously inhibit the analysis of complex patterns. It is therefore of uttermost importance that dataset and analytical services are integrated components of the developing biodiversity observatory networks (BONs). Analytical tools will always be limited in their potential to discover and understand complex patterns of biodiversity until they become the drivers for the collection, aggregation, and discovery of data coming from BONs.

*Model construction constraints* – According to the well-known bon mot of George E. P. Box "Essentially, all models are wrong, but some are useful". This quote illustrates well that all models have strong limitations and a scope of validity. As a consequence, not all models can be sensibly pipelined into a workflow, even if creating a link seems to be technically possible. It will become necessary to develop and use a variety of models and find the appropriate parameters to partially overcome these constraints, as well as to provide and use model validation tools. When chained in a workflow it is important that the workflow presents (i.e. does not hide) the assumptions and limits of uncertainty that the models work under.

# Literature cited

The items below are labeled by ECOS, SEQU or INVA according to that have been referred in the "Ecosystem functioning and valuation", "Bioshperic carbon sequestration" or "Invasive species research and maganagement" section of the report.

- Aitkenhead, M.J., Aalders, I.H. (2009) Predicting land cover using GIS, Bayesian and evolutionary algorithm methods. Journal of Environmental Management 90: 236-250. (ECOS)
- Akçakaya, H. R., V. C. Radeloff, D. J. Mlandenoff, and H. S. He. 2004. Integrating landscape and metapopulation modeling approaches: Viability of the sharp-tailed grouse in a dynamic landscape. Conservation Biology 18:526-537. (INVA)
- Alkemade, R., et al. (2009) GLOBIO3: A framework to investigate options for reducing global terrestrial biodiversity loss. Ecosystems 12(3): 374-390. (ECOS)
- Amaral-Zettler, L.A., McCliment, E.A., Ducklow, H.W., et al. (2009) A Method for Studying Protistan Diversity Using Massively Parallel Sequencing of V9 Hypervariable Regions of Small-Subunit Ribosomal RNA Genes. PLOS One 4(7): 63-72. (ECOS)
- Anderson, D.P. (2004) BOINC: A system for public-resource computing and storage. In Proceedings of 5<sup>th</sup> IEEE/ACM International Workshop on Grid Computing, Pittsburgh, USA (ECOS)
- Anderson, R.P., Laverde, M., Peterson, A.T. 2002. Using niche-based GIS modeling to test gepgraphic predictions of comparative exclusion and comparative release in South American pocket mice. Oikos 93: 3-16. (INVA)
- Araujo, M.B., Cabesa, M., Thuiller, W., Hannah, L., Williams, P.H. 2004. Would climate change drive species out of reserves? An assessment of existing reserve-selection methods. Global Change Biology 10: 1618-1626. (INVA)
- Austin, M.P. 2002. Spatial prediction of species distribution: an interface between ecological theory and statistical modelling. Ecological Modelling 157: 101-118. (INVA)
- Bagstad, K.J., Villa, F., Johnson, G.W., Voigt, B. (2011) ARIES Artificial Intelligence for Ecosystem Services: A guide to models and data, version 1.0. (ECOS, SEQU)
- Balaton, Z., G. Gombás, P. Kacsuk, A. Kornafeld, J. Kovács, Cs. A. Marosi, G. Vida, N. Podhorszki, T. Kiss (2007) SZTAKI Desktop Grid: a Modular and Scalable Way of Building Large Computing Grids. Proceedings of the 21st International Parallel and Distributed Processing Symposium (IPDPS 2007), Long Beach, California, USA (ECOS)
- Baldocchi, D.D. (2003) Assessing the eddy covariance technique for evaluating carbon dioxide exchange rates of ecosystems: past, present and future. Global Change Biology 9: 479-492. (SEQU)
- Baldocchi, D.D., Falge, E.L., Olson, R., Hollinger, D., Running, S., Anthoni, P., Bernhofer, C., Davis, K., Fuentes, J., Goldstein, A., Katul, G., Law, B., Lee, X., Malhi, Y., Meyers, T., Munger, J.W., Oechel, W., Pilegaard, K., Schmid, H.P., Valentini, R., Verma, S., Vesala, T., Wilson, K., Wofsy, S. (2001)
  FLUXNET: A new tool to study the temporal and spatial variability of ecosystem-scale carbon dioxide, water vapor and energy flux densities. Bulletin of the Americal Meteorological Society 82: 2415-2435. (SEQU)
- Bale, J.S., Masters, G.J., Hodkinson, I.D., Awmack, C., T. Bezemer, M., Brown, V.K., et al. (2002). Herbivory in global climate change research: direct effects of rising temperatures on insect herbivores. Global Change Biology, 8, 1-16. (INVA)

- Banerjee S, Gelfand AE, Finley AO, Sang H (2008) Gaussian predictive process models for large spatial datasets. J R Stat Soc B 70:825–848. (INVA)
- Barberán, A., Fernández-Guerra, A., Bohannan, B.J.M., Casamayor, E.O. (2012) Exploration of community traits as ecological markers in microbial metagenomes. Molecular Ecology 21(8): 1909-1917 (ECOS)
- Barcza, Z., Haszpra, L., Somogyi, Z., Hidy, D., Lovas, K., Churkina, G., Horváth, L. (2009) Estimation of the biospheric carbon dioxide balance of Hungary using the BIOME-BGC model. Időjárás Quarterly Journal of the Hungarian Meteorological Service 113: 203-219. (SEQU)
- Barthell, J.F., J.M. Randall, R.W. Thorp, A.M. Wenner (2001) Promotion of seed set in the yellow starthistle by honey bees: evidence of an invasive mutualism. Ecological Applications 11:1870–1883. (INVA)
- Bartholy, J., Pongrácz, R., Gelybó, Gy. (2007) Regional climate change expected in Hungary for 2071-2100. Applied Ecology and Environmental Research 5: 1-17. (SEQU)
- Bartholy, J., Pongrácz, R., Gelybó, Gy., Szabó, P. (2008) Analysis of expected climate change in the Carpathian basin using the PRUDENCE results. Időjárás - Quarterly Journal of the Hungarian Meteorological Service 112: 249-264. (SEQU)
- Barton, D.N., T. Saloranta, S.J. Moe, H.O. Eggestad, S. Kuikka (2008) Bayesian belief networks as a meta-modelling tool in integrated river basin management - pros and cons in evaluating nutrient abatement decisions under uncertainty in a Norwegian river basin. Ecological Economics 66(1): 91-104. (ECOS)
- Bass, D. A., N. D. Crossman, S. L. Lawrie, and M. R. Lethbridge. 2006. The importance of population growth, seed dispersal and habitat suitability in determining plant invasiveness. Euphytica 148:97-109. (INVA)
- Battisti, A., Stastny, M., Buffo, E. & Larsson, S. (2006) A rapid altitudinal range expansion in the pine processionary moth produced by the 2003 climatic anomaly. Global Change Biology, 12, 662–671. (INVA)
- Bax, N., J.T. Carlton, A. Mathews-Amos, R.L. Haedrich, F.G. Howarth, J.E. Purcell, A. Rieser, A. Gray (2001) The control of biological invasions in the world's oceans. Conservation Biology 15:1234– 1246. (INVA)
- Bekker, R.M., Maarel, E., Bruelheide, H. & Woods, K. (2007) Long-term datasets: From descriptive to predictive data using ecoinformatics. Journal of Vegetation Science 18: 457–462.
- Besansky, N.J., D.W. Severson, M.T. Ferdig (2003) DNA barcoding of parasites and invertebrate disease vectors: what you don't know can hurt you. Trends Parasitol 19: 545- 546. (INVA)
- Bestelmeyer, B.T., et al. (2011) Spatial perspectives in state-and-transition models: a missing link to land management? Journal of Applied Ecology 48: 746-757. (ECOS)
- Beven, K., Binley, A. (1992) The future of distributed models: model calibration and uncertainty prediction. Hydrological Processes 6: 279-298. (ECOS)
- Beven, K., Freer, J. (2001) Equifinality, data assimilation, and uncertainty estimation in mechanistic modelling of complex environmental systems using the GLUE methodology. Journal of Hydrology 249: 11-29. (ECOS)
- Boisvenue, C., Running, S.W. (2010) Simulations show decreasing carbon stocks and potential for carbon emissions in Rocky Mountain forests over the next century. Ecological Applications 20: 1302-1319. (ECOS)

- Bonan, G.B., Levis, S., Kergoat, L., Oleson, K.W. (2002) Landscapes as patches of plant functional types: An integrating concept for climate and ecosystem models. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 16(2): 5.1-5.23. (ECOS, SEQU)
- Bond-Lamberty, B., Gower, S.T., Ahl, D.E., Thornton, P.E. (2005) Reimplementation of the Biome-BGC model to simulate successional change. Tree Physiology 25: 413-24. (ECOS)
- Boogaard, H.L., et al. (1998) WOFOST 7.1: User's guide for the WOFOST 7.1 crop growth simulation model and WOFOST Control Center 1.5. Technical document, DLO Winand Staring Centre 52. DLO Winand Staring Centre, Wageningen (ECOS)
- Born W, Rauschmayer F, Brauer I (2005) Economic evaluation of biological invasions a survey. Ecol Econ 55: 321–336. (INVA)
- Bossuyt, B., and O. Honnay. 2006. Interactions between plant life span, seed dispersal capacity and fecundity determine metapopulation viability in a dynamic landscape. Landscape Ecology 21:1195-1205. (INVA)
- Bouwman, A.F., et al. (eds) (2006) Integrated modelling of global environmental change. An overview of IMAGE 2.4. Netherlands Environmental Assessment Agency, Bilthoven, The Netherlands, p. 228. (ECOS)
- Boyd, J., Banzhaf, S. (2007) What are ecosystem services? The need for standardized environmental accounting units. Ecological Economics 63: 616-626. (ECOS)
- Braat, L., P. Ten Brink (eds.) (2008) The cost of policy inaction: the case of not meeting the 2010 biodiversity target. Alterra-report 1718 (ISSN 1566-7197), Wageningen, Figure 5.5, p. 140. (ECOS)
- Bright, C. (1998) Life out of bounds: bioinvasion in a borderless world. New York, NY: W.W. Norton & Company. (INVA)
- Bristow, K.L., G.S. Campbell (1984) On the relationship between incoming solar radiation and daily maximum and minimum temperature. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 31:159-166. (ECOS)
- Brook, B. W., H. R. Akcakaya, D. A. Keith, G. M. Mace, R. G. Pearson, and M. B. Araujo. 2009. Integrating bioclimate with population models to improve forecasts of species extinctions under climate change. Biology Letters 5:723-725. (INVA)
- Brown B.J., Mitchell R.J., Graham S.A. (2002) Competition for pollination between an invasive species (purple loosestrife) and a native congener. Ecology 83:2328–2336. (INVA)
- Bruno, J.F., J.J. Stachowicz, M.D. Bertness (2003) Inclusion of facilitation into ecological theory. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 18:119–125. (INVA)
- Bürger, G. (1997) On the disaggregation of climatological means and anomalies. Climate Research 8: 183-194. (SEQU)
- Callaway, R.M., Ridenour, W.M. (2004) Novel weapons: invasive success and the evolution of increased competitive ability. Front Ecol Environ 2:436–443. (INVA)
- Canadell, J.G., Ciais, P., Dhakal, S., Dolman, H., Friedlingstein, P., Gurney, K.R., Held, A., Malone,
   E.L., Jackson, R.B., Que, C.L., Ojima, D.S., Patwardhan, A., Peters, G.P., Raupach, M.R. (2010)
   Interactions of the carbon cycle, human activity, and the climate system: a research portfolio.
   Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability 2: 301-311. (SEQU)
- Canadell, J.G., Raupach, M.R. (2008) Managing forests for climate change mitigation. Science 320: 1456-1457. doi:10.1126/science.1155458 (SEQU)
- Caron, D.A., Countway, P.D., Savai, P., et al. (2009) Defining DNA-based operational taxonomic units for microbial- eukaryote ecology. Appl Environ Microbiol 75(18): 5797-5808. (ECOS)

- Carpenter, S.R., DeFries, R., Dietz, T., Mooney, H.A., Polasky, S., Reid, W.V., Scholes, R.J. (2006) Millennium Ecosystem Assessment: Research needs. Science 314: 257-258. (ECOS)
- Carpenter, S.R., Mooney, H.A., Agard, J., Capistrano, D., DeFries, R.S., Diaz, S., Dietz, T., Duraiappah, A.K., Oteng-Yeboah, A., Pereira, H.M., Perrings, C., Reid, W.V., Sarukhan, J., Scholes, R.J., Whyte, A. (2009) Science for managing ecosystem services: Beyond the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 106: 1305-1312. (ECOS)
- Case, T.J. (1990) Invasion resistance arises in strongly interacting species-rich model competition communities. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 87(24): 9610-9614. (INVA)
- Caswell, H. (2001). Matrix Population Models: Construction, Analysis and Interpretation, 2nd Edition, Sinauer Associates Inc., Sunderland, MA (INVA)
- Celik, T. (2012) Adult demography, spatial distribution and movements of Zerynthia polyxena (Lepidoptera: Papilionidae) in a dense network of permanent habitats. European Journal of Entomology 109:217-227. (INVA)
- Cesaro, L., P. Gatto, D. Pettenella (eds.) (2008) The Multifunctional Role of Forests Policies, Methods and Case Studies. In The Multifunctional Role of Forests - Policies, Methods and Case Studies. European Forest Institute, p. 380 (ECOS)
- Chapin, F.S., Woodwell, G.M., Randerson, J.T., Rastetter, E.B., Lovett, G.M., Baldocchi, D.D., Clark, D.A., Harmon, M.E., Schimel, D.S., Valentini, R., Wirth, C., Aber, J.D., Cole, J.J., Goulden, M.L., Harden, J.W., Heimann, M., Howarth, R.W., Matson, P.A., McGuire, A.D., Melillo, J.M., Mooney, H.A., Neff, J.C., Houghton, R.A., Pace, M.L., Ryan, M.G., Running, S.W., Sala, O.E., Schlesinger, W.H., Schulze, E.-D. (2005) Reconciling carbon-cycle concepts, terminology and methods. Ecosystems 9: 1041-1050. doi:10.1007/s10021-005-0105-7 (SEQU)
- Chase, J.M., Leibold, M.A. (2003). Ecological niches: linking classical and contemporary approaches. University of Chicago Press, Chicago. (INVA)
- Chen, K., Pachter, L. (2005) Bioinformatics for whole-genome shotgun sequencing of microbial communities. PLoS Comp. Biol. 1: 24. (ECOS)
- Chiesi, M., Chirici, G., Barbati, A., Salvati, R., Maselli, F. (2011) Use of BIOME-BGG to simulate Mediterranean forest carbon stocks. iForest - Biogeosciences and Forestry 4: 121-127. (ECOS, SEQU)
- Childs, D.Z., M. Rees, K.E. Rose, P.J. Grubb, S.P. Ellner (2004) Evolution of size-dependent flowering in a variable environment: construction and analysis of a stochastic integral projection model. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences 271:425-434. (INVA)
- Churkina, G., Brovkin, V., von Bloh, W., Trusilova, K., Jung, M., Dentener, F. (2009) Synergy of rising nitrogen depositions and atmospheric CO2 on land carbon uptake moderately offsets global warming. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 23(4): 1-12. doi:10.1029/2008GB003291 (SEQU)
- Churkina, G., Tenhunen, J., Thornton, P., Falge, E.M., Elbers, J. A., Erhard, M., Grünwald, T., Kowalski, A.S., Rannik, Ü., Sprinz, D. (2003) Analyzing the Ecosystem Carbon Dynamics of Four European Coniferous Forests Using a Biogeochemistry Model. Ecosystems 6: 168-184. (ECOS, SEQU)
- Churkina, G., Zaehle, S., Hughes, J., Viovy, N., Chen, Y., Jung, M., Heumann, B.W., Ramankutty, N., Heimann, M., Jones, C. (2010) Interactions between nitrogen deposition, land cover conversion, and climate change determine the contemporary carbon balance of Europe. Biogeosciences 7: 2749-2764. doi:10.5194/bg-7-2749-2010 (SEQU)

- Ciais, P., Bousquet, P., Freibauer, A., Naegler, T. (2007) Horizontal displacement of carbon associated with agriculture and its impacts on atmospheric CO2. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 21. doi:10.1029/2006GB002741 (SEQU)
- Ciais, P., Gervois, S., Vuichard, N., Piao, S.L., Viovy, N. (2011) Effects of land use change and management on the European cropland carbon balance. Global Change Biology 17: 320-338. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02341.x (SEQU)
- Ciais, P., Schelhaas, M.J., Zaehle, S., Piao, S.L., Cescatti, A., Liski, J., Luyssaert, S., Le Maire, G., Schulze, E.D., Bouriaud, O., Freibauer, A., Valentini, R., Nabuurs, G.J. (2008) Carbon accumulation in European forests. Nature Geoscience 1: 425-429. (SEQU)
- Cohen, W.B., Goward, S.N. (2004) Landsat's role in ecological applications of remote sensing. BioSciense 54: 535-545. (ECOS)
- Colautti, R.I., Ricciardi, A., Grigorovich, I.A., MacIsaac, J.J. (2004) Is invasion success explained by the enemy release hypothesis? Ecol. Lett., 7, 721–733. (INVA)
- Collins, S.L., Swinton, S.M., Anderson, C.W., Gragson, T., Grimm, N.B., Grove, M., et al. (2009) Integrative Science for Society and Environment: A Strategic Research Initiative. LTER Network Office Publication (ECOS)
- Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) (2002) COP 6 Decision VI/26. Strategic Plan for the Convention on Biological Diversity (<u>www.cbd.int/decision/cop/?id=7200</u>)
- Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) (2008) Alien Species that Threaten Ecosystems, Habitats or Species [Article 8(h)], United Nations. (INVA)
- Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) (2010a) Global Biodiversity Outlook 3. Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, Montréal, p. 94. (ECOS)
- Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) (2010b) COP 10 Decision X/2. Strategic Plan for Biodiversity 2011-2020 (www.cbd.int/decision/cop/?id=12268)
- Costa, G.C., Wolfe, C., Shepard, D.B., Caldwell, J.P., Vitt, L.J. (2008) Detecting the influence of climatic variables on species distributions: a test using GIS niche-based models along a steep longitudinal environmental gradient. Journal of Biogeography 35: 637-646. (INVA)
- Costanza, R., D'Arge, R., de Groot, R., Farber, S., Grasso, M., Hannon, B., et al. (1997) The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. Nature 387: 253-260. (ECOS)
- Costanza, R., Fisher, B., Mulder, K., Liu, S., Christopher, T. (2007) Biodiversity and ecosystem services: A multi-scale empirical study of the relationship between species richness and net primary production. Ecological Economics 61: 478-491. (ECOS)
- Courbaud, B., et al. (2001) Evaluating thinning strategies using a Tree Distance Dependent Growth Model: Some examples based on the CAPSIS software "Uneven-Aged Spruce Forests" module. Forest Ecology and Management 145: 15-28. (ECOS)
- Cowling, R.M., Egoh, B., Knight, A.T., O'Farrell, P.J., Reyers, B., Rouget, M., et al. (2008) An operational model for mainstreaming ecosystem services for implementation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105: 9483-9488. (ECOS)
- Cristescu, MEA, JDS Witt, IA Grigorovich, PDN Hebert & HJ MacIsaac (2004) Dispersal of the Ponto-Caspian amphipod Echinogammarus ischnus: invasion waves from the Pleistocene to the present. Heredity 92: 197-203. (INVA)
- Crone, E.E., E.S. Menges, M. Ellis, T. Bell, P. Bierzychudek, J. Ehrlén, T.N. Kaye, T.M. Knight, P. Lesica, W.F. Morris, J.G.B. Oostermeijer, P.F. Quintana-Ascencio, A. Stanley, T. Ticktin, T. Valverde, J.L. Williams. 2011. How do plant ecologists use matrix population models? Ecology Letters 14:1-8. (INVA)

- Czúcz, B., Gathman, J.P., McPherson, G.R. (2010) The impending peak and decline of petroleum production: an underestimated challenge for conservation of ecological integrity. Conservation Biology 24: 948-956. (ECOS)
- Daily, G.C. (1997) Nature's Services. Island Press, Washington DC. (ECOS)
- Davis MA (2003) Biotic globalization: Does competition from introduced species threaten biodiversity? BioSci 53:481–489. (INVA)
- Davis, M.A., J.P. Grime, et al. (2000) Fluctuating resources in plant communities: a general theory of invasibility. Journal of Ecology 88(3): 528-534. (INVA)
- De Angelis, D.L. (1992) Dynamics in Food Webs and Nutrient Cycling. Chapman & Hall, London (ECOS)
- de Bello, F., Lavorel, S., Díaz, S., Harrington, R., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Bardgett, R.D., et al. (2010) Towards an assessment of multiple ecosystem processes and services via functional traits. Biodiversity and Conservation 19(10): 2873-2893. (ECOS)
- de Bello, F., Lavorel, S., Díaz, S., Harrington, R., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Bardgett, R.D., et al. (2010) Towards an assessment of multiple ecosystem processes and services via functional traits. Biodiversity and Conservation, 19: 2873–2893.
- de Coligny, F., et al. (2003) CAPSIS: Computer-aided projection for strategies in silviculture: advantages of a shared forest-modelling platform. In Soares, P., Reed, D., Amaro, D. (eds.) Modelling Forest Systems. CABI Publishing, Wallingford, pp. 319-323. (ECOS)
- de Groot, R.S. (1992) Functions of Nature: evaluation of nature in environmental planning, management and decision-making. Wolters Noordhoff BV, Groningen, the Neth. 345 p. (ECOS)
- de Groot, R.S. (2006) Function analysis and valuation as a tool to assess land use conflicts in planning for sustainable, multi-functional landscapes. Landscape and Urban Planning 75: 175-186. (ECOS)
- de Kroon, H., J. van Groenendael, and J. Ehrlen. 2000. Elasticities: A review of methods and model limitations. Ecology 81:607-618. (INVA)
- de Ruiter, P.C., V. Wolters, J.C. Moore, K.O. Winemiller (2005) Food Web Ecology: Playing Jenga and Beyond. Science 309(5731): 68-71. (ECOS)
- De Somviele, B., Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa, P. & Niemelä, P. (2007). Stand edge effects on distribution and condition of Diprionid sawflies. Agricultural and Forest Entomology, 9: 17–30. (INVA)
- De Somviele, B., Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa, P. & Niemelä, P. 2004. Sawfly (Hym., Diprionidae) outbreaks on Scots pine: effect of stand structure, site quality and relative tree position on defoliation intensity. Forest Ecology and Management 194: 305-317. (INVA)
- De Vries, W., Solberg, S., Dobbertin, M., Sterba, H., Laubhann, D., Oijen, M. van, Evans, C., Gundersen, P., Kros, J., Wamelink, G.W.W., Reinds, G.J., Sutton, M.A. (2009) The impact of nitrogen deposition on carbon sequestration by European forests and heathlands. Forest Ecology and Management 258: 1814-1823. (SEQU)
- Dee, D.P., Uppala, S.M., Simmons, A.J., Berrisford, P., Poli, P., Kobayashi, S., Andrae, U., Balmaseda, M.A., Balsamo, G., Bauer, P., Bechtold, P., Beljaars, A.C.M., van de Berg, L., Bidlot, J., Bormann, N., Delsol, C., Dragani, R., Fuentes, M., Geer, A.J., Haimberger, L., Healy, S.B., Hersbach, H., Hólm, E.V., Isaksen, L., Kållberg, P., Köhler, M., Matricardi, M., McNally, A.P., Monge-Sanz, B.M., Morcrette, J.-J., Park, B.-K., Peubey, C., de Rosnay, P., Tavolato, C., Thépaut, J.-N., Vitart, F. (2011) The ERA-Interim reanalysis: configuration and performance of the data assimilation system. Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society 137: 553-597. (SEQU)

- del Barrio, G., et al. (2006) Integrating multiple modelling approaches to predict the potential impacts of climate change on species' distributions in contrasting regions: comparison and implications for policy. Environmental Science and Policy 9: 129-147. (ECOS)
- Delmont, T.O., Malandain, C., Prestat, M., Larose, C., Monier, J.M., Simonet, P., Vogel, T.M. (2011) Metagenomic mining for microbiologists. ISME J 5:1837-1843. (ECOS)
- DeLong, E.F., Preston, C.M., Mincer, T., et al. (2006) Community genomics among stratified microbial assemblages in the ocean's interior. Science 311: 496-503. (ECOS)
- Dengler, J., Ewald, J., Kühn, I. & Peet, R.K. (2011a) Ecoinformatics and global change an overdue liaison. Journal of Vegetation Science, 22: 577–581.
- Dengler, J., Jansen, F., Glöckler, F., Peet, R.K., De Cáceres, M., Chytrý, M., et al. (2011b) The Global Index of Vegetation-Plot Databases (GIVD): a new resource for vegetation science. Journal of Vegetation Science, 22: 582–597.
- Déqué, M. (2007) Frequency of precipitation and temperature extremes over France in an anthropogenic scenario: Model results and statistical correction according to observed values. Global and Planetary Change 57: 16-26. (SEQU)
- Di Vittorio, A.V., Anderson, R.S., White, J.D., Miller, N.L., Running, S.W. (2010) Development and optimization of an Agro-BGC ecosystem model for C4 perennial grasses. Ecological Modelling 221: 2038–2053. doi:10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2010.05.013 (SEQU)
- Díaz, S., J.G. Hodgson, K. Thompson, M. Cabido, J.H.C. Cornelissen, A. Jalili, G. Montserrat-Martí, J.P. Grime, F. Zarrinkamar, Y. Asri, S.R. Band, S. Basconcelo, P. Castro-Díez, G. Funes, B. Hamzehee, M. Khoshnevi, N. Pérez-Harguindeguy, M.C. Pérez-Rontomé, F.A. Shirvany, F. Vendramini, S. Yazdani, R. Abbas-Azimi, A. Bogaard, S. Boustani, M. Charles, M. Dehghan, L. de Torres-Espuny, V. Falczuk, J. Guerrero-Campo, A. Hynd, G. Jones, E. Kowsary, F. Kazemi-Saeed, M. Maestro- 83 Martínez, A. Romo-Díez, S. Shaw, B. Siavash, P. Villar-Salvador, M.R. Zak (2004) The plant traits that drive ecosystems: Evidence from three continents. Journal of Vegetation Science 15: 295-304. (ECOS)
- Didham, R.K., J.M. Tylianakis, M.A. Hutchison, R.M. Ewers, N.J. Gemmell (2005) Are invasive species the drivers of ecological change? Trends in Ecology and Evolution 20:470–474. (INVA)
- Diepen, C.A., et al. (1989) WOFOST: a simulation model of crop production. Soil Use and Management 5: 16-24. (ECOS)
- Dinsdale, E.A., Edwards, R.A., Hall, D., Angly, F., Breitbart, M., Brulc, J.M., et al (2008) Functional metagenomic profiling of nine biomes. Nature 452: 629-632. (ECOS)
- Doney, S.C., K. Lindsay, K. Caldeira, J.-M. Campin, H. Drange, J.-C. Dutay, M. Follows, Y. Gao, A. Gnanadesikan, N. Gruber, A. Ishida, F. Joos, G. Madec, E. Maier-Reimer, J.C. Marshall, R.J. Matear, P. Monfray, A. Mouchet, R. Najjar, J.C. Orr, G.-K. Plattner, J. Sarmiento, R. Schlitzer, R. Slater, I.J. Totterdell, M.-F. Weirig, Y. Yamanaka, A. Yool (2004) Evaluating global ocean carbon models: The importance of realistic physics. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 18, GB3017, 1-22.
- Dormann, C.F. (2007). Promising the future? Global change projections of species distribution. Basic and Applied Ecology 8: 387-397. (INVA)
- DoW (2011) Description of Work, Annex I of the BioVel Biodiversity Virtual e-Laboratory project (Grant agreement no: FP7-283359), Unpublished, Cardiff University, United Kiingdom
- Dubois, G., Hartley, A., Nelson, A., Mayaux, P., Grégoire, J.M. (2009) Towards an interoperable web service for the monitoring of African protected areas. In Proceedings of the 33rd International Symposium on Remote Sensing of Environment (ISRSE), May 4-8, 2009, Stresa, Italy. p. 4. (ECOS)

#### BioVel

- Eagle A, Eiswerth M, Johnson W, Schoenig S, Cornelis van Kooten G (2007) Costs and losses imposed on California ranchers by yellow starthistle. Rangeland Ecol Manage 60:369–377. (INVA)
- Eastaugh, C.S., Petritsch, R., Hasenauer, H. (2010) Climate characteristics across the Austrian forest estate from 1960 to 2008. Austrian Journal of Forest Science 127: 133-146. (SEQU)
- Easterling, M. R., S. P. Ellner, and P. M. Dixon. 2000. Size-specific sensitivity: Applying a new structured population model. Ecology 81:694-708. (INVA)
- EEA (2006) Land accounts for Europe 1990-2000. Towards integrated land and ecosystem accounting. EEA report 11/2006, Copenhagen (ECOS)
- Elith, J., Graham, C.H., Anderson, R.P., Dutik, M., Ferrier, S., Guisan, A., Hijmans, R.J., Huettmann, F., Leathwick, J.R., Lehmann, A.L., Li, J., Lohman, L.G., Loiselle, B.A., Manion, G., Moritz, C., Nakamura, M., Nakazawa, Y., Overton, J.M.C., Peterson, A.T., Phillips, S.J., Richardson, K., Scachetti-Pereira, R., Shapire, R.E., Soberon, J., Williams, S., Wisz, M.S., Zimmermann, N.E. 2006. Novel methods improve prediction of species' distributions from occurrence data. Ecography 29: 129-151. (INVA)
- Ellis, M. M., and C. S. Elphick. 2007. Using a stochastic model to examine the ecological, economic and ethical consequences of population control in a charismatic invasive species: mute swans in North America. Journal of Applied Ecology 44:312-322. (INVA)
- Epanchin-Niell R, Englin J, Nalle D (2009). Investing in rangeland restoration in the arid west, USA: countering the effects of an invasive weed on the long-term fire cycle. J Envir Manage 91:370–379. (INVA)
- European Commission (2011) Our life insurance, our natural capital: an EU biodiversity strategy to 2020 – COM (2011) 244 final, p. 16. (<u>http://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/biodiversity/</u> <u>comm2006/2020.htm</u>) (ECOS)
- Feng, M., Liu, S., Euliss, N.H., Young, C., Mushet, D.M. (2011) Prototyping an online wetland ecosystem services model using open model sharing standards. Environmental Modelling and Software 26: 458-468. (ECOS)
- Ferrier, S. 2002. Mapping spatial pattern in biodiversity for regional conservation planning: where to from here? Syst. Biol. 51: 331-363. (INVA)
- Fierer, N., Bradford, M.A., Jackson, R.B. (2007) Toward an Ecological Classification of Soil Bacteria. Ecology 88: 1354-1364. (ECOS)
- Flato, G.M., Boer, G.J., Lee, W.G., McFarlane, N.A., Ramsden, D., Reader, M.C., Weaver, A.J. 1999. The Canadian Center for Climate Modelling and Analysis Global Coupled Model and its climate. Clim. Dyn. 16: 451-467. (INVA)
- Frias-Lopez, J., Shi, Y., Tyson, G.W., et al. (2008) Microbial community gene expression in ocean surface waters. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105: 3805-3810. (ECOS)
- Friedlingstein, P., Prentice, I. (2010) Carbon-climate feedbacks: a review of model and observation based estimates. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability 2: 251-257. doi:10.1016/j.cosust.2010.06.002 (SEQU)
- Fuhrman, J.A. (2009) Microbial community structure and its functional implications. Nature 459: 193-199. (ECOS)
- Geller, G.N., Turner, W. (2007) The model web: A concept for ecological forecasting, in Proc. IEEE Int. Geosci. Remote Sens. Symp., Barcelona, Spain, Jul. 2007, pp. 2469-2472. (SEQU)
- Gerlach JD (2000) A model experimental system for predicting the invasion success and ecosystem impacts of nonindigenous summer-flowering annual plants in California's Central Valley grasslands and oak woodlands. PhD dissertation, University of California, Davis, CA. (INVA)

- Gil, Y., Deelman, E., Ellisman, M., Fahringer, T., Fox, G., Gannon, D., Goble, C., Livny, M., Moreau, L., Myers, J. (2007) Examining the Challenges of Scientific Workflows. IEEE Computer: 24-32. doi:10.1109/MC.2007.421 (SEQU)
- Glassy, J.M., S.W. Running (1994) Validating diurnal climatology of the MT-CLIM model across a climatic gradient in Oregon. Ecological Applications 4(2): 248-257. (ECOS)
- Global Carbon Project website (2010) <u>www.globalcarbonproject.org/carbonbudget/index.htm</u> (last accessed: July 2012) (SEQU)
- Global Footprint Network (2011) What happens when an infinite-growth economy runs into a finite planet? 2011 Annual Report. Global Footprint Network, Oakland-Brussels-Geneva, pp. 73. (ECOS)
- Goble, C., De Roure, D. (2009) The impact of workflow tools on data-centric research. In Hey, T., Tansley, S., Tolle, K. (eds.) Data Intensive Computing: The Fourth Paradigm of Scientific Discovery. Microsoft Research: 137-145. (SEQU)
- Gollasch, S. (2011). "NOBANIS Invasive Alien Species Fact Sheet Eriocheir sinensis." Online Database of the European Network on Invasive Alien Species - NOBANIS www.nobanis.org. Date of access 01/08/2012. (INVA)
- Grabherr, G., Kojima, S. (1993) Vegetation Diversity and Classification Systems. In Solomon & Shugart (eds.) Vegetation Dynamics and Global Change. Chapman & Hall, New York, pp. 218-232. (ECOS)
- Greft-van Rossum, J.G.M., et al. (2008) Modelling the suitability of ecological networks for plant species. In Mucina, et al. (eds.) Frontiers of vegetation science - an evolutionary angle. Keith Pilips Images, Somerset West, pp. 194-195. (ECOS)
- Grime, J.P. (1977) Evidence for the existence of three primary strategies in plants and its relevance to ecological and evolutionary theory. American Naturalist 111: 1169-1194. (ECOS)
- Grime, J.P. (2001) Plant Strategies, Vegetation Processes, and Ecosystem Properties. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester (ECOS)
- Grinnell, J. 1917. Field tests of theories concerning distributional control. Am. Nat. 51: 115-128. (INVA)
- Grizzetti, B., et al. (2005) A statistical method for source apportionment of riverine nitrogen loads. Journal of Hydrology 304: 302-315. (ECOS)
- Grizzetti, B., et al. (2008) Assessing nitrogen pressures on European surface water. Global Biogeochemical Cycling 22: 1-14. (ECOS)
- Groffman, P.M., Baron, J.S., Blett, T., Gold, A.J., Goodman, I., Gunderson, L.H., et al. (2006) Ecological thresholds: the key to successful environmental management or an important concept with no practical application? Ecosystems 9: 1-13. (ECOS)
- Guisan, A., Thuiller, W. 2005. Predicting species distribution: offering more than simple habitat models. Ecology Letters 8: 993-1009. (INVA)
- Guralnick, R.P., Hill, A.W., Lane M. 2007. Towards a collaborative, global infrastructure for biodiversity assessment. Ecology Letters 10(8): 663-672. (INVA)
- Gurevitch, J., D.K. Padilla (2004) Are invasive species a major cause of extinctions? Trends in Ecology and Evolution 19:470–474. (INVA)
- Hagler, J.R., C.G. Jackson. 2001. Methods for marking insects: Current techniques and future prospects. Annual Review of Entomology 46:511-543. (INVA)
- Haines-Young, R., Potschin, M. (2010) Proposal for a Common International Classification of Ecosystem Goods and Services (CICES) for Integrated Environmental and Economic Accounting

(V1). Centre for Environmental Management, School of Geograophy, University of Nottingham, Nottingham (ECOS)

- Haines-Young, R., Potschin, M., Kienast, F. (2012) Indicators of ecosystem service potential at European scales: Mapping marginal changes and trade-offs. Ecological Indicators 21: 39-53. (ECOS)
- Handelsman, J., Rondon, M.R., Brady, S.F., Clardy, J., Goodman, R.M. (1998) Molecular biological access to the chemistry of unknown soil microbes: a new frontier for natural products. Chem Biol 5: R245-R249. (ECOS)
- Hansen, M. J. 2007. Evaluating management strategies and recovery of an invasive grass (Agropyron cristatum) using matrix population models. Biological Conservation 140:91-99. (INVA)
- Hanson, P.J., Amthor, J.S., Wullschleger, S.D., Wilson, K.B., Grant, R.F., Hartley, A., et al. (2004) Oak Forest Carbon and Water Simulations: Model Intercomparisons and Evaluations Against Independent Data. Ecological Monographs 74: 443-489. (ECOS)
- Hantula, J. (2010). Heterobasidion parviporum in Finland: expectations for climatic change. In: Mery, G., Katila, P., Galloway, G., Alfaro, R.I., Kanninen, M., Lobovikov, M. & Varjo, J. (eds.). Forests and Society - Responding to Global Drivers of Change. IUFRO World Series 25: 266. ISBN 978-3-901347-93-1 (INVA)
- Hantula, J., Müller, M. & Lilja, A. (2010). New forest epidemics in northern Europe. In: Mery, G., Katila, P., Galloway, G., Alfaro, R.I., Kanninen, M., Lobovikov, M. & Varjo, J. (eds.). Forests and Society -Responding to Global Drivers of Change. IUFRO World Series 25: 124. ISBN 978-3-901347-93-1 (INVA)
- Harrison, P.A., Berry, P.M., Butt, N., New, M. 2006. Modelling climate change impacts on species' distributions at the European scale: implications for conservation policy. Environmental Science and Policy 9: 116-128. (INVA)
- Harrison, P.A., Vandewalle, M., Sykes, M.T., Berry, P.M., Bugter, R.J.F., Bello, F. de, Feld, C.K., Grandin, U., Harrington, R., Haslett, J.R., Jongman, R.H.G., Luck, G.W., Martins da Silva, P., Moora, M., Settele, J., Sousa, J.P., Zobel, M. (2010) Identifying and prioritising services in European terrestrial and freshwater ecosystems. Biodiversity and Conservation 19(10): 2791-2822. (ECOS)
- Harte, J., Ostling, A., Green, J.L., Kinzig, A. 2004. Biodiversity conservation: climate change and extinction risk. Nature 430: 33-35. (INVA)
- Hasenauer, H., Merganicová, K., Pietsch, S.A. (2005) Modeling biogeochemical cycles within old-growth forest ecosystems. For Snow Landsc Res 79: 81-90. (ECOS)
- Hasenauer, H., Petritsch, R., Zhao, M., Boisvenue, C., Running, S.W. (2012) Reconciling satellite with ground data to estimate forest productivity at national scales. Forest Ecology and Management 276: 196-208. (ECOS)
- Haylock, M.R., Hofstra, N., Klein Tank, A.M.G., Klok, E.J., Jones, P.D., New, M. (2008) A European daily high-resolution gridded data set of surface temperature and precipitation for 1950-2006. Journal of Geophysical Research: 113, D20119. doi: 10.1029/2008JD010201 (SEQU)
- Hebert, P.D.N., S. Ratnasingham, et al. (2003) Barcoding animal life: cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1 divergences among closely related species. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences 270: S96-S99. (INVA)
- Hejda M, Pyšek P, Jarošik V (2009) Impact of invasive plants on the species richness, diversity and composition of invaded communities. J Ecol 97:393–403. (INVA)
- Helbling, D.E., et al. (2012) The activity level of a microbial community function can be predicted from its metatranscriptome. ISME J. 6: 902–904. (ECOS)

- Hidy, D., Barcza, Z., Haszpra, L., Churkina, G., Pintér, K., Nagy, Z. (2012) Development of the Biome-BGC model for simulation of managed herbaceous ecosystems. Ecological Modelling 226: 99-119. (ECOS, SEQU)
- Hijmans, R.J., Cameron, S.E., Parra, J.L. et al. 2005. Very high resolution interpolated global terrestrial climate surfaces. International Journal of Climatology 25: 1965-1978. (INVA)
- Hijmans, R.J., Cameron, S.E., Parra, J.L., Jones, P.G., Jarvis, A. (2005) Very high resolution interpolated climate surfaces for global land areas. International Journal of Climatology 25: 1965-1978. (SEQU)
- Hlásny, T., Barcza, Z., Fabrika, M., Balázs, B., Churkina, G., Pajtík, J., Sedmák, R., Turčáni, M. (2011) Climate change impacts on growth and carbon balance of forests in Central Europe. Climate Research 47: 219-246. doi: 10.3354/cr01024 (SEQU)
- Hoagland P, Jin D (2006) Science and economics in the management of an invasive species. Bioscience 56: 931–935. (INVA)
- Hobbs, R.J., L.F. Huenneke (1992) Disturbance, diversity, and invasion: implications for conservation. Conservation Biology 6:324–337. (INVA)
- Högberg, P. (2012) What is the quantitative relation between nitrogen deposition and forest carbon sequestration? Global Change Biology 18: 1-2. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02553.x (SEQU)
- Holman, I., et al. (2010) Report describing the Integrated Assessment Platform (IAP) specification, meta-model specifications and the multi-scale approach. CLIMSAVE Deliverable 2.1. (ECOS)
- Holman, I., Harrison, P.A. (eds) (2011) Report describing the development and validation of the sectoral metamodels for integration into the IA platform. CLIMSAVE Deliverable 2.2. (ECOS)
- Hooper, D., Chapin, F., Ewel, J.J., Hector, A., Inhausti, P., et al. (2005) Effects of biodiversity on ecosystem functioning: a consensus of current knowledge. Ecological Monographs 75: 3-35. (ECOS)
- Hsu, R.C.C., Tamis W.L.M., Raes N., de Snoo G.R., Wolf J.H.D., Oostermeijer J.G.B., Lin S.-H. (2012) Simulating climate change impacts on forests and associated vascular epiphytes in a subtropical island of East Asia. Diversity and Distributions 18:334-347.
- Hull, D., K. Wolstencroft, et al. (2006). "Taverna: a tool for building and running workflows of services." Nucleic Acids Research 34: W729-W732. (INVA)
- Hulme PE (2009) Trade, transport and trouble: managing invasive species pathways in an era of globalization J Appl Ecol 46:10–18. (INVA)
- Hulme PE, Pyšek P, Nentwig W, Vilà M (2009a) Will Threat of Biological Invasions Unite the European Union? Science 324:40-41. (INVA)
- Hulme PE, Roy DB, Cunha T, Larsson T-B. (2009b) A pan-European inventory of alien species: rationale, implementation and implications for managing biological invasions. In: DAISIE (Eds). Handbook of alien species in Europe. Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer. (INVA)
- Huston, M.A. (2004) Management strategies for plant invasions: manipulating productivity, disturbance, and competition. Diversity and Distributions 10:167–178. (INVA)
- Huston, M.A. 2002. Introductory essay: critical issues for improving predictions. In: Predicting Species Occurrences: Issues of Accuracy and Scale. (Eds. by Scott, Heglund, Morrison, Haufler, Raphael, Wall & Samson). Island Press, Covelo, CA, pp. 7-21. (INVA)
- Huxel GR. 1999. Rapid displacement of native species by invasive species: effects of hybridization. Biol Conserv 89:143–152. (INVA)

- Ilves, K., W. Huang, J.P. Wares, and M. J. Hickerson (2010) Congruent histories of colonization and/or mitochondrial selective sweeps across the North Atlantic intertidal assemblage. Molecular Ecology; 19: 4505-4519. (INVA)
- Ines, A., Hansen, J. (2006) Bias correction of daily GCM rainfall for crop simulation studies. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 138: 44–53 (SEQU)
- IPCC (2001) IPCC third assessment report, Climate Change 2001: a synthesis report. Summary for policymakers. IPCC Plenary XVIII. Wembley, United Kingdom, pp. 121-124. (INVA)
- IPCC (2007). Summary for policymakers. In Solomon, S., D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K.B. Avyret, et al. (Eds.), Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science basis. Contribution of Working Group 1 to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (pp. 1-18). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA. (INVA)
- IPCC (2007a) Climate Change 2007: The physical science basis. In Solomon, S., Qin, D., Manning, M., Chen, Z., Marquis, M., Averyt, K.B., Tignor, M., Miller H.L. (eds.) Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the IPCC. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York (SEQU)
- IPCC (2007b) Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. In Parry, M.L., Canziani, O.F., Palutikof, J.P., van der Linden, P.J., Hanson, C.E (eds.) Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 976 p. (SEQU)
- Iverson, V., R.M. Morris, C.D. Frazar, C.T. Berthiaume, R.L. Morales, E.V. Armbrust (2012) Untangling genomes from metagenomes: revealing an uncultured class of marine Euryarchaeota. Science 335: 587-590. (ECOS)
- Jänicke, S., R. Stockmann, C. Mahnke, C. Heine, G. Scheuermann (2011) Comparative Visual Exploration of Geo-Temporal Data, In Eurographics / IEEE-VGTC Symposium on Visualization 2011, Volume 30, Number 3. (INVA)
- Janssen, S.J.C., et al. (2011) Linking models for assessing agricultural land use change. Computers and Electronics in Agriculture 76(2): 148-160. (ECOS)
- Janßen, T., Schmidt, M., Dressler, S., Hahn, K., Hien, M., Konaté, S., et al. (2011) Addressing data property rights concerns and providing incentives for collaborative data pooling: the West African Vegetation Database approach. Journal of Vegetation Science, 22: 614–620.
- Jayakumar, A., O' Mullan, G.D., Naqvi, S.W.A., et al. (2009) Denitrifying Bacterial Community Composition Changes Associated with Stages of Denitrification in Oxygen Minimum Zones. Microbial Ecology 58(2): 350-362. (ECOS)
- Jodha, S., Khalsa, S., Nativi, S., Geller, G.N. (2009) The GEOSS Interoperability Process Pilot Project (IP3). IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing 47: 80-91. (ECOS)
- Jongejans, E., A. W. Sheppard, and K. Shea. 2006. What controls the population dynamics of the invasive thistle Carduus nutans in its native range? Journal Of Applied Ecology 43:877-886. (INVA)
- Jongejans, E., O. Skarpaas, and K. Shea. 2008. Dispersal, demography and spatial population models for conservation and control management. Perspectives in Plant Ecology Evolution and Systematics 9:153-170. (INVA)
- Joseph, L. 2003. Predicting distributions of South American migrant birds in fragmented environments: a possible approach based on climate. In: How landscapes change: human disturbance and ecosystem fragmentation in the Americas (ed. G.A. Bradshaw & P. Marquet), pp. 263-284. Springer, Berlin (INVA)

- Kacsuk, P., Kovács, J., Farkas, Z., Marosi, A.Cs., Gombás, G., Balaton, Z. (2009) SZTAKI desktop grid (SZDG): a flexible and scalable desktop grid system. Journal of Grid Computing 7: 439-461. (SEQU)
- Kalnay, E., Kanamitsu, M., Kirtler, R., Collins, W., Deaven, D., Gandin, L., Iredell, M., Saha, S., White, G., Woollen, J., Zhu, Y., Chelliah, M., Ebisuzaki, W., Higgins, W., Janowiak, J., Mo, K.C., Ropelewski, C., Wang, J., Leetma, A., Reynolds, R., Jenne, R., Joseph, D. (1996) The NCEP/NCAR 40-year reanalysis project. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society 77: 437-471. (SEQU)
- Kanary, L., A. Locke, J. Watmough, J. Chasse, D. Bourque, and A. Nadeau. 2011. Predicting larval dispersal of the vase tunicate Ciona intestinalis in a Prince Edward Island estuary using a matrix population model. Aquatic Invasions 6:491-506. (INVA)
- Kattge, J., Díaz, S., Lavorel, S., Prentice, I.C., Leadley, P., Bönisch, G., et al. (2011) TRY a global database of plant traits. Global Change Biology 17: 2905-2935. (ECOS)
- Kaye, T. N., and D. A. Pyke. 2003. The effect of stochastic technique on estimates of population viability from transition matrix models. Ecology 84:1464-1476. (INVA)
- Kaye, T. N., K. L. Pendergrass, K. Finley, and J. B. Kauffman. 2001. The effect of fire on the population viability of an endangered prairie plant. Ecological Applications 11:1366-1380. (INVA)
- Keane, R.M., M.J. Crawley (2002) Exotic plant invasions and the enemy release hypothesis. Trends in Ecology and Evolution17:164–170. (INVA)
- Kearney, M., Porter, W. 2009. Mechanistic niche modeling: combining physiological and spatial data to predict species' ranges. Ecology Letters 12(4): 334-350. (INVA)
- Keith, D. A., H. R. Akçakaya, W. Thuiller, G. F. Midgley, R. G. Pearson, S. J. Phillips, H. M. Regan, M. B. Araujo, and T. G. Rebelo. 2008. Predicting extinction risks under climate change: coupling stochastic population models with dynamic bioclimatic habitat models. Biology Letters 4:560-563. (INVA)
- Kennedy, T.A., S. Naeem, K.M. Howe, J.M.H. Knops, D. Tilman, P. Reich (2002) Biodiversity as a barrier to ecological invasion. Nature 417:636–638. (INVA)
- Khalsa, S.J.S., Nativi, S., Geller, G.N. (2009) The GEOSS Interoperability Process Pilot Project (IP3). IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing 47: 80-91. (SEQU)
- Kienast, F., et al. (2009) Assessing landscape functions with broad-scale environmental data: Insights gained from a prototype development for Europe. Environmental Management 44: 1099-1120. (ECOS)
- Kimball, J.S., Keyser, A. R., Running, S.W., Saatchi, S.S. (2000) Regional assessment of boreal forest productivity using an ecological process model and remote sensing parameter maps. Tree Physiology 20: 761-775. (ECOS, SEQU)
- Kimball, J.S., Running, S.W., Nemani, R. (1997) An improved method for estimating surface humidity from daily minimum temperature. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 85: 87-98. (ECOS, SEQU)
- Klironomos JN (2002) Feedback with soil biota contributes to plant rarity and invasiveness in communities. Nature 414:67-70. (INVA)
- Knops, J.M.H., D. Tilman, N.M. Haddad, S. Naeem, C.E. Mitchell, J. Haarstad, M.E. Ritchie, K.M. Howe, P.B. Reich, E. Siemann, J. Groth (1999) Effects of plant species richness on invasion dynamics, disease outbreaks, insect abundances and diversity. Ecological Letters 2:286-293. (INVA)
- Knyazikhin, Y., Glassy, J., Privette, J.L., Tian, Y., Lotsch, A., Zhang, Y., Wang, Y., Morisette, J.T., Votava, P., Myneni, R.B., Nemani, R.R., Running, S.W. (1999) MODIS Leaf Area Index (LAI) and

Fraction of Photosynthetically Active Radiation Absorbed by Vegetation (FPAR) Product (MOD15) algorithm theoretical basis document. (<u>http://modis.gsfc.nasa.gov/data/atbd/atbd\_mod15.pdf</u>) (SEQU)

- Koelewijn, H. P., M. Perez-Haro, H. A. H. Jansman, M. C. Boerwinkel, J. Bovenschen, D. R. Lammertsma, F. J. J. Niewold, and A. T. Kuiters. 2010. The reintroduction of the Eurasian otter (Lutra lutra) into the Netherlands: hidden life revealed by noninvasive genetic monitoring. Conservation Genetics 11:601-614. (INVA)
- Kolar, C.S., D.M. Lodge (2000) Freshwater nonindigenous species: Interactions with other global changes. Invasive species in a changing world. H. A. Mooney and R. J. Hobbs. Washington DC, Island Press: 3-30. (INVA)
- Kolar, C.S., D.M. Lodge (2002) Ecological predictions and risk assessment for alien fishes in North America. Science 298:1233–1236. (INVA)
- Kramer, K., Mohren, G.M.J. (2001) Long-term effects of climate change on carbon budgets of forests in Europe. Wageningen, Alterra, Green World Research. Report 194. (SEQU)
- Kriticos, D.J., Alexander, N.S., Kolomeitz, S.M. 2006. Predicting the potential geographic distribution of weeds 2080. 15th Australian Weeds Conference: managing Weeds in a Changing Climate (ed. By C. Preston, J.H. Watts, and N.D. Crossman), pp. 27-34. Weed Managemnet Society of South Autralia, Australia. (INVA)
- Kurz, WA, Dymond, CC, Stinson G, Rampley, GJ, Neilson ET, Carroll AL, Ebata T, Safranyik L (2008) Mountain pine beetle and forest carbon feedback to climate change. Nature 452, 987-990 doi:10.1038/nature06777 (INVA)
- Lakatos, M., Szentimrey, T., Bihari, Z., Szalai, S. (eds.) (2008) Proceedings of the Sixth Seminar for Homogenization and Quality Control in Climatological Databases. Budapest, Hungary, 26-30 May 2008. Climate Data and Monitoring WCDMP - No. 76 (SEQU)
- Latimer AM, Banerjee S, Sang H, Mosher ES, Silander, JA (2009) Hierarchical models facilitate spatial analysis of large data sets: a case study on invasive plant species in the northeastern United States. Ecol Lett 12:144–154. (INVA)
- Lauber, C.L., Hamady, M., Knight, R., et al. (2009) Pyrosequencing-based assessment of soil pH as a predictor of soil bacterial community structure at the continental scale. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 75(15): 5111-5120 (ECOS)
- Lavik, G., Stuhrmann, T., Bruchert, V., et al. (2009) Detoxification of sulphidic African shelf waters by blooming chemolithotrophs. Nature 457(7229): 581-586 (ECOS)
- Lavorel, S., E. Garnier (2002) Predicting changes in community composition and ecosystem functioning from plant traits: revisiting the Holy Grail. Functional Ecology 16: 545-556. (ECOS)
- Layke, C. (2009) Measuring Nature's Benefits: A Preliminary Roadmap for Improving Ecosystem Service Indicators. WRI Working Paper (ECOS)
- Le Quéré, C. (2010) Trends in the land an ocean carbon uptake. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability 2: 219-224.
- Le Quéré, C., M.R. Raupach, J.G. Canadell, G. Marland, L. Bopp, P. Ciais, T.J. Conway, S.C. Doney, R.A. Feely, P. Foster, P. Friedlingstein, K. Gurney, R.A. Houghton, J.I. House, C. Huntingford, P.E. Levy, M.R. Lomas, J. Majkut, N. Metzl, J.P. Ometto, G.P. Peters, I.C. Prentice, J.T. Randerson, S.W. Running, J.L. Sarmiento, U. Schuster, S. Sitch, T. Takahashi, N. Viovy, G.R. van der Werf, F.I. Woodward (2009) Trends in the sources and sinks of carbon dioxide. Nature Geoscience 2: 831-836. doi:10.1038/ngeo689 (SEQU)

- Leakey, A.D.B., Ainsworth, E.A., Bernacchi, C.J., Rogers, A., Long, S.P., Ort, D.R. (2009) Elevated CO2 effects on plant carbon, nitrogen, and water relations: six important lessons from FACE. Journal of Experimental Botany 60: 2859-76. doi:10.1093/jxb/erp096 (SEQU)
- Lennartsson, T., and J. G. B. Oostermeijer. 2001. Demographic variation and population viability in Gentianella campestris: effects of grassland management and environmental stochasticity. Journal of Ecology 89:451-463. (INVA)
- Leray, M., J.T. Boehm, et al. (2012) Moorea BIOCODE barcode library as a tool for understanding predator prey interactions. Coral Reefs. (INVA)
- Levine, J.M., Vilà, M, D'Antonio, C.M., Dukes, J.S., Grigulis, K., Lavorel, S. (2003) Mechanisms underlying the impacts of exotic plant invasions Proc R Soc Lond B 270:775–781. (INVA)
- Levine, J.M. (2000) Species diversity and biological invasions: relating local processes to community pattern. Science 288:761–763. (INVA)
- Lindelöv, Å,, Schroeder, M. (2008) The storm Gudrun and and the spruce bark beetle in Sweden. Forstschuzt Actuell 44: 5-7. (INVA)
- Linthurst, R.A., Goodman, I., Munns, W., Jackson, L., Vega, A., Marcy, S., et al. (2008) Ecological Research Program: Research Multi-Year Plan (2008-2014). Environmental Protection. (ECOS)
- Liski, J., et al. (2005) Carbon and decomposition model Yasso for forest soils. Ecological Modelling 189: 168-182. (ECOS)
- Loope, L.L., P.G. Snowcroft (1985) Vegetation response within enclosures in Hawaii: a review. pp 377– 400 in Stone (ed.) Hawai'i's terrestrial ecosystems: preservation and management. University of Hawaii Press, Honolulu, Hawaii, USA. (INVA)
- Lopez-Gonzalez, G., Lewis, S.L., Burkitt, M. & Phillips, O.L. (2011) ForestPlots.net: a web application and research tool to manage and analyse tropical forest plot data. Journal of Vegetation Science, 22: 610–613.
- Loreau, M., Naeem, S., Inchausti, P., Bengtsson, J., Grime, J.P., Hector, A., et al. (2001) Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: current knowledge and future challenges. Science (New York, N.Y.) 294: 804-808. (ECOS)
- Louette, G., et al. (2010) BioScore Cost-effective assessment of policy impact on biodiversity using species sensitivity scores. Journal for Nature Conservation 18: 142-148. (ECOS)
- Louhichi, K., et al. (2010) FSSIM, a bio-economic farm model for simulating the response of EU farming systems to agricultural and environmental policies. Agricultural Systems 103: 585-597. (ECOS)
- Lozupone, C., Knight, R. (2005) UniFrac: a new phylogenetic method for comparing microbial communities. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 71(12): 8228-8235. (ECOS)
- Lozupone, C.A., Hamady, M., Kelley, S.T., et al. (2007) Quantitative and qualitative beta diversity measures lead to different insights into factors that structure microbial communities. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 73(5): 1576-1585. (ECOS)
- Luck, G.W., R. Harrington, P.A. Harrison, C. Kremen, P.M. Berry, R. Bugter, T.P. Dawson, F. de Bello, S. Díaz, Ch.K. Feld, J.R. Haslett, D. Hering, A. Kontogianni, S. Lavorel, M. Rounsevell, M.J. Samways, L. Sandin, J. Settele, M.T. Sykes, S. van den Hove, M. Vandewalle, M. Zobel (2009) Quantifying the contribution of organisms to the provision of ecosystem services. Bioscience 59(3): 223-235. (ECOS)
- Ludäscher, B., I. Altintas, S. Bowers, J. Cummings, T. Critchlow, E. Deelman, D.D. Roure, J. Freire, C. Goble, M. Jones, S. Klasky, T. McPhillips, N. Podhorszki, C. Silva, I. Taylor, M. Vouk (2009) Scientific Process Automation and Workflow Management. Chapter 13 In Shoshani & Rotem

(eds.) Scientific Data Management: Challenges, Existing Technology, and Deployment, Computational Science Series, Chapman & Hall/CRC (SEQU)

- Luoto, M., Kuussaari, M., Toivonen, T. 2002. Modelling butterfly distribution based on remote sensing data. Journal of Biogeography 29: 1027-1037. (INVA)
- Luoto, M., Pöyry, J., Heikkinen, R.K., Saarinen, K. 2005. Uncertainty of bioclimate envelope models based on the geographical distribution of species. Global Ecology and Biogeography 14(6): 575–584. (INVA)
- Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa, P. & Tomppo E. (2002). Impact of sawfly defoliation on growth of Scots pine Pinus sylvestris (Pinaceae) and associated economic losses. Bulletin of Entomological Research, 92: 137–140. (INVA)
- Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa, P., Holopainen, M., Ilvesniemi, S. & Haapanen, R. (2008). Detecting pine sawfly defoliation by means of remote sensing and GIS. Forstschutz Aktuell, 44: 14–15. (INVA)
- Lyytikäinen-Saarenmaa, P., Varama, M., Anderbrant, O., Kukkola, M., Kokkonen, A.-M., Hederström, E., Högberg, E. (2006). Monitoring the European pine sawfly in maturing Scots pine stands with pheromone traps. Agricultural and Forest Entomology, 8: 7–15. (INVA)
- Ma, S., Churkina, G., Wieland, R., Gessler, A. (2011) Optimization and evaluation of the ANTHRO-BGC model for winter crops in Europe. Ecological Modelling 222: 3662-3679. doi:10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2011.08.025 (SEQU)
- MacIsaac, H.J. (1996) Potential abiotic and bioticimpacts of zebra mussels on the inland waters of North America. American Zoologist 36:287–299. (INVA)
- MacIsaac, H.J., W.G. Sprules, O.E. Johannsson, J.H. Leach (1992) Filtering impacts of larval and sessile zebra mussels (Dreissena polymorpha) in western Lake Erie. Oecologia 92:30–39. (INVA)
- Mack, R.N., D. Simberloff, W.M. Lonsdale, H. Evans, M. Clout, F.A. Bazzaz (2000) Biotic invasions: causes, epidemiology, global consequences, and control. Ecological Applications 10:689–710. (INVA)
- Maes, J., Paracchini, M.L., Zulian, G. (2011) A European Assessment of the Provision of Ecosystem Services: Towards an Atlas of Ecosystem Services. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg (ECOS)
- Magnani, F., Mencuccini, M., Borghetti, M., Berbigier, P., Berninger, F., Delzon, S., Grelle, A., Hari, P., Jarvis, P.G., Kolari, P., Kowalski, A.S., Lankreijer, H., Law, B.E., Lindroth, A., Loustau, D., Manca, G., Moncrieff, J.B., Rayment, M., Tedeschi, V., Valentini, R., Grace, J. (2007) The human footprint in the carbon cycle of temperate and boreal forests. Nature 447: 848-850. (SEQU)
- Mainka, S. A. and G. W. Howard (2010). "Climate change and invasive species: double jeopardy." Integrative Zoology 5(2): 102-111. (INVA)
- Manchester, S.J., Bullock, J.M. (2000) The impacts of non-native species on UK biodiversity and the effectiveness of control. J Appl Ecol 37:845–864. (INVA)
- Mapendembe, A. (ed.) (2009) Report from the workshop on Ecosystem Service Indicators Developing and mainstreaming ecosystem service indicators for human wellbeing: Gaps, opportunities and next steps. UNEP World Conservation Monitoring Centre, Cambridge (UK) (ECOS)
- Marchetti, M.P., P.B. Moyle, R. Levine (2004) Alien fishes in California watersheds: characteristics of successful and failed invaders. Ecological Applications 14:587–596. (INVA)
- Marosi, A.Cs., Balaton, Z., Kacsuk, P. (2009) GenWrapper: A Generic Wrapper for Running Legacy Applications on Desktop Grids. Proceedings of the 23<sup>rd</sup> IEEE International Prallel and Distributed Processing Symposium, pp. 1-6. (ECOS)

- Marrero-Gómez, M. V., J. G. B. Oostermeijer, E. Carqué-Alamo, and A. Bañares-Baudet. 2007. Population viability of the narrow endemic Helianthemum juliae (CISTACEAE) in relation to climate variability. Biological Conservation 136:552-562. (INVA)
- Martinez-Meyer, E., Peterson, A.T., Navarro-Siguenza, A. 2004. Evolution of seasonal ecological niches in the Passerina buntings (Aves: Cardinalidae). Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B 271: 1151-1157. (INVA)
- Maslin, M., Austin, P. (2012) Climate models at their limit? Nature 486: 183-184. (SEQU)
- Matsen, F.A., R.B. Kodner, et al. (2010) pplacer: linear time maximum-likelihood and Bayesian phylogenetic placement of sequences onto a fixed reference tree. BMC Bioinformatics 11: 538 (INVA)
- Maué, P., Stasch, C. (2010) Web Service Standards for Environmental Models. In Proceedings of INSPIRE Conference 2010. p. 3. (ECOS)
- McGeoch MA, Butchart SHM, Spear D, Marais E, Kleynhans EJ, Symes A, Chanson J, Hoffmann M (2010) Global indicators of biological invasion: species numbers, biodiversity impact and policy responses. Div Distrib 16:95–108. (INVA)
- Merganičová, K., Pietsch, S. A., Hasenauer, H. (2005) Testing mechanistic modeling to assess impacts of biomass removal. Forest Ecology and Management 207: 37-57. (ECOS)
- Merrill, R., Gutierrez, D., Levis, O., Gutierrez, J., Diez, S., Wilson, R. 2008. Combined effects of climate and biotic interactions on the elevational range of a phytophagous insect. Journal of Animal Ecology 77: 145-155. (INVA)
- Mika, A.M., Newman, J.A. 2010. Climate change scenarios and models yield conflicting predictions about the future risk of an invasive species in North America. Agricultural and Forest Entomology 12: 213-221. (INVA)
- Mika, A.M., Weiss, R.M., Olfert, O., Hallet, R.H., Newman, J.A. 2008. Will climate change be beneficial or detrimental to the invasive swede midge in North America? Contrasting predictions using climate projections from different general circulation models. Global Change Biology 14: 1721-1733. (INVA)
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (2005a) Ecosystems and Human Well-being: General Synthesis. Island Press, Washington DC (ECOS) (INVA)
- Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (2005b) Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Biodiversity Synthesis. Island Press, Washington DC (ECOS)
- Mitchell, C.E., A.G. Power (2003) Release of invasive plants from fungal and viral pathogens. Nature 421:625–627. (INVA)
- Mitchell, T., Carter, T.R., Jones, P.D., Hulme, M., New, M. (2004) A comprehensive set of highresolution grids of monthly climate for Europe and the globe: the observed record (1901-2000) and 16 scenarios (2001-2100). Tyndall Centre, Working Paper 55. (SEQU)
- Mitra, S., Klar, B., Huson, D.H. (2009) Visual and statistical comparison of metagenomes. Bioinformatics 25(15): 1849-1855. (ECOS)
- Monteith, J. (1972) Solar radiation and productivity in tropical ecosystems. Journal of Applied Ecology 9: 747-766. (SEQU)
- Monteith, J. (1977) Climate and efficiency of crop production in Britain. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B 281: 277-294. (SEQU)
- Mooney, H.A. (2005) Invasive alien species: the nature of the problem. In Invasive Alien Species (Mooney, HA et al., eds), pp. 1–15, Island Press (INVA)

- Morris, J.A. & K.W. Shertzer, J.A. Rice. 2011. A stage-based matrix population model of invasive lionfish with implications for control. Biological Invasions 13:7-12. (INVA)
- Morris, W.F. & D.F. Doak 2002. Quantitative conservation biology: theory and practice of population viability analysis. Sinauer, Sunderland, MA. (INVA)
- Munoz, M.E.S., De Giovanni, R., Siqueira, M.F., Sutton, T., Brewer, P., Pereira, R.F., Lange Canhos, D.A., Canhos, V.P. 2011. openModeller: a generic approach to species' potential distribution modelling. Geoinformatica 15: 111-135. (INVA)
- Musolin, D.M. (2007). Insects in a warmer world: ecological, physiological and life-history responses of true bugs (Heteroptera) to climate change. Global Change Biology, 13, 1565-1585. (INVA)
- Myers, J.H., Simberloff, D., Kuris, A.M.. Carey, J.R. (2000) Eradication revisited: dealing with exotic species. Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 15, 316–320. (INVA)
- Naeem, S., Duffy, J.E., Zavaleta, E. (2012) The functions of biological diversity in an age of extinction. Science (New York, N.Y.) 336: 1401-1406. (ECOS)
- Nakicenovic, N., Swart, R. (eds.) (2000) Special Report on Emission Scenarios. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK (SEQU)
- Nativi, S., Mazzetti, P., Saarenmaa, H., Kerr, J. & Ó Tuama, É. (2008) Biodiversity and climate change use scenarios framework for the GEOSS interoperability pilot process. Ecological Informatics 4: 23-33. (INVA)
- Nelson, E., Mendoza, G., Regetz, J., Polasky, S., Tallis, H., Cameron, Dr., et al. (2009) Modeling multiple ecosystem services, biodiversity conservation, commodity production, and tradeoffs at landscape scales. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 7: 4-11. (ECOS)
- Nevalainen, S., Lindgren, M., Pouttu, A., Heinonen, J., Hongisto, M. & Neuvonen, S. 2010. Extensive tree health monitoring networks are useful in revealing the impacts of widespread biotic damage in boreal forests. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 168: 159-171. (INVA)
- Newman, J.A. 2006. Using the output from global circulation models to predict changes in the distribution and abundance of cereal aphids in Canada: a mechanistic modeling approach. Global Change Biology 12: 1634-1642. (INVA)
- Nold, S.C., Pangborn, J.B., Zajack, H.A., et al. (2010) Benthic bacterial diversity in submerged sinkhole ecosystems. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 76(1): 347-351. (ECOS)
- Oberhauser, K., Peterson, A.T. 2003. Modeling current and future potential wintering distributions of eastern North American monarch butterflies. PNAS 100(24): 14063-14068. (INVA)
- Odum, H.T. (1983) Systems Ecology: An Introduction, John Wiley & Sons, New York, pp. 644. (ECOS)
- OECD (2004) OECD Key environmental indicators. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Paris (<u>www.oecd.org/dataoecd/32/20/31558547.pdf</u>) (ECOS)
- Oostermeijer, J.G.B., S.H. Luijten, and J.C.M. den Nijs. 2003. Integrating demographic and genetic approaches in plant conservation. Biological Conservation 113:389-398. (INVA)
- Palmer, M.A., Bernhardt, E.S., Chornesky, E.A., Collins, S.L., Dobson, A.P., Duke, C.S., et al. (2005) Ecological science and sustainability for the 21<sup>st</sup> century. *Frontiers* in Ecology and the Environment 3: 4-11. (ECOS)
- Parker, I.M., D. Simberloff, W.M. Lonsdale, K. Goodell, M. Wonham, P.M. Kareiva, M.H. Williamson, B. Von Holle, P.B. Moyle, J.E. Byers, L. Goldwasser (1999) Impact: toward a framework for understanding the ecological effects of invaders. Biological Invasions 1:3–19. (INVA)
- Parks, D.H., Porter, M., Churcher, S., et al. (2009) GenGIS: A geospatial information system for genomic data. Genome Research 19(10): 1896-1904. (ECOS)

#### BioVel

- Parmesan, C. (2007). Influences of species, latitudes and methodologies on estimates of phonological response to global warming. Global Change Biology 13: 1860-1872. (INVA)
- Parmesan, C., Yohe, G. (2003) A globally coherent fingerprint of climate change impacts across natural systems. Nature (Lond.) 421: 37-42. (INVA)
- Patterson, B.D. (1999) Contingency and determinism in mammalian biogeography: the role of history. Journal of Mammalogy 80: 345-360. (INVA)
- Pearson, G.A., Hoarau, G., Lago-Leston, A., et al. (2010) An Expressed Sequence Tag Analysis of the Intertidal Brown Seaweeds Fucus serratus (L.) and F. vesiculosus (L.) (Heterokontophyta, Phaeophyceae) in Response to Abiotic Stressors. Marine Biotechnology 12(2): 195-213. (ECOS)
- Pearson, R.G., Dawson, T.E., Liu, C. (2004) Modelling species distributions in Britain: a hierarchical integration of climate and land-cover data. Ecography 27: 285-298. (INVA)
- Pearson, R.G., et al. (2002) SPECIES: a spatial evaluation of climate impact on the envelope of species. Ecological Modelling 154: 289-300. (ECOS)
- Pejchar L, Mooney HA (2009) Invasive species, ecosystem services and human well-being Trends in Ecol Evol 24:497-504. (INVA)
- Pellet, J., G. Maze, and N. Perrin (2006) The contribution of patch topology and demographic parameters to population viability analysis predictions: the case of the European tree frog. Population Ecology 48:353-361. (INVA)
- Pérot, T., et al. (2010) A model bridging distance-dependent and distance-independent tree models to simulate the growth of mixed forests. Annals of Forest Science 67(5): 502. (ECOS)
- Peterson, A.T. (2001) Predicting species' geographic distributions based on ecological niche modeling. Condor 103: 599-605. (INVA)
- Peterson, A.T., Martinez-Meyer, E., Conzales-Salazae, C., Hall, P.W. (2004) Modeled climate change effects on distributions of Canadian butterfly species. Canadian Journal of Zoology 82: 851-858. (INVA)
- Peterson, A.T., Williams, R., Chen, G. (2007) Modeled global invasive potential of Asian gypsy moths, *Lymantria dispar*. Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata 125: 39-44. (INVA)
- Pfab, M. F. & M.A. Scholes (2004) Is the collection of Aloe peglerae from the wild sustainable? An evaluation using stochastic population modelling. Biological Conservation 118:695-701. (INVA)
- Philips, S.J., Dudik, M. (2008) Modeling of species distributions with Maxent: new extensions and a comprehensive evaluation. Ecography 31: 161-175. (ECOS)
- Phillips, S.J., Anderson, R.P., Schapire, R.E. (2006) Maximum entropy modeling of species geographic distributions. Ecological Modelling 190: 231-259. (INVA)
- Pimentel, D., R. Zuniga, D. Morrison (2005) Update on the environmental and economic costs associated with alien- invasive species in the United States. Ecological Economics 52:273–288. (INVA)
- Pongrácz, R., Bartholy, J., Miklós, E. (2011) Analysis of projected climate change for Hungary using ENSEMBLES simulations. Applied Ecology and Environmental Research 9: 387-398. (SEQU)
- Pope, V.D., Gallani, M.L., Rowntree, V.J., Stratton, R.A. (2002) The impact of the new physical parametrizations in the Hadley Centre climate model HadAM3. Hadley Centre for Climate Prediction and Research, Bracknell, Berks, U.K. (INVA)
- Potschin, M., Haines-Young, R. (2011) Ecosystem services: Exploring a geographical perspective. Progress in Physical Geography 35(5): 575-594. (ECOS)

- Pouttu, A., Annila, E. (2010) Kirjanpainajalla kaksi sukupolvea kesällä 2010. Metsätieteen Aikakauskirja 4/2010: 521-523. (In Finnish) (INVA)
- Prater, M.R., Obrist, D., Arnone, J.A., DeLucia, E.H. (2006) Net carbon exchange and evapotranspiration in postfire and intact sagebrush communities in the Great Basin. Oecologia 146:595–607. (INVA)
- Pretzsch, H., Grote, R., Reineking, B., Rötzer, T., Seifert, S. (2008) Models for forest ecosystem management: a European perspective. Annals of Botany 101: 1065-1087. (ECOS)
- Prihodko, L., Denning, A.S., Hanan, N.P., Baker, I., Davis, K. (2008) Sensitivity, uncertainty and time dependence of parameters in a complex land surface model. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 148: 268-287. (ECOS)
- Quetier, F., et al. (2009) Assesing ecological and social uncertainty in the evaluation of land-use impacts on ecosystem services. Journal of Land Use Science 4: 173-199. (ECOS)
- Ramula, S., M. Rees, and Y. M. Buckley (2009) Integral projection models perform better for small demographic data sets than matrix population models: a case study of two perennial herbs. Journal of Applied Ecology 46:1048-1053. (INVA)
- Ratto, M., Tarantola, S., Saltelli, A. (2001) Sensitivity analysis in model calibration: GSA-GLUE approach. Computer Physics Communications 136: 212-224. (ECOS)
- Raymer, A.K., et al. (2009) A forest optimisation model including carbon flows: Application to a forest in Norway. Forest Ecology and Management 258: 579-589. (ECOS)
- Rees, M., and S. P. Ellner (2009) Integral projection models for populations in temporally varying environments. Ecological Monographs 79:575-594. (INVA)
- Régniére, J. (2009). Predicting insect continental distributions from species physiology. Unasylva, 60, 37-42. (INVA)
- Reichard, S., W. Hamilton (1997) Predicting invasions of woody plants introduced into North America. Conservation Biology 11:193–203. (INVA)
- Repo, A., et al. (2011) Indirect carbon dioxide emissions from producing bioenergy from forest harvest residues. GCB Bioenergy 3: 107-115. (ECOS)
- Reusch, T.B., Bolte, S., Sparwel, M., Moss, A.G., Javidpour, J. (2010) Microsatellites revealorigin and genetic diversity of Eurasian invasions by one of the world's most notorious marine invader, *Mnemiopsis leidyi* (Ctenophora). Mol Ecol. 19(13): 2690-2699. (INVA)
- Ricciardi, A. (2001) Facilitative interactions among aquatic invaders: is an "invasional meltdown" occurring in the Great Lakes? Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 58:2513–2525. (INVA)
- Ricciardi, A., MacIsaac, H.J. (2008) The book that began invasion ecology. Charles Elton's 50-year-old text on invasion ecology is now cited more than ever. Nature 652, 34. (INVA)
- Richardson, D., Pysek, P. (2008) Fifty years of invasion ecology the legacy of Charles Elton. Diversity and Distributions, 14: 161–168. (INVA)
- Richardson, D.M., N. Allsop, C.D. Antonio, S.J. Milton, M. Rejmanek (2000) Plant invasions. The role of mutualisms. Biological Review 75:65–93. (INVA)
- Rockström, J., Steffen, W., Noone, K., Persson, A., Chapin, F.S.I., Lambin, E., et al. (2009) Planetary Boundaries: Exploring the Safe Operating Space for Humanity. Ecology and Society 14: 32. (ECOS)

- Roman, D., Schade, S., Berre, A.J., Bodsberg, N.R., Langlois, J. (2009) Model as a service (MaaS). In Maué, P., Kiehle, C. (eds.) AGILE Workshop: Grid Technologies for Geospatial Applications. AGILE (ECOS)
- Rooij, S.V. et al. (2008) Adaptation of the landscape for biodiversity to climate change. BRANCH -Terrestrial case studies Limburg (NL), Kent and Hampshire (UK), BRANCH project report. (ECOS)
- Root, T.L., Price, J.T., Hall, K.R. (2003) 'Fingerprints' of global warming on anumals and plants. Nature 421: 57-60. (INVA)
- Ruesink, J.L., I.M. Parker, M.J. Groom, P.M. Kareiva (1995) Reducing the risks of nonindigenous species intro- ductions—guilty until proven innocent. Bioscience 45(7): 465–477. (INVA)
- Running, S.W., Coughlan, J.C. (1988) A general model of forest ecosystem processes for regionalapplications I. Hydrological balance, canopy gas exchange and primary production processes. Ecological Modelling 42: 125-154. (SEQU)
- Running, S.W., Gower, S.T. (1991) A general model of forest ecosystem processes for regional applications II. Dynamic carbon allocation and nitrogen budgets. Tree Physiology 9: 147-160. (SEQU)
- Running, S.W., Hunt, E.R.J. (1993) Generalization of a forest ecosystem process model for other biomes, BIOME-BGC, and an application for global-scale models. In Ehleringer, J.R., Field, C.B. (eds.) Scaling Physiological Processes: Leaf to Globe. San Diego, Academic Press, pp. 141-158. (SEQU)
- Running, S.W., Nemani, R.R., Glassy, J.M., Thornton, P.E. (1999) MODIS Daily Photosynthesis (PSN) and Annual Net Primary Production (NPP) product (MOD17) algorithm theoretical basis document. (<u>www.ntsg.umt.edu/modis/ATBD/ATBD\_MOD17\_v21.pdf</u>) (SEQU)
- Running, S.W., R.R. Nemani, R.D. Hungerford (1987) Extrapolation of synoptic meteorological data in mountainous terrain and its use for simulating forest evaporation and photosynthesis. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 17: 472-483. (ECOS, SEQU)
- Sakai, A.K., et al. (2001) The population biology of invasive species. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 32:305–332. (INVA)
- Santana, F.S., de Siqueira, M.F., Saraiva, A.M., Correa, P.L.P. (2008) A refrence business process for ecological niche modelling. Ecological Informatics 3: 75-86. (INVA)
- Santana, F.S., Murakami, E., Saraiva, A.M. (2007) A comparative study between precision agriculture and biodiversity modelling information systems. In: World Conference on Computers in Agriculture and Natural Resources (EFITA), pp. 1-6. (INVA)
- Saura, S., Rubio, L. (2010) A common currency for the different ways in which patches and links can contribute to habitat availability and connectivity in the landscape. Ecography 33: 523-537. (ECOS)
- Scachetti-Pereira (2002) Desktop GARP, <u>www.nhm.ku.edu/desktopgarp</u>. [accessed 20 July 2012] (INVA)
- Schade, S., Ostländer, N., Granell, C., Schulz, M., McInerney, D., Dubois, G., et al. (2012) Which Service Interfaces fit the Model Web ? In GEOProcessing 2012: The Fourth International Conference on Advanced Geographic Information Systems, Applications, and Services. IARIA, pp. 1-6. (ECOS)
- Scheffer, M. (2009) Critical Transitions in Nature and Society. Princeton University Press (ECOS)
- Schelhaas, M.J., P.W. van Esch, T.A. Groen, B.H.J. de Jong, M. Kanninen, J. Liski, O. Masera, G.M.J. Mohren, G.J. Nabuurs, T. Palosuo, L. Pedroni, A. Vallejo, T. Vilén (2004) CO2FIX V 3.1 A

modelling framework for quantifying carbon sequestration in forest ecosystems. Wageningen, Alterra, Alterra-rapport 1068. (ECOS)

- Schippers, P., et al. (2011) Metapopulation shift and survival of woodland birds under climate change: will species be able to track? Ecography (ECOS)
- Schloss, P.D., Handelsman, J. (2006b) Introducing TreeClimber, a test to compare microbial community structures. Appl Environ Microb 72: 2379-2384. (ECOS)
- Schloss, P.D., Handelsman, J. (2008) A statistical toolbox for metagenomics: assessing functional diversity in microbial communities. BMC Bioinformatics 9(34): 1-15. (ECOS)
- Schloss, P.D., J. Handelsman (2005) Introducing DOTUR, a computer program for defining operational taxonomic units and estimating species richness. Appl Environ Microbiol 71: 15011506. (ECOS)
- Schloss, P.D., J. Handelsman (2006a) Introducing SONS, a tool for operational taxonomic unit-based comparisons of microbial community memberships and structures. Appl Environ Microbiol 72: 6773-6779. (ECOS)
- Schmid, S., Zierl, B., Bugmann, H. (2006) Analyzing the carbon dynamics of central European forests: comparison of Biome-BGC simulations with measurements. Regional Environmental Change 6: 167-180. (ECOS)
- Scholes, R.J., Walters, M., Turak, E., Saarenmaa, H., Faith, D.P., Mooney, H.A., Heip, C.H.R., et al. (2012) Building a global observing system for biodiversity. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability, 4: 139–146. doi:10.1016/j.cosust.2011.12.005
- Schtickzelle, N., & M. Baguette (2004) Metapopulation viability analysis of the bog fritillary butterfly using RAMAS/GIS. Oikos 104:277-290. (INVA)
- Schulze, E.D., Luyssaert, S., Ciais, P., Freibauer, A., Janssens, I.A., Soussana, J.F., Smith, P., Grace, J., Levin, I., Thiruchittampalam, B., Heimann, M., Dolman, A.J., Valentini, R., Bousquet, P., Peylin, P., Peters, W., Rödenbeck, C., Etiope, G., Vuichard, N., Wattenbach, M., Nabuurs, G.J., Poussi, Z., Nieschulze, J., Gash, J.H. (2009) Importance of methane and nitrous oxide for Europe's terrestrial greenhouse-gas balance. Nature Geoscience 2: 842-850. (SEQU)
- Seidl, R., Rammer, W., Jager, D., Currie, W., Lexer, M. (2007) Assessing trade-offs between carbon sequestration and timber production within a framework of multi-purpose forestry in Austria. Forest Ecology and Management 248: 64-79. (ECOS)
- Siemens TJ, Blossey B. (2007) An evaluation of mechanisms preventing growth and survival of two native species in invasive Bohemian knotweed (Fallopia × bohemica, Polygonaceae). Am J Bot 94:776–783. (INVA)
- Sierdsema, H., L. Brotons, S. Newson, F. Jiguet, and R. Gregory (2006) The next step in population alerts: Assessing changes in distribution and abundance from count survey data. Journal of Ornithology 147:30-30. (INVA)
- Simberloff, D. (2011) How common are invasion-induced ecosystem impacts? Biol Inv 13:1255–1268. (INVA)
- Simberloff, D., B. Von Holle (1999) Positive interactions of nonindigenous species: invasional meltdown? Biological Invasions 1:21–32. (INVA)
- Simon, C., Daniel, R. (2009) Achievements and new knowledge unraveled by metagenomic approaches. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 85: 265-276. (ECOS)
- Smith, M., H. Caswell, and P. Mettler-Cherry (2005) Stochastic flood and precipitation regimes and the population dynamics of a threatened floodplain plant. Ecological Applications 15:1036-1052. (INVA)

- Smith, P., Goulding, K.W.T, Smith, K.A., Powlson, D.S., Smith, J.U., Falloon, P.D., Coleman, K. (2001) Enhancing the carbon sink in European agricultural soils: Including trace gas fluxes in estimates of carbon mitigation potential. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems 60: 237-252. (SEQU)
- Soberon, J., Peterson, A.T. (2005) Interpretation of models of fundamental ecological niches and species' distributional areas. Biodiversity Informatics 2: 1-10. (INVA)
- Somogyi, Z. (2010) Modeling of biosphere-atmosphere exchange of greenhouse gases Forests. In Haszpra, L. (ed.) Atmospheric Greenhouse Gases: The Hungarian Perspective. pp. 253-261. (SEQU)
- Sorte, C.J.B., S.L. Williams, et al. (2010) Marine range shifts and species introductions: comparative spread rates and community impacts. Global Ecology and Biogeography 19(3): 303-316. (INVA)
- Stachowicz, J.J. (2001) Mutualism, facilitation, and the struc- ture of ecological communities. BioScience 51:235–251. (INVA)
- Steffen, W., P.J. Crutzen, J.R. McNeill (2007) The Anthropocene: are humans now overwhelming the great forces of Nature? Ambio 36: 614-621. (ECOS)
- Steingröver, E., Van Rooij, S. (2010) Plan-it: A method enabling regional stakeholders to design a green climate corridor: the Groningen case. In FABOS, Landscape and greenway planning conference, Budapest. (ECOS)
- Stockwell, D.R.B. (2006) Improving ecological niche models by data mining large environmental datasets for surrogate models. Ecological Modelling 192: 188-196. (INVA)
- Stockwell, D.R.B., Noble, I.R. (1992) Induction of sets of rules from animal distribution data: a robust and informative method of analysis. Math. Comput. Simul. 33: 385-390. (INVA)
- Stoeck, T., Behnke, A., Christen, R., et al. (2009) Massively parallel tag sequencing reveals the complexity of anaerobic marine protistan communities. BMC Biology 7: 72. (ECOS)
- Stohlgren, T.J., D. Binkley, G.W. Chong, M.A. Kalkhan, L.D. Schell, K.A. Bull, Y. Otsuki, G. Newman, M. Bashkin, Y. Son (1999) Exotic plant species invade hot spots of native plant diversity. Ecological Monographs 69:25–46. (INVA)
- Stohlgren, T.J., D.T. Barnett, J.T. Kartesz (2003) The rich get richer: patterns of plant invasions in the United States. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 1:11–14. (INVA)
- Strahler, A., Muchoney, D., Borak, J., Friedl, M., Gopal, S., Lambin, E., Moody, A. (1999) MODIS Landcover product Algorithm Theoretical Basis Document (ATBD). (URL: <u>http://modis.gsfc.nasa.gov/data/atbd/atbd\_mod12.pdf</u>) (SEQU)
- Strayer DL (2012) Eight questions about invasions and ecosystem functioning. Ecol Lett. In press. (INVA)
- Swenson, J. E., P. Taberlet, and E. Bellemain (2011) Genetics and conservation of European brown bears *Ursus arctos*. Mammal Review 41:87-98. (INVA)
- Tallis, H.T., et al. (2011) InVEST 2.1 beta User's Guide. The Natural Capital Project, Stanford. (ECOS)
- Tatarinov, F. A., Cienciala, E. (2006) Application of BIOME-BGC model to managed forests. Forest Ecology and Management 237: 267-279. (ECOS)
- TEEB (2010) The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity: Mainstreaming the Economics of Nature: A synthesis of the approach, conclusions and recommendations of TEEB. (ECOS)
- Thomson, D. M., & M. W. Schwartz. (2006) Using population count data to assess the effects of changing river flow on an endangered riparian plant. Conservation Biology 20:1132-1142. (INVA)
- Thornton, P., Rosenbloom, N. (2005) Ecosystem model spin-up: Estimating steady state conditions in a coupled terrestrial carbon and nitrogen cycle model. Ecological Modelling 189: 25-48. doi:10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2005.04.008 (SEQU)

- Thornton, P.E., et al. (2002) Modeling and measuring the effects of disturbance history and climate on carbon and water budgets in evergreen needleleaf forests. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 113: 185-222. (ECOS)
- Thornton, P.E., Hasenauer, H., White, M.A. (2000) Simultaneous estimation of daily solar radiation and humidity from observed temperature and precipitation: an application over complex terrain in Austria. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 104: 255-271. (ECOS)
- Thornton, P.E., Running, S.W. (1999) An improved algorithm for estimating incident daily solar radiation from measurements of temperature, humidity, and precipitation. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 93: 211-228. (SEQU)
- Thornton, P.E., S.W. Running, (1999) An improved algorithm for estimating incident daily solar radiation from measurements of temperature, humidity, and precipitation. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 93: 211-228. (ECOS)
- Thuiller, W. (2003) BIOMOD optimizing prediction of species distributions and projecting potential future shifts under global change. Global Change Biology 9: 1353-1362. (INVA)
- Torchin, M.E., K.D. Lafferty, A.P. Dobson, V.J. McKenzie, A.M. Kuris (2003) Introduced species and their missing parasites. Nature 421:628–630. (INVA)
- Tringe, S.G., Mering, C.V., Kobayashi, A., Salamov, A.A., Chen, K., Chang, H.W., et al. (2005) Comparative metagenomics of microbial communities. Science 308: 554-557. (ECOS)
- Trusilova, K., Trembath, J., Churkina, G. (2009) Parameter estimation and validation of the terrestrial ecosystem model Biome-BGC using eddy-covariance flux measurements. Max-Planck-Institut für Biogeochemie, Technical Reports 16: 1-60. (SEQU)
- Turner, D.P., Ollinger, S.V., Kimball, J.S. (2004) Integrating Remote Sensing and Ecosystem Process Models for Landscape- to Regional-Scale Analysis of the Carbon Cycle. BioScience 54: 573-584. (ECOS)
- Turner, D.P., Ritts, W.D., Law, B.E., Cohen, W.B., Yang, Z., Hudiburg, T. et al. (2007) Scaling net ecosystem production and net biome production over a heterogeneous region in the western United States. Biogeosciences Discussions 4: 1093-1135. (ECOS)
- Ueyama, M., Ichii, K., Hirata, R., Takagi, K., Asanuma, J., Machimura, T. et al. (2010) Simulating carbon and water cycles of larch forests in East Asia by the BIOME-BGC model with AsiaFlux data. Biogeosciences 7: 959-977. (ECOS)
- Uppala, S.M., Kållberg, P.W., Simmons, A.J., Andrae, U., Bechtold, V. Da Costa, Fiorino, M., Gibson, J.K., Haseler, J., Hernandez, A., Kelly, G.A., Li, X., Onogi, K., Saarinen, S., Sokka, N., Allan, R.P., Andersson, E., Arpe, K., Balmaseda, M.A., Beljaars, A.C.M., Berg, L. Van De, Bidlot, J., Bormann, N., Caires, S., Chevallier, F., Dethof, A., Dragosavac, M., Fisher, M., Fuentes, M., Hagemann, S., Hólm, E., Hoskins, B.J., Isaksen, L., Janssen, P.A.E.M., Jenne, R., McNally, A.P., Mahfouf, J.-F., Morcrette, J.-J., Rayner, N.A., Saunders, R.W., Simon, P., Sterl, A., Trenberth, K.E., Untch, A., Vasiljevic, D., Viterbo, P., Woollen, J. (2005) The ERA-40 re-analysis. Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society 131: 2961-3012. doi: 10.1256/qj.04.176 (SEQU)
- US Geological Survey (2000) Hydro-1K data set. Available from <u>http://edcdaac.usgs.gov/gtopo30/hydro/</u> [accessed 20 July 2012] (INVA)
- Vallet, P., et al. (2009) Species substitution for carbon storage: sessile oak versus Corsican pine in France as a case study. Forest Ecology and Management 257: 1314-1323. (ECOS)
- van der Linden, P., Mitchell, J.F.B. (eds.) (2009) ENSEMBLES: Climate Change and Its Impacts: Summary of research and results from the ENSEMBLES project. - UK Met Office Hadley Centre, Exeter, UK, 160 p. (SEQU)

- Van Oijen, M., Rougier, J., Smith, R. (2005) Bayesian calibration of process-based forest models: bridging the gap between models and data. Tree Physiology 25: 915–927. (SEQU)
- Vanhanen, H., Veteli, T.O. & Niemelä, P. (2008) Potential distribution ranges in Europe for lps hauseri, Ips subelongatus and Scolytus morawitzi, a CLIMEX analysis. EPPO/OEPP Bulletin 38(2): 249-258. (INVA)
- Vanhanen, H., Veteli, T.O., Päivinen, S., Kellomäki, S. & Niemelä, P. (2007). Climate change and range shifts in two insect defoliators: Gypsy moth and nun moth – A model study. Silva Fennica, 41(4): 621-638. (INVA)
- Vetter, M., Churkina, G., Jung, M., Reichstein, M., Zaehle, S., Bondeau, A., Chen, Y., Ciais, P., Feser, F., Freibauer, A., Geyer, R., Jones, C., Papale, D., Tenhunen, J., Tomelleri, E., Trusilova, K., Viovy, N., Heimann, M. (2008) Analyzing the causes and spatial pattern of the European 2003 carbon flux anomaly using seven models. Biogeosciences 5: 561-583. doi:10.5194/bg-5-561-2008 (SEQU)
- Vihervaara, P., et al. (2011) Use of detailed biotope data for linking biodiversity with ecosystem services. International Journal of Biodiversity Science, Ecosystem Services & Management (in press). (ECOS)
- Vilà, M., Basnou, C., Pyšek, P., Josefsson, M., Genovesi, P., Gollasch, S., Nentwig, W., Olenin, S., Roques, A., Roy, D., Hulme, P.E., DAISIE partners (2010) How well do we understand the impacts of alien species on ecosystem services? A pan-European, cross-taxa assessment. Front Ecol Environ 8:135–144. (INVA)
- Vilà, M., Espinar, J.L., Hejda, M., Hulme, P.E., Jarošik, V., Maron, J.L., Pergl, J., Schaffner, U., Sun, Y., Pyšek, P. (2011) Ecological impacts of invasive alien plants: a meta-analysis of their effects on species, communities and ecosystems. Ecol Lett 14:702–708. (INVA)
- Virtanen, T., Neuvonen, S., Nikula, A., Varama, M., Niemelä, P. (1996) Climate change and the risks of Neodiprion sertifer outbreaks on Scots pine. Silva Fennica 30: 169-177. (INVA)
- Vitousek, P.M., Mooney, H.A., Lubchenco, J., Melillo, J.M. (1997) Human domination of Earth's ecosystems. Science 277: 494-499. (SEQU)
- Vogt, P., et al. (2007) Mapping landscape corridors. Ecological Modelling 7: 481-488. (ECOS)
- Volney, W.J.A. & Fleming, R.A. (2000). Climate change and impacts of boreal forest insects. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 82(1): 283-294. (INVA)
- Walther, G.-R., Post, E., Convey, P., Menzel, A., Parmesan, C., Beebee, T.J.C., et al. (2002). Ecological responses to recent climate change. Nature, 416: 389-395. (INVA)
- Wamelink, G.W.W., et al. (2005) Plant species as predictors of soil pH: replacing expert judgement by measurements. Journal of Vegetation Science 16: 461-470. (ECOS)
- Wamelink, G.W.W., et al. (2009) Vegetation succession as affected by decreasing nitrogen deposition, soil characteristics and site management: a modelling approach. Forest Ecology and Management 258: 1762-1773. (ECOS)
- Wamelink, G.W.W., et al. (2011) Ecological ranges for the pH and NO<sub>3</sub> of syntaxa: a new basis for the estimation of critical loads for acid and nitrogen deposition. Journal of Vegetation Science 22: 741-749. (ECOS)
- Wang, Q., Watanabe, M., Ouyang, Z. (2005) Simulation of water and carbon fluxes using BIOME-BGC model over crops in China. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 131: 209-224. (SEQU)
- Wang, R. J., O. Ovaskainen, Y. D. Cao, H. Q. Chen, Y. Zhou, C. R. Xu, and I. Hanski. 2011. Dispersal in the Glanville fritillary butterfly in fragmented versus continuous landscapes: comparison between three methods. Ecological Entomology 36:251-260. (INVA)

- Wang, W., Ichii, K., Hashimoto, H., Michaelis, A.R., Thornton, P.E., Law, B.E., et al. (2009) A hierarchical analysis of terrestrial ecosystem model Biome-BGC: Equilibrium analysis and model calibration. Ecological Modelling 220: 2009-2023. (ECOS)
- Wang, Y.-P., Trudinger, C.M., Enting, I.G. (2009) A review of applications of model-data fusion to studies of terrestrial carbon fluxes at different scales. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 149: 1829-1842. doi:10.1016/j.agrformet.2009.07.009 (SEQU)
- Watson, R., Albon, S., Aspinall, R., Austen, M., Bardgett, R., Bateman, I., et al. (2011) UK National Ecosystem Assessment Synthesis of the Key Findings. UNEP-WCMC, Cambridge. (ECOS)
- Wattenbach, M., Sus, O., Vuichard, N., Lehuger, S., Gottschalk, P., Li, L., et al. (2010) The carbon balance of European croplands: A cross-site comparison of simulation models. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 139: 419-453. (ECOS)
- Werner, C., Zumkier, U., Beyschlag, W., Máguas, C. (2010) High competitiveness of a resource demanding invasive acacia under low resource supply. Plant Ecol 206: 83-96. (INVA)
- White, M.A., Thornton, P.E., Running, S.W., Nemani, R.R. (2000) Parameterization and sensitivity analysis of the Biome-BGC terrestrial ecosystem model: net primary production controls. Earth Interactions 4: 1-85. (SEQU)
- Whittaker, R.H. (1970) Communities and ecosystems. MacMillan, New York (ECOS)
- Wilcove, D.S., Rothstein, D., Dubow, J., Phillips, A., Losos, E. (1998) Quantifying threats to imperiled species in the United States. Bioscience 48:607–615. (INVA)
- Williamson, M. (1996) Biological invasions. Chapman and Hall, London, UK. (INVA)
- Xu, H.G., Ding, H., Li, M.Y., Qiang, S., Guo, J.Y., Han, Z.M. (2006) The distribution and economic losses of alien species invasion to China. Biol Inv 8:1495–1500. (INVA)
- Yates, C. J., & P. G. Ladd (2010) Using population viability analysis to predict the effect of fire on the extinction risk of an endangered shrub Verticordia fimbrilepis subsp fimbrilepis in a fragmented landscape. Plant Ecology 211:305-319. (INVA)
- Yurkonis, K.A., Meiners, S.J. (2004) Invasion impacts local species turnover in a successional system. Ecol Lett 7:764–769. (INVA)
- Zaehle, S., Friedlingstein, P., Friend, A.D. (2010) Terrestrial nitrogen feedbacks may accelerate future climate change. Geophysical Research Letters 37: 1-5. doi:10.1029/2009GL041345 (SEQU)